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=FLAGLER

iiDA Number of Rentable Square

DEVELOPMENT COMPANY

91% Buildings Feet (000s) . ]
gl Jacksonville 2 80 | Flag\er De.velopm.ent Company is onelof the l'argest real esta‘te developers in
uth Jacksonville 4 520 ‘ Florida, with holdings concentrated primarily in the Jacksonville, Orlando and
srth Jacksonville 3 383 Miami areas. Flagler’'s portfolio and operations at December 31, 2004 include:
i Jacksonville / 770 « 6.6 million square feet of Class-A office and industrial space, with 95%
he Avenues Jacksonville 7 570 :
at Southpoint Jacksonville ] 60 occupancy, that Flagler has developed and leases.

S 24 2,463 » 740 acres of land entitled for 12.1 million square feet of development.
v Development 2 227 « 2,000 acres of undeveloped, strategically located land in Florida for

future development or sale.
* 804,000 square feet of office and industrial space under construction.

FLAGLER ENTITLEMENTS
(millions of square feet)

Current Parks Office Industrial & Other Total
\ North Florida 2.1 26 4.7
"N Central Florida 1.6 0.1 1.7
— South Florida 0.7 23 3.0
4.4 5.0 9.4
Entitled Tracts
o T = North Florida 0.9 - 0.8
a Number of Rentable Square South Florida 1.8 - 1.8
Buildings F‘th(VOOOS’), 27 _ 2.7
Orlando 5 703 Grand Total 7.1 5.0 12.1
Orlando 1 138
S 8 . 89
relopment 1 137
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RAILWAY

Florida East Coast Railway is a regional freight railroad that operates 351
miles of main line track with the most direct route between Jacksonville
and South Florida. FEC

Number of
Buildings
Miami 23
Miami 7
30
slopment 2
-
_—
Vigmi ()

Rentable Square * has over 100 years of freight transportation understanding

Feet (000s) and expertise.
2,316 ; * is the exclusive rail service provider to ports of Palm Beach,
.98 Port Everglades (Ft. Lauderdale) and Miami,
3,304

a0 * is a provider of drayage services throughout the Southeast,

. with six transload facilities along the main line.

* has connecting carrier alliances serving Atlanta, Savannah,
Charleston, Chicago, New York/New Jersey and Baltimare.
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Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.
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FLORIDA BY THE NUMBERS

4th largest gross state product

4th most populous state

4th largest labor force

9th largest producer of exported goods

8th largest economy in the western hemisphere

15th fargest economy in the world

12% lower labor cost than national average

1,000+ people move to Florida each day

POPULATION EMPLOYMENT
PERCENT GROWTH RATE PERCENT GROWTH RATE

1998-2002 2003-2010 1998-2002 2003-2010
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Florida’s population and employment rate has grown and is
projected to continue to grow at two times the national rate.




We are the owner of a railroad with an
exceptionally strategic route and the
owner of over 3,000 acres of land in
one of the largest and fastest growing
economies In the world — Florida.

- Every day, our customers are anxious
to reach, to serve and to capitalize

on this dynamic marketplace.

That's why we're
always Reaay [0 Go.
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STRATEGIC GROWTH
We are capitalizing on

I
\/\/e re R e a d y Florida's unprecedented real
estate boom by selling assets stra-

tegically and deploying the proceeds by

buying assets in high-growth areas. These

properties, acquired in tax-deferred exchanges in

early 2005, include a land tract in Lakeland, as well as
commercial buildings in Doral (pictured below) and Sunrise.
Lakeland represents a new market for Flagler and a compelling
growth opportunity. The 665 acre tract is located off Interstate 4
between Tampa Bay and Orlando.

MORE LAND, MORE POTENTIAL

In addition to its rail corridor, FEC Railway also owns real estate
where development or sales opportunities exist. These include a
200 acre former rail yard (Miller Shop) near the San Sebastian
River in rapidly-growing St. Johns County where we envi-

sion a mixed-use development. Another major holding

is an approximately six-mile rail corridor near Miami
International Airport. Using the same vision and

talent that we apply to our other real estate

holdings, we intend to maximize the value

of these assets in coming years.
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Chairman’s
Message

This Company benefits from its deep roots in Florida, and that was particularly

evident during 2004. As Florida welcomed more than a thousand new

residents each day during 2004, our businesses supported that growth and

benefited from it. We enter 2005 with the Company in great shape and with a

strong positive outlook for both our real estate and transportation businesses.

FEC!is perhaps best known for the quality and strategic
location of its assets; however, our businesses also gen-
erate strong cash flow. In 2004, we generated more than
$70 million from operating activities as well as $1271 million
from land and building sales. We put these resources
to good use investing in our businesses and utilizing
surplus cash to repurchase stock.

During 2004:

* Intermodal revenues increased by 19%, notwithstand-
ing the impact of unprecedented hurricane activity
during the year. The Railroad’s revenues and operating
profits reached all-time records, and the outlook for
2005 is for even better results.

.

Flagler continued its growth and strong operating per-
formance. Overall occupancies at our buildings reached
95%, and the improved market tone allowed us to begin
construction of five new buildings. The outlook for
20056 is positive,

* We made an improvement to our capital structure by
placing $105 million of non-recourse debt on ten of our
finished buildings. In addition to investing $111 million in
capital expenditures for future growth, we also purchased

5.5 million shares of our stock from the duPont Trust
and the Nemours Foundation for $34.50 per share at a
total cost of approximately $190 million. The purchase
price was 24% less than our year-end closing price.
Early in 2005, we renewed our revolving credit facility
on terms even more favorable than the expiring facility.

* We increased our quarterly dividend by 25%, bringing
it to a level twice that of two years ago.

TRANSPORTATION

FEC's “franchise” location places it right in the middle of
Florida's strong growth; it is positioned as the exclusive
rail provider at the principal ports in South Florida with the
most direct route between Jacksonville and Miami. FEC's
physical plant is among the best in North America, and
able to handle the growth we have experienced.

FEC's freight revenue increased by 10.8% during 2004,
and it achieved an all-time record of $67.5 million of
operating profit before depreciation, an improvement
of 8% compared to 2003. This result was accomplished
even while the Railroad was out of service for more than
ten days, due to Hurricanes Charlie, Frances and Jeanne,
and sustained over $2 million of hurricane-related costs.

Florida East Coast Industries 12
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Adolfo Henriques
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Our Railroad's “Hurricane Heroes” worked overtime to
put the Railroad back in service, and we are enormously
proud of their achievements.

The star performer for the year was intermodal. FEC had
experienced declines in intermodal revenue from 1997 to
2002. Our new intermodal team began to turn the corner
in 2003, producing modest growth of 1.7%. 2004 showed
the full effects of the strong economy and the effective
marketing organization that we now have in place at the
Railroad. Intermodal revenues were up by 18.9% for the
year to $86 million, including 26.5% in the fourth quarter.
Carload revenue improved by 5.3%, with aggregate con-
tinuing its solid growth, increasing by 8.7% during the
year. The Railroad's return on assets continued to improve
and remains among the best in the railroad business.
FEC's management team not only strives for profitability,
but does so in a way that makes efficient use of the
capital deployed in the business.

Our record of failure-free service for UPS reached a level
of 698 days, breaking FEC's prior record of 471 days.

Both of these figures far exceed any achievement by any
other North American railroad. The Railway works closely

UNITS BY TYPE OF COMMODITY

Vehicles and
Equipment 5%
4

Other 8%
Intermodal 60%

Aggregate 27%

with its customers and they know that John McPherson
and his team will provide exceptional, reliable service
and meet their needs.

The Railroad's vigilance in the area of employee safety
was rewarded with the Harriman Bronze Medal for 2003,
and the safety performance for 2004 was even better.

FLAGLER DEVELOPMENT

Qur Flagler organization has evolved into a fully integrated
developer with a superb reputation within the state of
Florida. Flagler works with its portfolic of real estate to
enhance shareholder value. At the end of 2004, Flagler
had 6.6 million square feet of finished space in some
of Florida's fastest growing markets as well as entitle-
ments for 12.1 million square feet more. During 2004,
two buildings with 249,000 sqguare feet reached stabili-
zation and we began construction of five others with
804,000 square feet.

Flagler has reinvested most of the proceeds of its 2004
real estate sales by acguiring, in early 2005, buildings
in Doral and Sunrise with a total of 350,000 square feet
as well as a major development parcel in the growing

DOLLARS BY TYPE OF COMMODITY

Vehicles and
Equipment 9%

Intermodal 44%

Other 16%

Aggregate 31%

Florida East Coast Industries 13
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Lakeland area, near 1-4 between Tampa and Crlando. After
regulatory approvals, the Lzkeland property, comprising

more than 650 gross acres, is expected to add as much
as 5 million square feet of additional entitiements to fuel
Flagler's future growth.

The tone of Florida's rezal estate market has continued
to improve with each succeeding guarter. For example,
occupancies which had fallen to as low as 82% in the
third quarter of 2002 reached 95% at the end of 2004,
materially improving the value and cash flow of our
finished building portfolio. Because our properties are
“functionally full,” we have initiated construction on five
new buildings, with others in the pre-development stage.

In early 2005, we completed the construction of Ryder
Systems’ 239,000 square foot world headquarters in South
Florida. This building, owned by Flagler, has established
our Flagler Station development as a higher value, Class-A
office environment. We also stabilized a spec building in
Orlando with Starwood Vacation Ownership as the sole
occupant, as well as Deerwoaod North 300 in Jacksonville
and completed nearly all of the infrastructure at Flagler
Center and SouthPark Center. At Flagler Center, we com-
pleted the construction of the I-85 interchange. in early
2005, Baptist Hospital completed construction of its new

FLAGLER RENTAL & SERVICE REVENUE
(doltars in millions)

REALTY SALES*
{dollars in millions)

250,000 square foot regional healthcare facility, and
Citigroup moved into its 600,000 square foot corporate
campus. Flagler Center has been transformed by our
development activities in recent years. There are now
more than 4,000 people working in Flagler Center who
were not there a year ago, and we anticipate that with
very strong residential and commercial growth in this
south Jacksonville area, Flagler Center will be a magnet
for further development.

We enter 2005 with an optimistic assessment of the
rental market in all of our major operating areas. We
continue to add scale and value through the addition
of our own new construction as well as through carefu!
acquisitions, such as those we have made at Doral and
Sunrise. We are also continuing the process of adding
to our already large entitlement base with our purchase
in Lakeland and our focus on our own currently unentitled
property near St. Augustine.

The Flagler organization has now reached a level of capa-
bility and capacity that will allow us to use the franchise
we have created here to consider working with assets
owned by others and in partnerships as an additional way
to add future value for our shareholders.

FLAGLER OCCUPANCY RATES
OF OWNED PROPERTIES
(percent)

$69.6 §124.2 ¢101.5 95%
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*Includes FEC land and Flagler land
and developed property sales.
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MANAGING OUR UNIQUE ASSETS

We continue to carefully evaluate our assets with a sharp
focus on maximizing value. Our asset-rich Railroad, for
example, has a right-of-way which makes it a natural
location for linear and perpendicular easements and
licenses, and we have succeeded over the years in
increasing other income from those kinds of right-of-way
uses from $6 million in 1989 to more than $13 million in
2004. In many cases, these agreements are committed
for long terms and adjusted to CPl indices.

Both Flagler and the Railroad have valuable land parcels
which await the right market. In many cases, these par-
cels can be made more valuable by gaining entitlements
for development. During 2004, we made substantial
progress with the Miller Shop and Lemberg parcels near
St. Augustine, the Route 44 parcel in New Smyrna Beach
and Fort Pierce K4 site. We waork carefully with rights-of-
way controlled by the Railroad but no longer in high density
Railroad use. We believe these opportunities will provide
additional sources of long-term value for our shareholders.

Although it is a multi-year project, the use of our freight
corridor between West Palm Beach and Miami for transit
service is anather alternative use which deserves careful
attention. The intense development and population growth
of South Florida, particularly re-development in the urban
core, will require additional mass transit to address grow-
ing congestion. We will continue our cooperation with
commuter authorities and other public officials 1o liberate
the value inherent in utilizing the right-of-way for such
additional uses. During 2004, the Fiorida Department
of Transportation commissioned a $6 million consulting
project to review transit alternatives for South Florida,
which includes the potential use of the FEC corridor.
We will work with the authorities toward the objective
of putting our corridor to an even better use.

LOOKING FORWARD

We enter 2005 with a great tailwind. The Florida econ-
omy is robust, and the Company's liquidity and cash
flow are strong. Our management teams are skilled
and ready to go.

In 2005, we anticipate that the Railroad will continue its

strong performance, and we expect to set new records
for both revenues and operating profit. Flagler has more
construction underway at the moment than it has in years.

The Railroad is a great franchise in Florida, but we are
always looking for opportunities to expand our reach to
new markets and new customers.

CONCLUSION

As a member of the Company’s Board of Directors for
seven years, | have witnessed significant changes at the
Railroad and Flagler. We will focus our attention on con-
tinuously improving our performance and on finding new
ways to capitalize further on the population growth and
real estate appreciation in Florida.

| have worked with Bob Anestis since he joined the
Company in January 1999. During his tenure, the Company
experienced a transformation, not only of its ownership
and capital structure, but also of its real estate portfolio,
its Railroad operations and its asset management. On
behalf of the entire Board and the Company's employees,
| thank Bob for his leadership and vision.

Adolfo Henrigques
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Florida East Coast Industries 15
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UNITED STATES SECURITIE.S AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(X) ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004
OR
{ ) TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File No. 001-08728

DA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.

{Exact name of Registrant as specified in its Charter)

FLORI

Florida 59-2349968
(State or Other Jurisdiction of ‘ {ILR.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) dentification No.)
One Malaga Street, St. Augustine, Florida 32084
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) {Zip Code}

Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code: (904) 829-3421

Securities to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class ‘ Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered

Common Stock-no par value New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past

90 days. YES(X) NO{ )

indicate by check mark if the disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not con-
tained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or informa-
tion statements incorporated by reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. ( )

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
YES (X) NO{)

Based on the closing price on June 30, 2004, the aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates

of the Registrant was approximately $883 million.

The number of shares of the Registrant’s common stock, no par value, outstanding at February 18, 2005 is
32,140,610 shares and 6,546,527 shares of treasury stock.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain portions of the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held

on June 2, 2005 (the Proxy Statement) are incorporated in Part Il of this report.
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Forward-Looking
Statements

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within
the meaning of section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements
include the Company's present expectations or beliefs
concerning future events. These statements may be iden-
tified by the use of words like "plan,” "expect,” “aim,”
"believe,” “project,” “anticipate,” "intend,” “estimate,” “may,”
“will,” “should,” “could,” and other expressions that indicate
future events and trends. Such forward-looking statements
may include, without limitation, statements that the Company
does not expect that lawsuits, review of open tax years by
the IRS, environmental costs, commitments, including future
contractual obligations, contingent liabilities, financing
availability, labor negotiations or other matters will have
a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial con-
dition, statements concerning future capital needs and
sources of such capital funding, statements concerning
future intentions with respect to the payment of dividends,
execution of a share repurchase program, and other poten-
tial capital distributions, number of shares to be repurchased,
availability of cash to fund the stock repurchase, ability to
reinvest (tax deferred) sales proceeds into qualifying 1031
properties, future growth potential of the Company’s lines
of business, performance of the Company’s product offer-
ings, other similar expressions concerning matters that are
not historical facts, and projections relating to the Company’s
financial results. The Company cautions that such state-
ments are necessarily based on certain assumptions, which
are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to materially differ from those contained in
these forward-looking statements. Important factors that
could cause such differences include, but are not limited
to, the changing general economic conditions (particularly
in the state of Florida, the southeast US and the Caribbean)
as they relate to economically sensitive products in freight
service and building rental activities; ability to manage
through economic recessions or downturns in customers’
business cycles; industry competition; possible future
changes in the Company's structure, lines of business,
business and investment strategies, and related imple-
mentation; legislative or regulatory changes; technological
changes; volatility of fuel prices (including volatility caused
by military actions); changes in levels of preventive and
capital maintenance and depreciation rates resulting from

future railway right-of-way and equipment life studies;
changes in the ability of the Company to complete its
financing plans, changes in interest rates, the settlement
of future contractual obligations as estimated in time and
amount {customary to the Company’s historical cost struc-
ture) including labor direct negotiations, mediation and in
one instance, mutually agreed binding arbitration in a sat-
isfactory way, changes in insurance markets, including
increases in insurance premiums and deductibles; the
availability and costs of attracting and retaining qualified
independent third party contractors; liability for environ-
mental remediation and changes in environmental laws
and regulations; the ultimate outcome of environmental
investigations or proceedings and other types of claims
and litigation; natural events such as weather conditions,
hurricanes, floods, earthquakes and forest fires; discre-
tionary government decisions affecting the use of land
and delays resulting from weather conditions and other
natural occurrences, like hurricanes, that may affect con-
struction or cause damage to assets; the ability of buyers
to terminate contracts to purchase real estate from the
Company pricr to the expiration of inspection periods; fail-
ure or inability of third parties to fulfill their commitments
or to perform their abligations under agreements,; costs
and availability of land and construction materials; buyers’
inability or unwillingness to close transactions, particularly
where buyers only forfeit deposits upon failure to close;
the Company's future taxable income and other factors
that may affect the availability and timing of utilization of
the Company's deferred tax assets; uncertainties, changes
or litigation related to tax laws, regulations and the appli-
cation thereof that could limit the tax benefits of the EPIK
sale or of other possible transactions involving the Company;
and other risks inherent in the real estate and other busi-
nesses of the Company.

As a result of these and other factors, the Company may
experience material fluctuations in future operating results
on a quarterly or annual basis, which could materially and
adversely affect its business, financial condition, operating
results and stock price.

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements, which reflect management's view
only as of the date thereof. The Company undertakes no
obligation to publicly release revisions to the forward-
looking statements in this Report that reflect events

or circumstances after the date hereof, or reflects the
occurrence of unanticipated events.
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PART |

As used throughout this Form 10-K Annual Report, the terms
“FECL," the "Company” and "Registrant” mean Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

FECl is a holding company incorporated under the laws of
the state of Florida in 1983 engaged, through two wholly
owned subsidiaries, in the railroad and real estate busi-
nesses. The Company's railroad subsidiary, Florida East
Coast Railway, LLC (FECR or Railway), connects many of
the major population centers and port facilities of Florida's
east coast, and provides efficient service for its customers
through multiple competitive connections to the rest of
North America. The Company, primarily through its real
estate subsidiary, Flagler Development Company {Flagler),
is engaged in the acquisition, development, management,
leasing, operation and selected sale of commercial and
industrial properties. Flagler has extensive real estate
holdings in Florida.

Information regarding FECI's reclassification of its former
Class A and Class B common stock into a single class of

common stock is contained in ltem 5 and Note 2 of the
financial statements in ltem 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Financial information about FECI's operating segments is
contained in Items 6, 7 and 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

RAILWAY
General

FECR operates a Class |l railroad along 351 miles of main-
line track between Jacksonville and Miami, Florida, serving
some of the most densely populated areas of the state.
FECR also owns and operates approximately 277 miles of
branch, switching and other secondary track and 158 miles
of yard track, all within Florida. FECR has the only coastal
right-of-way between Jacksonville and Miami and is the
exclusive rail-service provider to the Port of Palm Beach,
Port Everglades (Fort Lauderdale}, and the Port of Miami.

FECR serves approximately 1,000 carload and intermodal
customers combined. During 2004, the number of custom-
ers included approximately 200 drayage customers, which
previously were customers of FECI's trucking subsidiary and
now are serviced by FECR. The following table summarizes
FECR's freight shipments by commodity group and as a
percentage of rail freight revenues:

TRAFFIC
Years Ended December 31
(doliars and units in thousands) 2004 2003 Percent 2004 2003 Percent
Commodity Units Units Variance Revenues Revenues Variance
Rail carloads
Crushed stone (aggregate) 127.2 120.8 5.3 60,271 55,453 87
Construction materials 5.7 5.6 1.8 3,827 3,157 21.2
Vehicles 22.2 231 (3.9) 17,577 18,161 {3.2)
Foodstuffs 12.5 11.9 5.0 8,822 8,902 115
Chemicals & distillants 3.7 3.6 2.8 4,367 4,135 5.6
Paper & lumber 5.6 6.6 {15.2) 6,162 6,565 6.1
Other 14.1 15.5 (9.0) 8,582 8,803 {2.4)
Total carload 191.0 187.1 2.1 110,718 105,176 5.3
Intermodal 283.3 2521 124 86,379 72,642 18.9
Total freight units/revenues 474.3 439.2 8.0 197,087 177,818 10.8
Ancillary revenue - - - 3,665 3,239 13.2
Railway segment revenue - - - 200,762 181.057 10.9

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation.)
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FECR connects with Norfolk Southern Railway Company (NS)
and with CSX Transportation, Inc. (CSXT) at Jacksonville and
is able to offer its customers competitive rail connections
to the rest of North America. During 2004, approximately
37% of FECR's freight revenues were attributable to traffic
that originated on other railroads; approximately 5% was
attributable to traffic that originated an FECR but bound
for other destinations, and 58% was attributable to traffic
that both originated and terminated on FECR’s system
(local traffic). Haulage operating agreements with NS and
South Central Florida Express, Inc. (SCFE) generated 8%
of FECR's revenue in 2004. With the exception of haulage
services provided for SCFE described below, FECR does
not receive traffic from one railroad to be passed over its
track to another railroad.

FECR handles rail cars for SCFE between Fort Pierce and
Jacksonville for interchange with CSXT or NS. SCFE is a
short-line railroad operating under a long term Trackage
Rights Agreement over a branch line owned by FECR
extending from Fort Pierce to Lake Harbor. A concurrent
Car Haulage Agreement is in effect between Fort Pierce
and Jacksonville.

FECR also handles certain types of traffic for NS from
Jacksonville to Miami under a Haulage Agreement, whereby
FECR receives specified revenues for each unit transported.
In late 2001, FECR began offering a service that is known
as the “Hurricane Train.” This extends FECR's commercial
reach into the Atlanta region. This service is operated pur-
suant to an agreement with NS allowing up to 50 spaces
per day. During 2004, we reached and exceeded this capac-
ity on certain days, which may limit the ability to grow this
business segment in the future unless additional capacity
is made available. In early 2005, we are reviewing opportu-
nities to increase loadings on the "Hurricane Train” service.
Additionally, through joint marketing arrangements, FECR
provides direct service to the south Florida markets; one with
CSX transportation, with loads originating in the Northeast
and one with Norfolk Southern, with loads originating in
the Chicago and surrounding areas.

FECR owns or has an interest in approximately 1,206 acres
of ancillary properties, including 3 rail corridors (661 acres)
that are either abandoned or are candidates for abandon-

ment, within the state of Florida. FECR continues to evaluate
these holdings and, when appropriate, engages in strategic
activities (sales, development, etc.). Sales of these proper-
ties are reported in other sales of the realty segment. FECR
also actively manages its 100" wide railroad right-of-way to
generate miscellaneous rents and right-of-way lease prof-
its, which are not reported as part of the railway segment
but as other income. FECR leases its right-of-way to various
tenants for use, including telecommunications companies’
fiber optics systems pursuant to long-term leases. These

rents also are included in other income. [n addition, FECR
generates revenues from the grant of licenses and leases to
use railroad property and rights-of-way for outdoor advertis-
ing, parking lots and lateral crossings of wires and pipes by
municipalities, and utility and telecommunications compa-
nies. These miscellaneous rents are included in other income.

Customers

One customer, Rinker Materials Corporation, generated
approximately 21% of rail revenues in 2004. FECR's top
five customers accounted for approximately 43% of 2004
freight revenues. Two of these customers do business as
providers of aggregate materials.

Competition

Although FECR is often the only rail carrier directly serving
its customers, FECR competes directly with other railroads
that could potentially deliver freight to FECR's markets and
customers via different routes and use of multiple modes
of transportation such as transioad services. FECR's primary
rail competition for carload traffic is CSXT. FECR also com-
petes directly with other modes of transportation, includ-
ing motor carriers, ships, and barges. FECR's intermodal
freight services (trailers and containers on flat-rail cars)
compete directly with motor carriers. Any improvement in
the cost or quality of these alternate modes of transporta-
tion could increase competition from these other modes
of transportation and adversely affect FECR’s business.

There is continuing strong competition among rail, water,
and highway carriers. Price is usually only one factor of
importance as shippers and receivers choose a transport
mode and a specific transportation company with which
to do business. Inventory carrying costs, service reliability,
ease of handling, and the desire to avoid l0ss and damage
during transit are increasingly important considerations,
especially for higher valued finished goods, machinery and
consumer products. Additionally, decisions about ports of
call can affect FECR's business. As international shipping
companies alter their ship rotations into various ports, this
could change the railroad’s intermodal shipments from
the affected port facility.

Regulation

FECR is subject to regulation by the Surface Transportation
Board (STB) of the U.S. Department of Transportation
(USDOT). The STB has jurisdiction over some rates, condi-
tions of service and the extension or abandonment of rail
lines. The STB also has jurisdiction over the consolidation,
merger, or acquisition of control of and by rail common
carriers. The USDOT, through the Federal Railroad
Administration (FRA), regulates the safety of railroad oper-
ations, including certain track and mechanical equipment
standards and certain human factor issues. The USDOT
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and Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA}
have jurisdiction over a number of safety and health
aspects of rail operations, including the movement of haz-
ardous materials.

Rates in the rail industry were substantially deregulated
by The Staggers Act of 1980 (The Staggers Act) and sub-
seguent legislation and regulation. The Staggers Act
encouraged and enabled rail carriers to inncvate and com-
pete for business, thereby contributing to the revitalization
of the industry. Accordingly, the nation’s rail carriers can
be expected to vigorously oppose efforts to re-impose
such economic regulation.

FECR is also subject to extensive environmental laws and
regulations. Violations of various statutory and regulatory
programs can result in civil penalties, remediation expenses,
natural resource damage claims, potential injunctions,
cease and desist orders and criminal penalties. Some
environmental statutes impose strict liability, rendering a
person liable for environmental damage without regard to
negligence or fault on the part of such person. [n addition,
FECR's present and historic ownership and operation of
real property, including rail yards, in connection with its
transportation operations involve the storage, use, or dis-
posal of hazardous substances that may have contaminated
and may in the future contaminzte the environment. FECR
may also be liable for the costs of cleaning any site at which
it has disposed (intentionally or unintentionally) of hazard-
ous substances by virtue of, for example, an accident,
derailment, or leak, or to which it has transported hazardous
substances it generated, such as waste oil (see Item 3.
Legal Proceedings).

Risks

Cyclical Risks. FECR's freight traffic is subject to the effect
of cycles in the U.S. national, regional, and local economies

and, to a lesser extent, cycles in the international economies.

Historically, traffic tends to increase at the beginning of an
economic recovery. Traffic tends to decrease early in an
economic downturn.

Market Risks. FECR's freight traffic is generally affected
by overall economic conditions, particularly those in the
state of Florida, and with respect to intermodal traffic,
international economies, including the Caribbean, South
America, and Asian economies. In addition, the level of
state and federal highway and other public projects can
affect the amount of aggregate loadings FECR’s custom-
ers request. There can be no assurance that the overall
economy will rebound quickly from any slowdowns or
that Florida's economy will continue to experience higher
than the national average growth.

Claims and Lawsuits. The nature of FECR's business
exposes it to the potential for various claims and litigation
related to labor and employment, personal injury and
occupational iliness, property damage, environmental and
other matters. FECR maintains insurance for most of these
potential claims, subject to varying deductibles and self-
insured retentions. Therefore, FECR may be subject to
claims or litigation that could involve significant expendi-
tures. (See Item 3 for a discussion of legal proceedings.)

Fuel Price Risks. FECR's operations require significant
amounts of diesel fuel. Prices of diesel fuel can vary greatly.
Increases in fuel price may be passed along to customers
through a “fuel surcharge” or otherwise, though often with
delayed effect. However, there are no assurances that
these surcharges will cover the entire fuel price increase
for a given period, or that competitive market conditions
will effectively allow freight providers the ability to pass
along this cost. FECR forward purchases fuel to manage
the risk of fuel price increases. As of December 31, 2004,
FECR had forward purchase contracts of 5.2 million gallons
of fuel for delivery from January 2005 to December 2005
for an average purchase price of $1.13 per gallon before
taxes and freight. This represents 35% of the estimated
consumption for year 2005.

Interchange Carrier Risks. Approximately 37% of FECR's
traffic is interchanged from CSXT, SCFE, or NS. The ability
of these carriers (CSXT and NS) to market and service
southbound traffic into the Florida market will affect the
amount of traffic FECR moves.

Rail Car Utilization Risks. FECR earns per diem rents on
the use of its car and intermodal fleet of equipment based
on other railroads’ or transportation service providers' use
of the equipment. Future significant downturns in the over-
all U.S. economy, equipment cbsolescence or reduced
market demand for our car and/or intermodal fleet, or
efforts by other railroads or transportation providers to
improve equipment utilization practices could affect the
utilization of and per diem rents for this equipment from
other railroads and transportation service providers which
would lower operating profits. Also, FECR, through operat-
ing agreements, currently leases approximately 2,700 rail
cars from Greenbrier Leasing Corporation (Greenbrier),
Bombardier Capital (Bombardier), and other entities, with
lease lengths of up to five to ten years, mostly cancelable
every three years. The lease terms call for FECR to be
billed an hourly rate based upon the length of time the car
is on-line versus off-line. As a car goes off-line, a per diem
rent sharing arrangement goes into effect whereby
Greenbrier and FECR apportion the rent based upon the
length of time the car is off-line. Rents from the Greenbrier,
Bombardier and other leases received by FECR were
$3.9 million, $4.0 million and $3.0 million in 2004, 2003
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and 2002, respectively. Certain of these leases provide for

base rents payable to Greenbrier and others by FECR if the
car remains on FECR's line for a specified number of days.
To date, these base rents (i.e., those above normal car hire)
pavyable to Greenbrier and others have been minimal.

Natural Disaster Risks. FECR's operating assets are pre-
dominately located on Florida's eastern seaboard and
susceptible to damage, destruction and operational dis-
ruption from natural disasters like hurricanes and other
severe storms. Damage and destruction of operating assets
could be material with accompanying long periods of
operational outage. Additionally, certain of FECR's custom-
ers (especially aggregate) and their operations are subject
to natural disasters, the effect of such being significantly
reduced loadings.

REAL ESTATE
General

FECI owns 100% of the stock of Flagler. Flagler is engaged
in the acquisition, development, leasing, management,
operation and selected sale of commercial and industrial
properties in the state of Florida.

Flagler owns and operates office and industrial properties
in Florida. Flagler owned and operated 60 buildings as of
December 31, 2004, with approximately 6.6 million rent-
able sqg. ft. A schedule of these buildings is included in
Part 1, ltem 2 of this report. At December 31, 2004, Flagler's
operating properties were 95% occupied. Flagler's operat-
ing properties consist primarily of Class "A" office space
and high-quality commercial/industrial facilities primarily
constructed after 1992,

At December 31, 2004, Flagler had 1,321,000 sq. ft. of
properties in various phases of development, consisting
of 804,000 sq. ft. under construction (including a 239,000
sg. ft. build-to-suit project), and 517,000 sg. ft. in the pre-
development phase, located in the Jacksonville, Orlando
and Miami-Dade area markets. For those projects in the
pre-development phase, Flagler is engaged in engineer-
ing, architectural planning and design.

Flagler owns 740 acres of developable land with entitlements
for the construction of 12.1 million sq. ft. of additional office,
industrial and commercial space. Additionally, Flagler owns
approximately 2,000 acres of unimproved, unentitled land
or land with limited entitlements, primarily situated adjacent
to FECR's rights-of-way along the eastern coast of Florida,
available for potential future development or disposition.

At December 31, 2004, Flagler held net land sale proceeds
totaling $88.3 million in escrow with a qualified intermediary,
some or all of which is intended to be reinvested through

qualifying tax-deferred exchanges. Flagler has identified
qualifying reinvestment properties, which may be purchased
during the first half of 2005. These properties include land
and buildings to be developed and/or operated consistent
with Flagler’s current strategic property portfolio.

Projects Under Development

The primary geographic focus of Flagler's development
activities has been in the Miami, Fort Lauderdale, Jacksonville
and Orlando markets. Projects under development include:

o SouthPark Center | - Orlando, FL: Located near the
intersection of John Young Parkway and Beeline
Expressway. Six buildings, totaling 836,000 sq. ft., have
been completed, one of which (a building of approxi-
mately 133,000 sqg. ft.) was sold to a third party during
2003. The park has entitlements for an additional
163,000 sg. ft. of office space. A seventh building of
approximately 93,000 sg. ft. remains in pre-development.

o

SouthPark Center [l - Orlando, FL: In 1999, based on
the success of SouthPark Center |, Flagler acquired
approximately S0 acres across John Young Parkway from
its existing park. The land has remaining entitliements for
1.5 million sq. ft. of office space, as well as 98,000 sq. ft.
of commercial space. Two buildings totaling approxi-
mately 196,000 sqg. ft., have been developed, one of
which, a 60,000 sg. ft. build-to-suit project, was sold to
a third party during 2004. At December 31, 2004, a third
137,000 sq. ft. office building was under construction.

°©

Fiagler Station - Miami, FL: Located northwest of
Miami International Airport, Flagler owns and operates
thirty buildings, totaling 3.3 million rentable sq. ft., at
December 31, 2004, including 540,000 rentable sg. ft.
previously held in partnership with Duke Realty, which
Flagler purchased in January 2003. Construction is cur-
rently underway for a 239,000 rentable sq. ft. build-to-suit
office building for Ryder System, Inc. as well as a
201,000 sq. ft. industrial building. The park has entitle-
ments for an additional 2.9 million sqg. ft. of office,
industrial and commercial space. Pre-development is
currently underway for an additional 160,000 sq. ft.
industrial building. Flagler owns approximately 95 acres
adjacent to this park for future development or sale.

°

Deerwood North - Jacksonville, FL: Located near the
intersection of Southside Boulevard and Gate Parkway
North, north of J. Turner Butler Boulevard, Deerwood
North consists of three office buildings, totaling 383,000
rentable sqg. ft. In addition, construction is underway
as of December 31, 2004 for a fourth 113,000 sa. ft.
office building.
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» Flagler Center — Jacksonville, FL: Located in south
Jacksonville at the Old St. Augustine Road and 1-95
interchange. Flagler owns and operates seven buildings,
totaling 771,000 rentable sqg. ft. An eighth building, a
114,000 sq. ft office building, is under construction at
December 31, 2004, with a ninth and tenth building, a
150,000 sq. ft. warehouse building, which is 81% pre-
leased, and a 114,000 sq. ft. office building, respectively,
in pre-development. The park has entitlements for an
additional 4.1 million sq. ft. of office, industrial and com-
mercial space on approximately 331 developable acres.
Flagler completed the interchange at Old St. Augustine

Road and -85 during 2004, providing a more efficient
access to Flagler Center. Flagler also completed the
expansion of Old St. Augustine Road to four lanes in
2003, providing increased traffic flow near the site, as
well as additional site accessibility.

» Flagler Plaza - Sunrise, FL: A 41-acre tract located at
Sunrise, FL in West Broward County. The property is
entitled for 823,000 sq. ft. of office space. The site is
master planned for four office buildings. Flagler is evalu-
ating the property for future development.

The following is a summary of the Company's development activity as of December 31, 2004:

Net Rentable Estimated Building

Status Owner Property Description Sqguare Feet Completion Date
Under construction Flagler Flagler Station ~ Ryder BTS 239,000 Mar 2005
Under construction Flagler Flagler Center — Lakeside |l 114,000 Mar 2005
Under construction Flagler Flagler Station - QW27 201,000 Mar 2005
Under construction Flagler DCeerwood North — Office 4 113,000 Jul 2005
Under construction Flagler SouthPark Center Il - Bldg 1200 137,000 Sep 2005
Pre-development Flagler Flagler Center — Bidg 700 150,000 Nov 2005
Pre-development Flagler Flagler Station - OW25 160,000 TBD
Pre-development Flagler SouthPark Center — Bldg 700 93,000 TBD
Pre-development Flagler Flagler Center — Lakeside | 114,000 TBD
1,321,000

Customers

Flagler leases to approximately 250 tenants in a variety of
industries, including financial services, distribution, hospi-
tality services, and import/export. Flagler’s largest tenant,
based on square footage, occupied approximately 4% of
leased space at December 31, 2004. Flagler's largest ten-
ant, based on rental revenues, accounted for approximately
6% of 2004 continuing operations’ contractual rental income.
Flagler's five largest tenants, based on rental revenues,
accounted for approximately 23% of continuing opera-
tions’ contractual rental income.

Competition

The real estate industry is generally characterized by signifi-
cant competition. There are numerous developers and real
estate companies (including those in Florida) competing with
the Company for acquisitions of properties, resources for
development and prospective tenants. Competition may
adversely affect the Company's ability to attract and retain
tenants and achieve favorable rental rates. The Company
may compete with entities having greater financial and other
resources. There can be no assurance that the existence
of such competition may not have a material adverse effect
on the Company's business, operations, or cash flows.

Regulation

Real estate development in Florida is subject to extensive
regulation at both the state and local levels. One of the
primary purposes of regulation is to ensure that infrastruc-
ture, such as traffic circulation, sanitary sewer, solid waste,
drainage, potable water, parks and recreation and transpor-
tation facilities, is adequate to serve proposed development.
If the facilities in the area of the development are inadequate
or will become inadequzate as a result of the proposed
development, the developer must either improve the infra-
structure to a level satisfactory to the regulatory agencies
or provide financial assurances that the necessary improve-
ments will be made as development progresses. in many
areas of Florida, significant infrastructure improvements
need to be made in order 1o support additional development.
Infrastructure improvement requirements could adversely
affect the ability of developers in Florida, including Flagler,
to develop real estate projects.

Larger developments may be regulated as a Development
of Regional Impact (DRI) if they meet statutorily prescribed
thresholds. The process for obtaining governmental approval
of a DRI project includes an evaluation of the project’s

impact on the environment, infrastructure and government
services, and requires the involvement of numerous federal,
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state and local governmental agencies. The DRI review
process is lengthy and expensive and may result in an
approval that requires significant capital improvements or
other exactions as a condition of the approved development.

In addition, federal, state and local regulations govern the
development of lands containing endangered or protected
wildlife species, and sensitive environmental areas such
as wetlands and coastal areas. Much of the developable
land in Florida is impacted by those regulations. As a result,
those regulations may limit the Company’s ability to develop
its real estate holdings.

Real estate ownership and development is subject to exten-
sive federal, state, and local environmental regulation gov-
erning hazardous substances. Pursuant to those regulations,
the owner or operator of contaminated real estate may be
required to perform remediation, regardless of the cause
of the contamination. The sale or development of proper-
ties may also be restricted due to environmental concerns.
in addition, violation of those regulations may result in civil
penzlties, remediation expenses, natural resource damages,
injunctions, and cease and desist orders and criminal pen-
alties. The Company is not presently aware of any material
contamination, or any material adverse environmental
development issues relating to its real estate operations.
However, there can be no assurance that environmental
issues will not arise in the future.

Risks

Market Risks. There can be no assurance that the U.S.
economy in general, or the economy of the Southeast and
Florida in particular, will continue at its current strong
pace, which may adversely affect the Company. Certain
significant expenditures associated with the development,
management and servicing of real estate (such as real
estate taxes, maintenance costs and debt payments, if
any) generally could not be reduced even if an economic
downturn caused less revenue to be generated from the
Company's properties. Additionally, capital expenditures
{especially infrastructure related) for development of office
parks occur early in the construction cycle, potentially
becoming subject to longer than expected holding periods
and costs in the event of economic downturns.

Development Risks. The Company's real estate develop-
ment activities require significant capital expenditures.
Capital investment at Flagler for 2005 is expected to be
between $150 million and $170 million, which includes
$75 million to $85 million for acquisitions of land and/or
finished buildings utilizing proceeds from third and fourth
quarter 2004 realty sales. The Company has obtained funds
for its capital expenditures and operating activities through
operating cash flows, property sales, and financings. There
can be no assurance that funds available from operating

cash flow, property sales and financings will continue to
be sufficient to fund the Company’s required or desired
capital expenditures for development. If the Company were
unable to obtain sufficient funds, it might have to defer or
otherwise limit certain development activities. Further, any
new development, or any rehabilitation of older projects,
may require compliance with new building codes and other
regulations. The Company cannot estimate the cost of
complying with such codes and regulations, and such costs
can make a new project, or some otherwise desirable uses
of an existing project, not economically feasible.

Cyclical Risks. Flagler's leasing occupancy and develop-
ment are subject to the effect of cycles in the regional
and local economies and, to a lesser extent, by the U.S.
national economy. Historicaily, leasing occupancy and new
building development activity are affected late in a period
of economic recovery and late in an economic downturn.

Natural Disaster Risks. Flagler's operating assets are located
in Florida and are susceptible to damage, destruction and
operational disruption (including rents from tenants) from
natural disasters like hurricanes and other severe storms,
especially those assets along the east coast. Damage and
destruction of operating assets could be material with
accompanying long periods of operational outage.

TELECOMMUNICATIONS

FECI completed the sale of its wholly owned telecom-
munications subsidiary, EPIK, to Odyssey Telecorp, Inc.
(Odyssey), a privately held holding company specializing
in telecom network assets during the fourth quarter of
2002. In accordance with SFAS 144, "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144),
EPIK's results from operations and the estimated disposi-
tion gain have been reported as discontinued operations
for all years presented. See Part I, items 7 (Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations) and 8 (Financial Statements) of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for a more detailed discussion of the
sale of this subsidiary.

Financial Information about FECl's Segments

The Company had total segment operating revenues of
$378.2 million, an operating profit of $130.2 million and
total assets of $1.1 billion in 2004. (See Note 8 Segment
Information of the Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data set forth in Part Il, ltem 8 of this report on Form 10-K}.
The Company's total railroad operating revenues were
$200.8 million and real estate revenues were $177.4 mil-
lion (which included land sales of $104.8 million). Segment
operating profit included $47.3 million from the railroad,
$98.0 million from real estate (which included land sales
of $89.0 million), less $15.1 million of corporate general
and administrative expenses. During 2002, the Company
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sold EPIK and discontinued FLX's (Florida Express Carriers,
inc.) trucking operetions. The financial results of these
two businesses, along with certain buildings sold or held
for sale, and partnership interests sold, are accounted for
and shown in discontinued operations, which includes a
2004 and 2003 gain/{loss) from the operation of discontin-
ued operations, net of taxes, of $0.1 million and ($0.2) mil-
lion, respectively, and a 2004 and 2003 gain on disposition
of discontinued operations, net of taxes, of $2.6 million
and $2.17 million, respectively.

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

All raw materials FECR and Flagler use, including fuel,
track materials and building construction materials, are
available in adequate supply from multiple sources.

Seasonality

FECR's rail traffic is relatively stable throughout the year
with higher volumes ordinarily occurring during the sec-
ond and last quarters of the year. The Company’s real
estate business is not generally seasonal.

Working Capital

At December 31, 2004, the Company’s current assets
exceeded current liabilities by $111.4 million. The
Company had a $200 million revolving credit facility at
December 31, 2004 (see Note 14 of Item 8 of the Financial
Statements). At December 31, 2004, there were no mon-
ies drawn on the facility (see also Part Il, Item 7.,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations), At December 31,
2004, the Company had cash and cash equivalent balances
of $126.2 million, including $91.4 million, held by a qualify-
ing intermediary, designated for possible use to purchase
real property via tax-deferred exchange. The Board of
Directors authorized the expenditure of up to $40 million
to repurchase its outstanding common stock through a
program of open market purchases and privately negoti-
ated transactions. The Company expects to finance the
stock repurchase primarily from available cash balances,
cash generated from operations, and external financing to
the extent necessary. At December 31, 2004, the Company
had not repurchased stock pursuant to this authorization.

Employees

FECI employed 20 people; FECR employed 798, and Flagler
had 67 employees as of December 31, 2004. Approximately
567 of FECR's employees are represented by labor unions:
United Transportation Union (UTU) train and engine ser-
vice employees, Brotherhood of Maintenance of Way

Employees (BMWE) track maintenance, structures and
roadway shop employees, and International Brotherhood
of Electrical Workers (IBEW) representing six crafts includ-
ing agents and clerical, carmen, maintenance of equipment
foremen, signals and communications, train dispatchers,
boilermakers, electricians, machinists, sheetmetal workers
and shop laborers.

FECR is a party to Collective Bargaining Agreements {CBAs)
with these three national labor unions. All agreements are
currently amendable. The Company is in various stages of
negotiations with collective bargaining representatives of
these unions, including direct negotiations, mediation and
in one instance, mutually agreed binding arbitration, which
is scheduled for the second quarter of 2005. The Company
anticipates a satisfactory resolution of these negotiations
and proceedings.

Company Web Address

The Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports are available through the
Company’s website (www.feci.com) as soon as reascnably
practicable after such material is electronically filed with or
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission and
are available free of charge upon request from the Company.

Additionally, the Company’s Code of Conduct, Corporate
Governance Guidelines and Charters of the Committees

of the Board of Directors are also posted on the website.
This information is also available in print form via mail by
request to the Company.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company’s material physical properties at December 31,
2004 are listed below and are grouped by industry segment.

RAILWAY

FECR owns three connected four-story buildings in St.
Augustine, Florida, which are used by FEC!I and FECR as
corporate headquarters. FECR also owns a railroad right-
of-way, generally 100 feet wide, along the east coast of
Florida extending for 351 miles used for its raifroad opera-
tions. FECR also owns and operates approximately 277
miles of branch, switching and other secondary track, and
158 miles of yard track, various rail car marshalling yards,
trailer/container and automobile loading and unloading
facilities, signaling system facilities, and a number of
operating offices, shops and service house buildings.
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On March 2, 1998, FECR entered into a Trackage Agreement
with SCFE providing for, among other things, the exclusive
operation and maintenance of 56 miles of branch mainline.

FECR's tracks, bridges and other fixed property and signal
improvements are maintained to a level based on the
needs of service. The mainline is, in general, constructed
of 132-pound per vard continuous welded rail supported
on concrete crossties. These facilities provide a reliable
infrastructure for rail operations suited to the business
demands of customers, including unrestricted movement
of double-stacked containers, tri-level automobiles, and
heavier axle rail cars.

The branch mainiines, way switching and vard tracks are,
for the most part, of 115-pound per yard materials sup-
ported by wood ties.

FECR owns or leases 76 diesel electric locomotives, 2,456
freight cars, 1,655 trailers for highway revenue service,
numerous pieces of rail-mounted and non-rail-mounted
work eguipment, and numerous automobiles used in main-
tenance and transportation operations. Generally, FECR's
equipment is in good physical condition, considering its
years of service and operating utilization.

During 2003, FECR commenced an engineering- and
economics-based study of its principal right-of-way and
equipment assets to develop a multi-year maintenance
and replacement plan and associated estimates of the
assets’ remaining lives. The engineering studies segre-
gated the equipment and right-of-way assets into the
following major groupings: Locomotives, rolling stock
(e.g. hoppers, flatcars, etc.), bridges, and track structure
(rail, ties, ballast, and other track material). During the
third and fourth quarters of 2004, the engineering stud-
ies (including associated estimated depreciation lives)
for locomotives and rolling stock were completed. The
studies generally indicated no significant changes in capi-
tal maintenance or replacement programs or depreciation
expense. (See Note 3 of the Financial Statements in Part I,
Item 8 of this report). The finalizations of the bridge and
right-of-way asset engineering studies are expected dur-
ing the first and second quarters of 2005, respectively.

These pending studies and their conclusions may result
in material changes in FECR's maintenance and capital
spending and in the estimated remaining useful lives of
its property, plant and equipment, which may affect future
depreciation rates and expense.

In addition, FECR currently manages approximately 2,700
rail cars from Greenbrier Leasing Corporation, Bombardier
Capital, and other entities, with operating terms of up to
five to ten years, generally cancelable every three years.
The terms call for FECR to be billed an hourly rate based
upon the length of time the car is on-line versus off-line.
As a car goes off-line, a per diem rent sharing arrangement
goes into effect whereby Greenbrier and FECR apportion
the rent based upon the length of time the car is off-line.
Rents from the Greenbrier, Bombardier and other entities
received by FECR were $3.9 million, $4.0 million and
$3.0 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Certain
of these agreements provide for base rents payable to
Greenbrier and others by FECR if the car remains on FECR's
line for a specified number of days. To date, these base
rents {i.e., those above normal car hire) payable to Greenbrier
and others have been minimal.
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REAL ESTATE

At year-end 2004, Flagler's commercial and industrial portfolio included 80 buildings aggregating 6.6 million rentable sq.
ft. Flagler's income-producing properties are detailed below:

Flagier's Income-Producing Buildings (at December 31, 2004)

No. of Rentable  Occupied % Year
Location Bldgs. Type Sq. Ft. Sq. Ft. Occupied Built
duPont Center
Jacksonville, FL 2 Office Buildings 160,000 106,000 66 1987-88
Deerwood North
Jacksonville, FL 3 Office Buildings 383,000 365,000 95 1999-04
Deerwood South
Jacksonville, FL 4 Office Buildings 520,000 470,000 90 1996-99
Flagler Center 3 Office Buildings 355,000 347,000 98 1999
Jacksonville, FL 2 Office/Showroom/Warehouses 208,000 179,000 86 1997-99
1 Front Load Warehouse 99,000 99,000 100 1997
1 Rail Warehouse 108,000 108,000 100 1997
Gran Park at The Avenues 3 Office Buildings 242,000 215,000 89 1992-95
Jacksonville, FL 3 Office/Showroom/MWarehouses 174,000 157,000 90 1992-97
1 Office Warehouse 154,000 146,000 95 1994-96
Office Center at Southpoint
Jacksonville, FL 1 Office Building 60,000 60,000 100 1999
SouthPark Center | & Il 5 Office Buildings 707,000 703,000 399 1998-04
Orlando, FL 1 Office/Showroom/Warehouse 132,000 114,000 86 1998
Flagler Station 1 Office Building 101,000 101,000 100 2000
Miami, FL 5 Office/Showroom/Warehouses 368,000 337,000 92 1988-94
10 Office Warehouses 1,328,000 1,281,000 96 1990-01
4 Rail Warehouses 398,000 398,000 100 1989-94
8 Front Load Warehouses 1,028,000 1,028,000 100 1981-95
1 Office Service Center 39,000 39,000 100 1994-02
1 Retail Building 42,000 11,000 26 2002
Total-100% owned buildings 60 6,607,000 6,264,000 95

On February 4, 2005, Flagler completed the acquisition of
a partially leased 240,000 sq. ft. Class A office building
located in Doral, Florida. Flagler utilized approximately
$41.6 million of land sales proceeds held in escrow at
December 31, 2004 to purchase this property.

Certain of these buildings are mortgaged to secure loans
with outstanding balances due of $342.9 million as of
December 31, 2004. The mortgage notes consist of
$238.4 million of seven- and ten-year notes with a blended
interest and principal repayment payable monthly based on
a fixed 7.23% weighted-average interest rate on the out-
standing principal amount of the mortgage notes and a
thirty-year amortization period. In addition, $105 miilion of

seven-year mortgage notes were issued on August 10, 2004,

with $104.5 million outstanding at December 31, 2004.
These mortgage notes consist of a $60 million note with

a fixed rate of interest of 5.27% and a $45 million note with
a floating rate of interest based on the 90-day LIBOR Index
plus 1.00% (3.40% at December 31, 2004). Repayments
of principal and interest are payable monthly based upon
a thirty-year amortization schedule.

The Company periodically reviews its inventory of income-
producing commercial and industrial properties, as well
as undeveloped properties to determine how best to max-
imize its value, including possible sale, if market conditions
warrant. The Company will continue to develop additional
rentable commercial and industrial space if market condi-
tions warrant. The Company currently has 804,000 sq. ft.
under construction, including a 239,000 sq. ft. build-to-suit
project, and 517,000 sq. ft. in the pre-development phase
{see Part |, ltem 1. Business, in this report on Form 10-K).
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Flagler's land portfolio includes the following major
land holdings:

Lemberg Tract and Miller Shop

Three tracts totaling 1,169 acres located in St. Johns County
along US 1 between Jacksonvilte and St. Augustine. Addi-
tionally, FECR owns an adjacent 200-acre parcel located
along the headwaters of the San Sebastian River in St.
Augustine. This parcel is part of FECR's former mechanical
shop property. The Company is currently in the process of
evaluating the zoning and possible future changes to cur-
rent zoning or potential Development of Regional Impact
processes. The Company is evaluating the development
potential of these parcels for a variety of future uses,
including potential development or disposition.

Fort Pierce K-4

A 319-acre tract located in St. Lucie County at the south-
east quadrant of the intersection of 1-95 and the Fiorida
Turnpike. The land use designation for the property is for
mixed-use development, with 180 acres of the property
presently zoned for heavy industrial. The remainder is
presently zoned for agriculture or residential. When mar-
ket analysis reflects the proper demand for industrial use,
the property could be developed as industrial zoned prop-
erty. Various approvals from state, regional and local gov-
ernment entities will be required. This property is currently
being marketed for sale.

Downtown Miami Lot

An 8-acre tract located in downtown Miami fronting on
NW 1st Avenue adjacent to the Miami Arena and less
than one block from the federal courthouse currently
being constructed. The future land-use designation and
zoning of the property are for office/mixed-use. Flagler is
evaluating the development of the property for the allow-
able future use.

Bartram Park

A 90-acre parcel located in south Jacksonville at the inter-
section of 1-95 and Old St. Augustine Road, across the
interstate from Flagler Center. The property has entitlements
for 882,000 sq. ft. of office, industrial and commercial space.
Bartram Park is currently under contract for $22 million to
an unaffiliated third party. The sale agreement contains,
and is subject to, certain due diligence contingencies that
enable either or both parties to exit the agreement. The
sale is expected to close during the third quarter of 2005.

FECR PROPERTIES

FECR also owns lands outside of the right-of-way. These
holdings include certain properties in South Florida and
large rail yards in Jacksonville, Fort Pierce, and Miami.
Exclusive of operating rail yards, some of FECR's land
portfolio includes the following:

Right-of-Way Corridors

The Company continues to hold an interest in several cor-
ridors, upon which rail service is not currently provided.
The Titusville Branch in Volusia and Brevard counties is
approximately 35 miles in length and contains 450 acres.
In addition, the Edgewater Branch extends from Edgewater
to Maytown connecting to the Aurantia to Benson Junction
corridor. This corridor is approximately 16 miles in length
and contains 191 acres. The Company has recently
entered into discussions with the Florida Department

of Environmental Protection regarding acquisition of
these lines for recreational purposes.

A corridor extends southerly for approximately six miles
from the Miami International Airport to a major metropoli-
tan mall in Miami-Dade County. The northerly portion of
this corridor remains in rail service. On February 22, 2005,
FEC! entered into a contract to sell 0.4 miles of this right-
of-way for approximately $11.1 million. The sale agreement
contains, and is subject to, certain due diligence contin-
gencies that enable the buyer to terminate the agreement.

Cadillac Gauge Property

This property is located in an industrial area on Cidco Road
in Cocoa, Florida. This property has over 100,000 sq. ft. of
warehouse space on 92 acres of land. The property offers
a variety of uses and is currently being marketed for sale.

Eyster Boulevard

This site is located in the City of Rockledge, south of Eyster
Boulevard, and consists of 64.1 acres with approximately

1,290 ft. of frontage along Eyster Boulevard and over 2,600 ft.
of rail frontage. A portion of the site has 330 ft. of frontage

along Murrell Road. The property is currently being marketed
for sale as commercial and industrial sites.

New Smyrna

This site is located on Route 44 in New Smyrna Beach along
Florida's east coast. The property includes undeveloped
acreage and an active FECR locomotive repair shop. The
undeveloped acreage offers a variety of uses and may be
offered for sale in the future.

Summary of FECI Land Holdings

The Company owned and managed 5,321 acres of land at
year-end 2004, which included 543 acres on which build-
ings are located:; 740 acres of developable land with enti-
tlements, including the projects under development
described in Item 1, Part 1 of this report; 2,832 acres of
unentitled land, including the undeveloped properties
described in Item 1, Part | of this report, and 1,206 acres
held by FECR. These properties are held for lease, devel-
opment, and/or sale and are in fourteen counties of the
state of Florida with 4,115 acres held by Flagler and 1,206
acres held by FECR.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS

The Company is the defendant and plaintiff in various
lawsuits resulting from its operations. In the opinion of
management, appropriate provision has been made in
the financial statements for the estimated liability that
may result from disposition of such matters. The Company
maintains comprehensive liability insurance for bodily
injury and property claims, but is self-insured or maintains
a significant self-insured retention for these exposures,
particularly at FECR. These lawsuits are related to alleged
bodily injuries sustained by Railway employees or third
parties, employment related matters such as alleged wrong-
ful termination and commercial or contract disputes.

The Company is subject to proceedings and consent
decrees arising out of its historic disposal of fuel and oil
used in the transportation business. It is the Company's
policy to accrue environmental cleanup costs when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and an amount
can be reasonably estimated. As assessments and clean-
ups proceed, these accruals are reviewed and adjusted.

The Company is participating, together with several other
potentially responsible parties (PRPs), in the remediation
of a site in Jacksonville, Florida, pursuant to an agreement
with the United States Environmental Protection Agency
(USEPA). The site previously accepted waste oil from many
businesses. The Company has accrued $250,000, which
is its estimated share of the total estimated cleanup costs
for the site. To date, approximately $145,000 has been
expended. The cleanup is expected to take approximately
five years. Based upon management's evaluation of the
PRPs, which include the City of Jacksonville, CSX
Transportation, Inc. and the federal government, the
Company does not expect to incur additional material
amounts, even though the Company may have joint and
several liability. It is possible that the remediation costs
could be higher than anticipated, but the Company is not
aware of any facts or circumstances, which indicate that
the costs are expected to be materially higher than cur-
rently anticipated.

FECR is one of several PRPs alleged to have contributed
to the environmental contamination at and near the Miami
International Airport {MIA) in a lawsuit filed on or about
April 11, 2007 by Miami-Dade County in the Miami-Dade
County 11th Judicial Circuit Court. In regard to FECR,
Miami-Dade County generally alleges that FECR is or was
the owner of sites at or near MIA and that the past acts
of an FECR lessee or others contaminated the soil and/or
groundwater at those sites, which allegedly impacted MIA
property. The County generally sought damages for past
and future remediation costs relating to MIA's property.

In June 2004, FECR and Miami-Dade County entered into
a Settlement Agreement, General Release and Covenant
Not to Sue whereby FECR would be released from all
claims that have been or could be asserted against FECR
in the lawsuit by Miami-Dade County, upon payment to
Miami-Dade County of approximately $100,000 and FECR's
release of Miami-Dade County from FECR related claims
at MIA. In December 2004, the Settlement Agreement
was approved by the court, and the matter was settled in
accordance with the terms of the Settlement Agreement.

The Company monitors a small number of sites leased

to others, or acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries.
Based on management’s ongoing review and monitoring
of the sites, and the ability to seek contribution or indem-
nification from the PRPs, the Company does not expect to
incur material additional costs, if any.

It is difficult to quantify future environmental costs as many
issues relate to actions by third parties or changes in envi-
ronmental regulations. However, based on information
presently available, management believes that the ultimate
disposition of currently known matters will not have a
material effect on the financial position, liquidity, or results
of operations of the Company.

On February 24, 2004, the Broward County Commission
approved the negotiated termination of a long-term ground
lease between the County and the Company.

The ground lease covered 97 acres owned in fee by
Broward County at Port Everglades, which is located near
Fort Lauderdale, Florida. The County and the Company have
now terminated the entire lease. In consideration for the
early termination, the Company (a) conveyed title to certain
land improvements and a warehouse on the leased prop-
erty and (b) paid to Broward County $5.4 million reduced
by additional rental payments made by the Company from
November 2003 until closing and some other minor adjust-
ments, the net additional payment being $3.7 million.
Additionally, the Company paid $1.8 million to resolve a
dispute under a related agreement between the County,
the City of Hollywood, and the Company for payments
in-lieu-of taxes for the lease term. The settlement termi-
nates all agreements affecting the Company in respect
to the leased premises.

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company recorded a
charge of $16.4 million ($10.1 million after tax), reflecting
management’s estimate of the cost of terminating the
ground lease. Final costs of terminating the ground lease,
including the settlement with the City, were $16.9 million.
The additional costs of $0.5 million are included in the
2004 operating results.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF
MATTERS TO A VOTE OF
SECURITY HOLDERS

There were no matters submitted to a vote of security
holders during the fourth quarter of 2004.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR
REGISTRANT'S COMMON
EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS,
AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock and Dividend Policy

The common stock of FECI is traded on the New York
Stock Exchange with the symbol "FLA." As of February 18,
2005, there were 1,568 holders of record of FECI's
common stock.

The following table shows the high and low sales prices
and dividends per share by quarter for 2004 and 2003;

Cash
Dividends
Common Stock Price High Low Paid

2004
Fourth Quarter

Common stock $46.83  $36.60 $0.05
Third Quarter

Common stock $40.54 $35.00 $0.05
Second Quarter

Common stock $40.37 $34.53 $0.05
First Quarter

Common stock $36.00 $31.62 $0.04
2003
Fourth Quarter

Common stock $34.40 $27.59 $0.04
Third Quarter

Class A $30.90 $26.36 $1.54

Class B $32.10 $25.15 $1.54
Second Quarter

Class A $29.70 $24.30 $0.04

Class B $29.39  $27.05 $0.04
First Quarter

Class A $25.49 $2298 $0.025

Class B $24 .55 $21.97 $0.025

The Company pays quarterly cash dividends on its outstand-
ing shares of common stock. On August 28, 2003, the
Company declared a special dividend of $1.50 per share on
its outstanding common stock, payable on September 25,
2003, to shareholders of record on September 11, 2003,
The Company currently expects to continue paying quar-
terly cash dividends in an amount at least equal to the div-
idends paid in 2004; however, the determination of the
amount of future cash dividends, if any, to be declared
and paid by the Company will depend upon, among other
things, the Company’s financial condition, funds from
operations, level of capital expenditures, future business
prospects and other factors deemed relevant by the Board
of Directors. The closing price of the common stock was
$42.08 as of February 18, 2006.

On February 27, 2003, FECI's Board of Directors approved
the submission of a proposal to shareholders to amend
the Company's Articles of Incorporation to eliminate the
Company's dual-class structure by reclassifying the
Company's Class A common stock and Class B common
stock into a new single class of common stock on a one-
for-one basis. The reclassification was subsequently
approved at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on
May 28, 2003. On September 10, 2003, FEC! and The St. Joe
Company received a favorable ruling from the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service regarding FECI's reclassification of its
Class A and Class B common stock into a single class of
common stock. The letter ruling confirmed that the proposed
reclassification would not have an adverse affect on the
tax-free status of the October 2000 spin-off of St. Joe's
equity interest in FECI to St. Joe's shareholders. FECI filed
an amendment to its Articles of Incorporation with the
Secretary of State of Florida in order to effect the reclassi-
fication on September 22, 2003. The consolidated financial
statements reflect the reclassification for all periods pre-
sented. The single class of common stock trades on the
New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “FLA."

The tabular presentation regarding Securities Authorized
for issuance under Equity Compensation Plan information
Plans is presented in the Proxy Statement.

On August 28, 2003, the Board of Directors authorized
the expenditure of up to $75 million to repurchase
the Company's outstanding common stock through

a program of open market purchases and privately
negotiated transactions.
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L e R A

On August 13, 2004, the Company purchased 5.5 million
shares of common stock from The Alfred I. duPont
Testamentary Trust (Trust) and The Nemours Foundation
(Foundation) for $34.50 per share or approximately $191 mil-
lion. The price represented an 8.0% discount to the 30-day
average closing price ending August 4, 2004. The shares
represented approximately 14.9% of the Company’s total
outstanding common stock and are held as treasury stock.
After the transaction, the Trust owned 3,085,930 shares, or
approximately 8.8% of the total shares outstanding. The
Foundation no longer owns any shares of the Company. In
connection with the transaction, the Trust representatives
Winfred L. Thornton, John S. Lord, and Herbert H. Peyton
resigned from the FECI Board of Directors during August

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Average Price
Paid Per Share

2004. The Trust also agreed not to sell additional shares
until January 1, 2005. The transaction was approved by
the directors of the FECI Board, other than the representa-
tives of the Trust.

The share-repurchase transaction with the Trust and
Foundation described earlier exhausted the above $75 mil-
lion share repurchase authority. After the transaction with
the Trust, the Board authorized the Company to repurchase
up to $40 million of common stock through a program of
open market purchases and privately negotiated transac-
tions, from time to time. The following table sets forth

the repurchases made during the three months ended
December 31, 2004:

Maximum Amount of Value
That May Yet be Purchased
Under the Plans or Programs

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or Programs

October - -
November 53* $38
December 358* $43

- $40,000,000
- $40,000,000
- $40,000,000

*Shares purchased represent shares surrendered to the Company for federal withholding obligations related to employees’ vesting on
previously restricted stock. During 2004, the Company purchased 31,173 shares were surrendered for this purpose at an average price
of $38.88 per share. Additionally, in August 2004, the CEO surrendered to the Company 59,769 shares at $39.74 per share, to pay the
strike price and withholding obligations for the exercise of 80,524 options.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below with respect to the Company’s consolidated statements of income
for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2004, and with respect to the consolidated balance sheets for
the same periods are derived from the consolidated financial statements. This selected financial data should be read in
conjunction with Part Il, Items 7 (Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations),
and 8 (Notes to the Financial Statements and Supplementary Data) included elsewhere herein. Income statement data,
discontinued operations and earnings per share results for all years have been reclassified to treat EPIK, FLX and certain
Flagler buildings as discontinued operations, consistent with the 2004 presentation. Included in 2002 and 2001 discontin-
ued operations is an impairment of certain telecommunications assets. See Note 4 to the Financial Statements in Item 8
below for additional discussion.

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Income Statement Data

Operating revenues 378,187 338,264 300,515 245,294 237,637
Operating expenses (247,955) ({264,554) (210,773) (188,452) (181,319)
Operating profit 130,232 73.710 89,742 56,842 56,318
Interest income 1,124 946 425 1,170 3,508
Interest expense {16,671) (17,056) ({19,602) {6,187) (932)
Other income 13,023 9,644 10,803 9,288 10,951

Income before income taxes 127,708 67,144 81,368 61,113 69,845

Provision for income taxes (49,806) (25.851) (31,327} (23,529} (28.010)
income from continuing operations 77,802 41,293 50,041 37,6584 41,835

Discontinued Operations
Income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations

{net of taxes) (see details following) 106 (173) (168,615)  (98,970) (16,077}
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations (net of taxes) 2,590 2,104 10,823 - -
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 2,696 1831 (157,792) (98,870) (16,077)
Net income {loss) 80,598 43,224 (107.751)  (61,386) 25,758

Earnings Per Share

Income from continuing operations — basic $2.25 $1.13 $1.37 $1.03 $1.15
Income from continuing operations — diluted $2.21 $1.12 $1.36 $1.02 $1.14
Loss from operation of discontinued operations - basic - {$0.07) {$4.63) ($2.72) ($0.44)
Loss from operation of discontinued operations - diluted - ($0.01) ($4.60) ($2.70) ($0.44)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations — basic & diluted $0.08 $0.08 $0.30 - -
Net income (loss) - basic $2.33 $1.18 (%$2.96) {$1.69) $0.71
Net income {loss) - diluted $2.29 $1.17 ($2.94) ($1.68) $0.70
Weighted-average shares — basic 34,530 36,502 36,446 36,397 36,365
Weighted-average shares — diluted 35,217 36,865 36,635 36,608 36,706
Cash dividends declared on common stock 6,498 60,453 3,658 3,652 3,643
Cash dividends declared per share on common stock $0.19 $1.645 $0.10 $0.10 $0.10
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Details of EPIK's, FLX's, and certain Flagler buildings’ income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations are pro-
vided in the following tables:

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Summary of Operating Results of Discontinued Operations

EPIK revenues - - 17,728 11,504 3,393
EPIK expenses - 65 296,774* 169,640* 24,426
Operating loss - (65) (279,046) (158,136) (21,033)
Other income - - 9,272 594 953
Loss before income taxes - (65) (269,774) (157,642)  (20,080)
Income taxes - 25 103,863 60,654 8,032
Loss from operation of discontinued operations - (40) (165,911) (96,888) (12,048)

*During 2002 & 2001, the Company recorded asset impairments of $238.7 million and $98.1 million, respectively, for EPIK's long-lived assets.

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Summary of Operating Results of Discontinued Operations

Trucking revenues - - 22,525 36,224 31,601
Trucking expenses. - (250) 28,688 42,483 39,752
Income (loss) before income taxes - 250 (6,163) (6,259) {8.151)
Income taxes - (96) 2,373 2,410 3,260
income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations - 154 (3,790) (3,849) (4,891)

Years Ended December 31

(doliars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Summary of Operating Results of Discontinued Operations

Flagler realty rental revenues 718 2,030 4,133 4,368 2,011
Flagler realty rental expenses 545 2,540 2,440 1,786 754
Operating income (loss) 173 (510) 1,693 2,582 1,267
Interest income - 43 73 291 145
Income (loss) before income taxes 173 (467) 1,766 2,873 1,402
Income taxes (67) 180 (680) (1,106) (540)
Income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations 106 (287) 1,086 1,767 862

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Balance Sheet Data

Total assets 1,063,193 1,008,350 1,051,236 1,200,670 1,111,538
Cash and investments 126,166 125,057 83,872 14,089 32,690
Properties, less accumulated depreciation 853,458 814,683 795650 1,064,889 989283
Long-term debt 338,065 238,305 294,143 282,784 88,000
Shareholders’ equity 464,926 558,133 573,316 684,169 748,104
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Management’s discussion and analysis should be read

in conjunction with Item 8., Financial Statements, Item 1.,
Business, and Item 2., Properties, included elsewhere herein.
The following discussion contains forward-looking state-
ments (see cautionary statement at the front of this report).
The Company’s actual results may differ significantly from
those projected in the forward-looking statements.

GENERAL OVERVIEW

FECI is a holding company engaged in the rail and real
estate businesses through two wholly owned subsidiaries.

The Company's assets and operations are located in the
state of Florida. Consequently, the Company's performance
is significantly affected by the general health of the Florida
economy, while more broadly affected by the national
economy, and international economies, including the
Caribbean, South America, and Asia.

The Company generates rail-operating revenues primarily
from the movement of freight in both conventional freight
cars and intermodal shipments of containers and trailers
on flatcars over its rail lines. Starting in November of 2002,
certain drayage operations previously performed by FLX
were assumed by FECR. Freight and drayage revenues are
recorded as freight moves from origin to destination. Modest
non-freight operating revenues are derived from demurrage
and detention (equipment per diem paid by customers),
switching, weighing, special train and other transportation
services. The Company has one railroad customer that
accounted for approximately 21%, 20%, and 19% of the
railroad’s operating revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. The Company does not believe that this cus-
tomer will cease to be a rail shipper, or will significantly
decrease its freight volume in the near future. FECR’s top
five customers accounted for approximately 43%, 43%,
and 46% of 2004, 2003, and 2002 freight revenues. While
FECR may compete directly with certain of its connecting
rail carriers, FECR revenues can also be affected by broader
rail industry issues like service reliability, shipper satisfaction,
government regulation, and the effects of Class | mergers
and acquisitions. Additionally, broader transportation industry
issues associated with motor carriers, ships, barges, and
ports can affect transportation logistics and patterns, which
influence rail shioments and freight revenues.

The Company's rail expenses consist of salaries and wages
{71% of FECR's work force is covered by collective bar-
gaining agreements, each agreement currently amendable
with several in negotiations, mediation and one in binding
arbitration), related payroll taxes and employee benefits,
depreciation (primarily reflecting FECR's capital require-
ments for maintaining the current operations), insurance
and casualty claim expense, diesel fuel, car hire (generally,
a net rent credit received from others utilizing FECR's car
fleet less rents paid by FECR to use foreign equipment),
property taxes, materials and supplies, purchased services
and other expenses. Many of the railway’s operating
expenses are of a relatively fixed nature, and do not increase
or decrease proportionately with increases or decreases
in operating revenues unless the Company’'s management
takes specific actions to restructure the Company's opera-
tions. The Company experiences increases/decreases in fuel
costs as the price of diesel fuel fluctuates in the market.

The Company’s real estate operations are cyclical and are
affected by local demographic and general economic trends
and the supply and rate of absorption of new construction.
Although the Company's real estate business has a large
portfolio of income-producing properties expected to pro-
vide reasonably stable operating results from a large and
diverse customer base, the Company's real estate earnings
may be significantly affected from period to period by the
nature and timing of sales of developed property and non-
core real estate assets as well as market conditions that
tighten competition for tenants. Acquisitions may also sig-
nificantly affect the comparability of operating results period
to period due to the immediate impact from the addition
of income-producing developed operating properties, as
is contemplated by the potential acquisitions utilizing tax
deferred net land sales proceeds held at December 31,
2004. Additionally, certain significant expenditures (includ-
ing capital for maintaining or providing infrastructure to the
properties) may fluctuate significantly over time.

Flagler has a portfolio of land, which includes land held for
future development (entitled and unentitled), surplus fand,
some of which is under contract or held for sale, and land
located in the parks that is under the existing buildings
(543 acres) or undevelopable (832 acres). The Company
believes that Flagler's 740 acres of entitled land and 2,832
acres of unentitled land, which are held for future devel-
opment or disposition, are capable of supporting five- to
ten-years of future development. During 2005, additional
developable land may be purchased from reinvested land
sale proceeds in qualifying tax-deferred exchanges. These
properties will be held for future development. The
Company's determination to develop or sell property is
based on market conditions. Flagler holds approximately
518 acres of surplus land included in unentitled land above,
all of which is either on the market or under contract for
sale and expected to be sold over the next several years.
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FECR owns or has an interest in approximately 1,206 acres
of land that is held for lease, development, and/or sale,
including 3 rail corridors (661 acres) that are either aban-
doned or are candidates for abandonment. There are 148
acres currently on the market or under contract for sale.
FECR continues to evaluate the appropriate uses for the
remaining land.

Real estate operating revenues are generated from (i) rental
agreements on its commercial and industrial portfolio of
buildings, as well as rents on its land holdings, (ii) sales of
land and/or buildings and (iii) development, brokerage and
property management services provided to customers.

Real estate operating expenses include costs of managing
its commercial and industrial properties, costs associated
with providing services to customers, and costs associ-
ated with land (both holding and development costs} and
building sales. The Company incurs property management
expenses, such as building maintenance, leasing costs and
property taxes, beginning when buildings are completed
and placed in the Company's inventory of leasable proper-
ties. The Company sells certain real estate holdings when
the return on such sales is considered advantageous, caus-
ing fluctuations in costs of real estate sales based on the
basis in the properties sold, timing, and significance of
such dispositions.

Passive revenues are generated from leases of railroad
right-of-way to telecommunication and other companies for
the installation of fiber optic, utilities, and other conduits,
and additional uses of the right-of-way (e.g., signboards).
These revenues, along with their associated expenses, are
recorded net in other income.

FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY,
AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Net cash generated by operating activities was $72.3 mil-
lion; $136.0 million and $55.3 million in the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The year-
to-year fluctuation in net cash generated by operating
activities reflects a $74.6 million income tax refund received
during the second quarter of 2003.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
cash flows provided by investing activities were $10.0 mil-
lion, $22.0 million and $6.8 million, respectively, representing
primarily proceeds from the disposition of assets {(mostly
buildings and land) offset by costs of development and
purchases of properties. Proceeds from asset sales were
$121.5 million, $124.2 million and $88.8 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,

the Company invested approximately $80 million, $75 mil-

lion and $27 million, respectively, at Flagler. Flagler's 2004

capital expenditures reflect $74 million for park infrastructure
development which includes $18 million of infrastructure

cost at Flagler Center, including $4 million related to con-

struction of the -85 interchange at Old St. Augustine Road

in Jacksonville, Florida, and $42 million for new building
construction. Capital investment at Flagler for 2005 is

expected to be between $150 million and $170 million, !
which includes $75 million to $85 million for acquisitions 1
of land and/or finished buildings utilizing proceeds from

third and fourth quarter 2004 realty sales. For the years

ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s

capital investments at FECR were approximately $30 mil-

lion, $27 million and $30 million, respectively. Capital

expenditures for the Railway in 2005, before the purchase

of any strategic land parcels to be inventoried for future

Railway customers, are expected to range from $30 mil-

lion to $36 million.

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities was
($81.1) million, ($116.9} millien, and $7.9 million in the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.
Finance activities during 2004 include primarily the pur-
chase of treasury stock ($191.1 million) offset by proceeds
from mortgage debt ($105 million). On August 13, 2004,
the Company purchased 5.5 million shares of common
stock from The Alfred |. duPont Testamentary Trust and
The Nemours Foundation for $34.50 per share or approxi-
mately $181 million. These repurchased shares are shown
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as Treasury Stock.
This transaction exhausted the remaining $72 million that
existed under the previous $75 million stock repurchase
authorization. As a result, on August 4, 2004, the Board
of Directors authorized the expenditure of $40 million to
repurchase common stock from time to time through a
program of open market purchases and/or privately nego-
tiated transactions. Finance activities in 2003 were primar-
ily the repayment ($53 million) of monies borrowed on the
lines of credit and the payment {$60.5 million) of dividends
including a special dividend of $1.50 per share. Finance
activities in 2002 were primarily proceeds ($14.0 million)
from borrowings on the line of credit offset by payments
of dividends ($3.7 million) and debt service ($2.5 million).

At December 31, 2004, the Company had in place a $200 mil-
lion revolving credit facility pursuant to an agreement, as
amended from time to time, between the Company and
certain banking institutions (the Credit Facility Agreement).
The description herein of the revolving credit facility is
qualified in its entirety by reference to the Credit Facility
Agreement, which is incorporated as Exhibit 10(b) to
the Company’s Reports on Form 10-K for years ended
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December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. On February 7, 2003,
the Credit Facility Agreement was extended for an additional
year to March 31, 2005 and amended to reduce the facility's
size from $300 million to $200 million, increase the stock
repurchase and special dividend limit from $50 million to
$150 million, increase the non-recourse mortgage financ-
ing limit from $250 million to $325 million, and make other
miscellaneous modifications. At December 31, 2004, the
Company had no monies drawn on the revolving credit
facility. Pursuant to the Credit Facility Agreement, the
Company has agreed, among other things, to maintain
certain financial ratios. The Company believes the most
restrictive of such ratios is the Group Debt/EBITDA ratio
{as defined in the Credit Facility Agreement). The Credit
Facility Agreement provides that at December 31, 2004,
the Company's Group Debt/EBITDA ratio shall be no greater
than 2.50. At December 31, 2004, the Company's actual
Group Debt/EBITDA ratio was .01. Pursuant to the Credit
Facility Agreement, the required Group Debt/EBITDA ratio
is 2.50 from January 1, 2004 to March 31, 2005, all as more
particularly set forth in the Credit Facility Agreement. On
February 22, 2005, the Company entered into a new unse-
cured $150 million, B-year revolving credit agreement. The
new credit facility provides a more favorable interest rate
and terms and replaced the company’s existing $200 mil-
lion credit facility agreement. Although no assurances can
be given as to the Company's future compliance with the
Group Debt/EBITDA ratio covenant or other financial cove-
nants, the Company has complied with the terms of the
Credit Facility Agreement in the past and expects to con-
tinue to comply with them until the applicable agreement
expires or is terminated.

The Company believes its access to liquidity via cash gen-
erated from operations {including proceeds from land sales)
and the Credit Agreement and/or external financing {e.g.
leveraging buildings) will be sufficient to support needs

in future vears including the 2005 capital programs.

Results of Operations for 2004 compared to 2003
and 2003 compared to 2002

Discussions are based on segment information — see
Note 8 included in item 8 of this report.

RAILWAY

FECR's management team continued its focus on improv-
ing profitability during 2004 and 2003. Continuing invest-
ments in both operational and human capital were made
during these periods to enhance customer service and
safety while controlling costs. FECR transported record
levels of aggregate revenues during 2004 and 2003. After
several years of decline in intermodal revenue, FECR saw
an increase in intermodal revenue during the second half
of 2003, which continued into 2004 with $86.4 million of
intermodal revenue, an increase of $13.7 million over 2003.
Leading the way was a resurgence in intermodal parcel/LTL,
motor carrier, and international segments of the business,
as well as continued strength on the “Hurricane Train” ser-
vice, an Atlanta-based intermodal service introduced in 2001.
FECR developed an aggressive marketing plan in the third
guarter 2003, featuring a strong defense of existing top
customers, while simultaneously developing a group of
new customers in the domestic truckload motor carrier
segment and the retail market segment, thus positioning
FECR with strong momentum throughout 2004. Critical to
the rebound has been a complete re-branding and integra-
tion of FECR’s drayage services into the intermodal prod-
uct mix, During 2004 and 2003, the Company invested
approximately $30 million and $27 million, respectively,
of capital in equipment, improved physical plant, and
new technologies at FECR.

Railway Operating Results

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Railway segment’s

operating revenues 200,762 181,057 166,751
Railway segment's

operating expenses 153,436 138,069 124,556
Railway segment's

operating profit 47,326 42,988 42,195
Raitway segment’s

operating ratio 76.4% 76.3% 74.7%

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current
year's presentation.)
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TRAFFIC
Years Ended December 31
(dollars and units in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Commodity Units Units Units Revenues Revenues Revenues
Rail carloads
Crushed stone (aggregate} 127.2 120.8 113.2 60,271 55,453 50,497
Construction materials 5.7 5.6 5.4 3,827 3,157 3,104
Vehicles 22.2 23.1 25.0 17,577 18,161 18,702
Foodstuffs 12.5 11.9 11.9 9,922 8,802 8,685
Chemicals & distillants 3.7 3.6 3.8 4,367 4,135 4,443
Paper & lumber 5.6 6.6 6.8 6,162 6,565 6,750
Other 14.1 15.5 12.9 8,592 8.803 7.979
Total carload 191.0 187.1 179.0 110,718 105,176 101,160
intermodal 283.3 2521 258.3 86,379 72,642 62,661
Total freight units/revenues 474.3 439.2 437.3 187,097 177,818 163,821
Ancillary revenue - - - 3,665 3,239 2,930
Railway segment revenue - - - 200,762 181,057 166,751

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation.)

Years Ended December 31 additional revenues of $3.2 million, showing its success in
{dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002 the Atlanta marketplace, and local traffic (including drayage)
Rail Operating Expenses increased $9.0 million over 2003 primarily from increased
Compensation & benefits 54,775 51,207 49,585 traffic from the retail segment, motor carriers, parcel LTL
Fuel 16,273 13,650 11,675 carriers, and the international segment. Offsetting these
Equipment rents (net) 3,315 3,032 3652 intermodal revenue increases was a reduction in the inter-
Car hire (net) (2,598) (2,730) (3,422) modal traffic from one of its interline carriers. Freight reve-
Depreciation 20,167 79,562 17,735 nues from aggregate rock/crushed stone traffic increased
Purchasecj services 9,793 8854 9.0% $4.8 million in 2004 due to an increase in construction
Repairs billed to/by demand throughout the state of Florida. Revenues from
others (net) (3.,454) (3,566) (3.716) . . -
Load/unload 8,009 7407 7.411 stone clgy & glass shipments mcrea;ed $0.5 million due
Casualty & insurance 5,505 6,160 5472 to the high demand for domestic building products as
Property taxes 5,665 5481 4,740 Florida’s construction and re-construction (hurricane related)
Materials 10,220 9,048 9,107 demand increased. Revenues from foodstuff traffic increased
General & administrative $1.0 million due to increased business from one major
expenses 8,724 9,730 8432 customer and new customers locating on FECR's line.
Drayage 11,651 7981 1,759 Automotive {vehicles) traffic decreased $0.6 million to
Other 5491 2553 3,037 $17.6 million primarily due to the change in shipment pat-
Total operating expenses 153,436 138,069 124,556 terns for automobiles bought back from rental car agencies.

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current
year's presentation.)

Revenues — 2003 versus 2002

Railway segment’s operating revenues were up $14.3 mil-

Revenues — 2004 versus 2003 lion at $181.1 million for 2003 versus $166.8 million for 2002.
Railway segment’s operating revenues increased $19.7 mil-  Most of ‘thle |ncre§se‘resulted from mtermodgl revenues.
fion to $200.8 million in 2004 versus $181.1 million in 2003.  ($10.0 million) which included drayage operations (8.0 mil-

Most of the increase resulted from intermodal revenues lion) formerly performed by the Company’s trucking sub-

($13.7 million) and aggregate rock revenues (crushed stone)  Sidiary. that are now included in intermodal. Excluding
($4.8 million). Freight revenues were $197.1 million for drayage, intermodal increased $1.0 million to $72.6 million

2004, compared with $177.8 million for 2003. Intermodal for 2003. Additional increases were due to aggregate rock
traffic (crushed stone), metals traffic (other) and foodstuff

traffic. Freight revenues were $177.8 million for 2003, com-
pared with $163.8 miltion for 2002. Revenues from aggregate
rock/crushed stone traffic increased $5.0 million in 2003

revenues increased $13.7 million to $86.4 million for 2004.
After years of decline from haulage traffic with a connecting
carrier, this revenue increased $2.2 million to $9.9 million in
2004. The "Hurricane Train” service from Atlanta resulted in

Florida East Coast Industries 22




due to the increase in construction demand throughout the
state of Florida. Revenues from metals shipments (other)
increased $0.6 million due to the high demand for domestic
metal products as Florida construction demand increased.
Revenues from foodstuff traffic increased $0.2 million due
to increased business from two major customers. Revenues
from SCFE increased $0.4 million from 2002 to $1.9 million
primarily due to the bridge connecting FECR to SCFE being
out of service for almost eight weeks in 2002. Automotive
(vehicles) traffic decreased $1.5 million to $18.2 million due
to the weaker demand for automobiles. The "Hurricane
Train” service from Atlanta resulted in additional revenues
of $2.5 million, showing its success in the Atlanta market-
place, while local haulage and interline traffic decreased
$1.8 million cver 2002 primarily from reduced traffic with
Norfolk Southern, decreased traffic from LTL carriers and
decreased international business. The LTL carriers’ traffic
was affected by the sluggish economy. Intermodal units
were down 6,200 units primarily due to a change in the
pricing of certain intermodal moves with an interchange
partner. Previously, south- and northbound hauls for this
interchange carrier were priced separately. However, dur-
ing 2003, FECR combined pricing for both moves under

a single unit move, causing units overall to decrease.

Expenses — 2004 versus 2003

Operating expenses increased $15.3 million to $153.4 million
in 2004, compared with $138.1 million in 2003. A signifi-
cant portion of the increased expenses resulted from the
increased volumes and the impact of three Florida hurricanes
that impacted the property. Compensation and benefits
increased $3.6 million or 7.0% to $54.8 million in 2004 pri-
marily because of the Railway's general wage increases for
2004, additional labor costs to move higher traffic levels and
increases in variable compensation. Fuel expenses increased
$2.6 million to $16.3 million due to increased fuel price
($2.4 million) and consumption ($0.4 million) and a reduc-
tion due to non-locomotive fuel ($0.2 million). Depreciation
expenses increased $0.6 million in 2004 due to increased
levels of 2003 and 2004 capital expenditures. Purchased
services increased $1.2 million and materials and stores
increased $1.2 million due to additional repairs and services
to freight cars and trailers due to additional business.
Drayage services increased $3.7 million during 2004 due to
increased volumes of business. Hurricanes Charley, Frances,
and Jeanne disrupted Railway operations in the third quar-
ter and early fourth quarter 2004. Clean up and repair costs
were $3.0 million primarily for tree removal, signal repairs,
crossing repairs, increased train operaticns costs, and
building damages. Approximately $1.0 million of these
costs have been or are expected to be reimbursed by
various governmental agencies. Net hurricane costs are
included in other expenses.

FECR forward purchases fuel to manage the risk of fuel
price increases. As of December 31, 2004, FECR had for-
ward purchase contracts of 5.2 million gallons of fuel for
delivery from January 2005 to December 2005 for an aver-
age purchase price of $1.13 per gallon before taxes and
freight. This represents 35% of the estimated consump-
tion for year 2005.

Expenses — 2003 versus 2002

Operating expenses increased $13.5 million to $138.1 mil-
lion for 2003, compared with $124.6 million for 2002.
Commencing in late 2002, FECR began to directly manage
the dray operations for intermodal shipments to the Railway,
increasing FECR's expenses $9.2 million over 2002. Compen-
sation and benefits increased $1.6 million or 3.3% to
$51.2 million for 2003 primarily because of the Railway’s
general wage increases for 2003, offset by a 2002 infre-
guent maximum medical coverage claim and employee
separation costs. Fuel expenses increased $2.0 million to
$13.7 million due to0 increased fuel price and consumption
due to increased aggregate business. Equipment rents
decreased $0.6 million primarily the result of reductions
in the amount of leased intermodal equipment. Property
taxes increased $0.7 milhion to $5.5 million due to an
increase in the Railway's assessment from the State of
Florida. Depreciation expenses increased $1.8 million in
2003 due to increased levels of 2002 and 2003 capital
expenditures. Purchased services decreased $0.5 million
in 2003 due to in-sourcing intermodal trailer maintenance.

TRUCKING

During the third quarter of 2002, the Company adopted a
plan to discontinue and ceased operations of its regional
long-haul trucking operations. The Company largely com-
pleted its operational shut down and disposition activities
for the trucking operation during the fourth quarter of
2002. Wind-down activities were completed during the
second guarter of 2003.

Accordingly, the Company reported the results of the
trucking operations and the estimated disposition loss as
discontinued operations under the provisions of SFAS
144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” (SFAS 144), and all periods presented have
been restated accordingly.

Florida East Coast Industries 23

2004 Form 10-K



2004 Form 10-K

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Summary of Operating Results

of Discontinued Operations
Trucking revenues - - 22525
Trucking expenses - (250) 28,688
Income (loss) before

income taxes - 250  {6,183)
Income taxes - (96) 2,373
Income (loss) from operation

of discontinued operations - 154  (3,790)

As a result of the discontinuance, certain liabilities were
accrued related to this exit plan. A roll-forward of the lia-
bilities through December 31, 2004 is as follows:

Tractor/
Employee Trailer
Severance Bisposition
(dollars in thousands) Costs Costs Other Totals
Accruals @ 12/31/03 104 - 8 112
Additions
& adjustments - - - -
Utilization (104) - (8) (112)
Ending bhalance
@ 12/31/04 - - - -

REAL ESTATE

During 2004, Flagler added two buildings to its portfolio of
income-producing properties through its development activi-
ties. Flagler completed construction of the -85 Interchange
at Old St. Augustine Road, adjacent to Flagler Center. The
Company also completed the construction of all remaining
major infrastructure initiatives at its existing business parks,
including SouthPark Center Il and Flagler Center.

The Company began construction of four additional build-
ings, with completion expected in 2005, and a 238,000
rentable sq. ft. build-to-suit project, which is expected to be
completed in March 2005. The Company expects to start
construction on seven additional new buildings during 2005
due to increased demand and in light of improved market
conditions. During 2005, Flagler intends to reinvest a sig-
nificant portion of the $88.3 million of land sale proceeds,
held at December 31, 2004 in tax-deferred exchanges, to
add strategic operating properties and future developable
land holdings to its realty portfolio.

Flagler's existing land holdings, with entitlements for con-
struction of 12.1 million sq. ft. of office and industrial space,
offers opportunities for further development or sale. The
Company intends to continue its program to realize the value
of its extensive land holdings at Flagler and the Railway by
developing or monetizing them. Flagler's future rate of
growth, profitability, capital investment and sales of land
depends, in part, on the extent of future demand in Florida's
commercial real estate markets, operating costs, and rental
rates for leases, which are subject to uncertainty.

Realty Segment Revenues
Years Ended December 31

(doliars in thousands} 2004 2003 2002
Rental revenues —~ Flagler 60,053 54,177 50,605
Service fee revenues 148 25 -
Rental income - straight-line

rent adjustments 3,524 3551 2920
Operating expense recoveries 3,879 3,744 3,557
Rental revenues ~

undeveloped land 681 960 1,017
Equity pickups - 62 795
Other rental revenues 1,300 1,097 840

Total rental revenue -

Flagler properties 69,585 63,610 59,734

Realty revenues -~ other

realty operations 3,028 3,139 3415

Total rental revenues 72,613 66,749 63,149
Building and land sales -

Flagler 99,677 63,495 32,063
Building and land sales ~

other realty operations 5,135 26,963 38,552

Total building and land

sales revenues 104,812 30,458 70,615

Total realty

segment revenues 177,425 157,207 133,764

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current
year's presentation.)
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Realty Segment Expenses

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Real estate taxes - developed 7,823 7,496 6,677
Repairs & maintenance -
recoverable 2,746 2,604 2,023

Services, utilities,

management costs 12,681 11,753 10,335

Total expenses subject to
recovery — Flagler properties 23,250 21,853 19,035

Real estate taxes — Flagler
undeveloped land
Repairs & maintenance —
non-recoverable 1,382 1,023 483
Depreciation & amortization —
{operating prop - Flagler)
Depreciation & amortization —
{(non-operating prop - Flagler)

3,885 2934 3,099
23,022 22,287 20,558

2,978 1,047 958

SG8A - non-recoverable - Flagler 6,063 86,760 5,999
Total — non-recoverable
expenses ~ Flagler properties 37,330 34,051 31,097

Total rental expenses —

Flagler properties 60,580 55,904 50,132

Real estate taxes — other

undeveloped land 328 722 528
Depreciation & amortization -
other 68 145 141
SGEA - non-recoverable — other 2,670 22,656 4,394
Total rental expenses —
other realty operations 3,066 23523 4,963

Total rental expenses 63,646 79,427 55,095

Realty sales expenses - Flagler 14,871 33,921 19,5690
Realty sales expenses — Other
realty operations 922 - -
Total realty sales expenses 15,793 33,921 19,590

Total operating expenses 79,439 113,348 74,685

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current
year's presentation.}

Revenues from Continuing Operations -
2004 versus 2003

Flagler rental revenues increased $6.0 million or 9.4% from
$63.6 million in 2003 to $69.6 million in 2004. Revenues
from operating properties increased $6.1 million including
an increase related to net termination fees of $0.7 mil-
lion in 2004. Same store occupancy increased t0 84% at
December 31, 2004 compared to occupancy of 87% at
December 31, 2003, with a corresponding increase of
$3.7 million in same store revenues. Additionally, same
store revenue increased from a net termination fee of
$0.5 million for a total increase in same store revenue of

$4.2 million. Properties acquired in 2003 contributed an
additional $0.3 million, primarily attributable to a 2004 net
termination fee of $0.2 million. Deerwood North 300, which
began operations in 2004, contributed revenues of $1.6 mil-
lion in 2004. Income from land rents decreased $0.2 million
due to the sale of certain land parcels. Income from equity
investments decreased $0.1 million due to the dissolution
of Flagler's partnership interests in 2003.

For all leases renewed during calendar 2004, beginning cash
rental rates averaged approximately 3% less than the end-
ing rate of the expiring leases, however straight-line rental
rates over the new lease term averaged approximately 3%
higher than the average straight-line rental rates of the expir-
ing leases. This is currently typical in the industry, although

to a lesser degree than in the past given improvements in
the rate environment over the past six to twelve months.

Flagler held 60 finished buildings with 6.6 million square
feet and occupancy of 85% at December 31, 2004. "Same
store” properties include 5.8 million square feet and 94%
occupancy at December 31, 2004, compared to 87% at
December 31, 2008.

Flagler sales revenue increased from $63.5 million in 2003
to $99.7 million in 2004 related primarily to the $80 million
sale of a 460-acre parcel in Doral, Florida in December 2004.

Revenues from Continuing Operations -
2003 versus 2002

Flagler’'s rental revenues increased $3.9 million or 68.5%
from $59.7 million in 2002 to $63.6 million in 2003. Included
in 2003 and 2002 revenues are net termination fees of
$0.1 million and $1.9 million, respectively. Excluding termina-
tion fees, the increase in rental revenues from year-over-year
is $5.7 million or 9.9%. Excluding termination fees, revenues
from operating properties increased $6.3 million, with
$4.5 million of the increase attributable to properties
acquired in January 2003. "Same store” revenues increased
$0.5 million (excluding net termination fees) over the prior
year. Newer properties contributed a $1.3 million revenue
increase in 2003 related to occupancy increases. Income
from equity investments decreased $0.7 million due to the
buy out of the Flagler Station partnership interests from
Duke Realty. Other income decreased $0.7 million related
primarily to non-recurring option income received in 2002
and decreased land lease revenue in 2003.

Flagler held 58 finished buildings with 6.4 million square
teet and occupancy of 88% at year-end 2003. "Same
store” properties, including 51 buildings and 5.4 million
square feet, were 83% occupied at December 31, 2003,
compared to 86% at December 31, 2002.
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Flagler's sales revenue increased from $32.1 million in 2002
to $63.5 million in 2003. Real estate sales in 2003 included

the 2,170-acre Ball Tract {$22.1 million), 78 acres in Flagler
Center sold to Citigroup ($14.4 million), 32 acres in Flagler
Center sold to Baptist Hospital ($3.5 million), and a 228-acre

parcel in the Fort Pierce K-4 tract sold to Wal-Mart ($5.6 mil-
lion), as well as other less significant land sales.

Other realty sales decreased by $11.6 million to $27.0 millicn
in 2003 as 2002 included a large land sale (Buena Vista Yard)
for $34.5 million.

Expenses from Continuing Operations —
2004 versus 2003

Flagler's operating expenses increased $4.7 million or 8.4%
from $55.9 million in 2003 to $60.6 million in 2004. Properties
beginning operations in 2004 contributed $1.1 million of the
increase, including $0.6 million of depreciation and amorti-
zation. Operating expenses for properties acquired in 2003
increased $0.3 million. Same store operating expenses
increased $0.7 million related to increased owners’ associ-
ation costs ($0.4 million), increased repairs and maintenance
($0.1 million), increased janitorial costs ($0.1 million),
increased electrical costs related to occupancy increases
{$0.1 million), increased management and administrative
costs ($0.2 million} and other expense increases ($0.1 mil-
lion). These costs increases were offset by decreased
landscaping costs ($0.2 million) and decreased insurance
cost {$0.1 million). Land holding costs increased $2.9 mil-
lion primarily related to increased real estate taxes ($1.0
million) and increased depreciation ($1.9 miltion) associated
with unallocated infrastructure placed in service during
2004. These increased operating expenses were offset

by decreased corporate overhead of $0.3 million.

Flagler's cost of land sales decreased from $33.9 million
to $14.9 million, a decrease of $19.0 million or 56.2%.

Flagler is the guarantor of a tenant’s previous lease obliga-
tion. The guarantee was entered into during 1999 as an
inducement to acquire a large, long-term tenant lease.
Flagler is liable for the sublease obligation, which expires
April 30, 2006. The estimated value of the remaining guar-
antee is approximately $0.7 million at December 31, 2004.

Expenses from Continuing Operations —
2003 versus 2002

Flagler's operating expenses increased $5.8 million or 11.5%
from $50.1 million to $55.9 million year-over-year. Properties
acquired in 2003 contributed $2.9 million of the increase,
including $1.9 million of additional depreciation and amor-
tization. Existing operating properties’ (including “same
store” and new in 2007 properties) operating expenses
increased $2.2 million mainly due to increased recoverable
real estate taxes ($0.3 million), insurance ($0.4 million),
recoverable repairs and maintenance (30.5 million), non-
recoverable repairs and maintenance ($0.6 million),
recoverable administrative costs ($0.3 million) and other
insignificant charges. Corporate overhead expenses
increased $0.6 million primarily related to staffing costs,
bad debt expenses, and holding company allocations.

Flagler's cost of land sales increased $14.3 million from
$19.6 million to $33.9 million related to the increased
sales activity stated above.

Other rental expenses increased $18.6 million to $23.5 mil-
lion in 2003 primarily due to accrued lease termination
costs ($16.4 million) on 97 acres of land at Port Everglades
in Broward County, Florida.

Results from Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS 144, components of Flagler that
meet certain criteria have been accounted for as discon-
tinued operations. Therefore, income or loss attributable
to the operations and sale of the components classified
as discontinued operations are presented in the summary
of operating results as discontinued operations, net of
applicable income taxes.

During March 2004, Flagler sold a 60,000-sq ft. build-to-
suit office building for $12.6 million recognizing a pre-tax
gain of $3.7 million, or $2.3 million, net of applicable taxes.
During September 2004, Flagler sold a 147,000-sq. ft.
industrial building for $4.1 million, for a $0.4 million pre-
tax gain, or $0.3 million, net of applicable taxes.

Discontinued cperations include the operations of the
buildings sold in 2004, the operations of an industrial build-
ing sold in November 2003, Flagler's 50% interest in three
buildings formerly held in partnership with Duke Realty sold
during July 2003, as well as the operations of an industrial
building sold during September 2002. The operating results
of these properties, as well as the gains on the sales of
these properties are included in discontinued operations
for all periods presented.
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Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Summary of Operating Results
of Discontinued Operations

Flagler realty rental revenues 718 2,030 4,133
Flagler realty rental expenses 545 2,640 2,440
Operating income {loss) 173 (510) 1,693
Interest income - 43 73
Income (loss) before

income taxes 173 (467) 1,766
Income taxes (67) 180  (680)
Income (loss) from operation

of discontinued operations 106 (287) 1,086
Gain on disposition of

discontinued operations,

net of taxes of $1.7 million,

$1.6 million and $2.1 million of

the years ended December 31,

2004, 2003, and 2002

respectively. 2580 2542 3,398

TELECOMMUNICATIONS
FEC! completed the sale of its wholly owned telecommuni-

cations subsidiary, EPIK, to Odyssey Telecorp, Inc. (Odyssey),

a privately held holding company specializing in telecom
network assets during the fourth quarter of 2002. In accor-
dance with SFAS 144, EPIK’s results from operations and
the estimated disposition gain have been reported as dis-
continued operations for all years presented.

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Summary of Operating
Results of Discontinued

Operations
EPIK revenues - - 17,728
EPIK expenses - 65 296,774
Operating loss - (65) (279,046)
Other income - - 9,272
Loss before income taxes - (65) (269,774)
Income taxes - 25 103,863
Loss from operation of

discontinued operations - (40) (165,911)

In the course of a strategic alternatives’ review conducted
primarily in the third quarter of 2002, the Company obtained
information about deteriorating conditions in the telecom-
munications industry, the prospects for EPIK's business, the
fair value of the Company's investment in EPIK, and the
alternatives available to the Company in respect of this
investment. As a result, the Company concluded that EPIK's
long-lived assets had no material value whether held for
use or sold. Accordingly. in the third quarter of 2002, the
Company fully impaired the carrying value ($238.7 million)
of EPIK's long-lived assets. On November 22, 2002, the
Company was approached by a party with a proposal to

purchase EPIK for contingent consideration if the Company
provided funds for the purchaser’s use in connection with
EPIK. After negotiation, agreement (as was filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K on
December 17, 2002) was reached which included a com-
mitment by the Company to provide funds totaling $16.5 mil-
lion, net, for the purchaser’'s use in connection with EPIK.
The Company sold the stock of EPIK on December 3, 2002.
The resulting gain the Company recognized during the
fourth guarter of 2002 from the disposition of EPIK resulted
from the difference between EPIK's negative book value,
$39.1 million, and the net cash provided for purchaser’s
use, $16.5 million, net, other transaction fees and costs,
$6.3 million, and income taxes, $6.3 million, as discussed
in the Company's 8-K filed on December 17, 2002.

Included in EPIK's above expenses for 2002 is asset
impairment charges of $238.7 million associated with
EPIK's write-down of its telecommunication assets.

At the time of EPIK's sale, the Company accrued certain
liabilities (primarily employee severance) related to the
sale. A roll-forward of the liabilities through December 31,
2004 is as follows:

Employee

Severance
{dollars in thousands) Costs Other Totals
Accruals @ 12/31/03 577 - 577
Additions & adjustments - - -
Utilization (565) (565)
Ending balance @ 12/31/04 12 - 12

fn addition, FECI is a guarantor on certain leases (primarily
office space) and could be contingently liable if EPIK were
to default on certain lease obligations. Estimates of the
amounts guaranteed were approximately $2.5 million at
the time of the sale. These amounts could be subject to
change in subsequent periods and are estimated to be
$0.1 million at December 31, 2004.

Corporate Expenses

Corporate expenses for the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 were $156.1 million and $13.1 million, respectively.
Increases during 2004 primarily relate to costs associated
with increased incentive-based compensation (i.e. restricted
stock and annual bonuses) expense. In a transaction
{the "Transaction”) initiated at the request of the Board of
Directors, the Company cancelled vested, in-the-money
stock options (the "Options”) to acquire 144,000 shares of
the Company’'s common stock held by the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"). The embedded value of
the Options (fair market value less strike price) was $2 mil-
lion. The embedded value, less applicable tax withholding,
was paid in common stock. The CEQ was issued 36,407
shares (valued at $35.06, which was the closing price on
February 27, 2004). The stock. together with applicable
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withholdings, represents the pre-tax embedded value.
Because the original stock option award was cancelled
and the Company replaced this award with FECI common
stock, in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 44, the
Company was required to recognize compensation expense
in the amount of $2 million with respect to the Transaction.
The Board recognized the need for the CEO to address
the near-term maturity of the Options and preferred that
he do so without the current market sale of 144,000 shares
and that he increase his outright ownership in the Company.

Corporate expenses increased from $11.5 million in 2002
to $13.1 million in 2003 primarily as a result of costs asso-
ciated with the reclassification of the common stock {see
Note 2 of Item 8) and increased equity incentive compen-
sation expenses. The reclassification of common stock
resulted in additional legal and administrative fees of $0.3
million in 2003. During 2002, restricted stock awards (pur-
suant to which restrictions Iapse‘ pro rata over four years)
were granted to senior executives. The stock grants also
provide for accelerated lapsing of restrictions based on
the Company's performance to pre-established targets.
During 2003, the Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors approved performance acceleration of 25% of
the grant. These grants resulted in additional recognition
of compensation expense of $0.8 million for 2003.

On February 10, 2005, as filed on Form 8-K with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, FECI announced
that Mr. Adolfo Henriques had been appointed Chairman,
President, and Chief Executive Officer succeeding Mr.
Robert W. Anestis effective on or about March 28, 2005.
Mr. Anestis will remain in his current capacity until then.

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2004
and 2003 was $16.7 million and $17.1 million, respectively.
The lower interest expense resulted primarily from additional
interest being capitalized into new construction during 2004.
Interest cost (i.e. cash paid for interest) was $19.3 million
and $18.0 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively. Cash
paid for interest increased primarily due to increased lev-
els of mortgage notes at Flagler.

Interest expense for 2003 was $17.1 million, compared to
$19.6 million for 2002. The lower interest expense resulted
primarily from decreased borrowings on the revolver.

Other Income

Other income for 2004 and 2003 was $13.0 million and
$9.5 million, respectively. Pipe and wire crossing income
for 2004 included $2.6 miilion from two one-time wire
crossing agreements entered into in 2004.

QOther income decreased to $9.5 million in 2003 from
$10.8 million in 2002. Pipe and wire crossings for 2002
included $1.9 million of income from additional pipe and
wire crossing agreements.

Income Tax

Income tax expenses represent an effective rate of 39.0%
in 2004, compared to 38.5% in 2003 and 2002.

During 2004, the U.S. Congress passed the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004, which included certain tax law changes
that are expected to effect future {starting in 2005) taxable
earnings of FECI. Generally, these tax law changes are
expected to benefit the Company through additional current
period tax credits for rail right-of-way maintenance expenses
(previously capitalized and depreciated) and reduced federal
taxes on diesel fuel, respectively. The tax credit for track
rmaintenance is limited {annually) to $3,500 per mile of track
and available for years 2005 through 2006. The internal
Revenue Service is expected to issue regulations regard-
ing the utilization of this tax credit. Between December 31,
2004 and June 30, 2005 the railroad fuel tax will be reduced
from $0.043 per gallon to $0.033 per gallon. From July 1,
2005 to December 31, 2008, the tax is reduced to $0.023
per gallon. From January 1, 2007, the tax is eliminated.

Net Income

As a result of the foregoing factors, net income was

$80.6 million, or $2.29 per diluted share, for 2004, compared
to $43.2 million, or $1.17 per diluted share in 2003, and a
net loss of $107.8 million, or $2.94 per diluted share in 2002.
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SUMMARY OF OPERATING RESULTS - 2004 VERSUS 2003
Information by industry segment:

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 $ Change
Operating Revenues
Railway operations 200,762 181,057 19,705
Realty:
Flagler realty rental and services €9,585 63,610 5,975
Flagler realty sales 99,677 63,495 36,182
Other rental 3,028 3,139 (111
Other sales 5,135 26,963 (21,828)
Total realty 177,425 157,207 20,218
Total revenues 378,187 338,264 39,923

Operating Expenses

Railway operations 153,436 138,069 15,367
Realty:
Flagler realty rental and services 60,580 55,904 4,676
Flagler realty sales 14,871 33,921 (19,050)
Other rental 3,066 23,523 {20,457)
Other Sales 922 - 922
Total realty 79,439 113,348 (33.909)
Corporate general & administrative 15,080 13,137 1,943
Total expenses 247,955 264,554 (16,599)

Operating Profit (Loss)

Railway Operations 47,326 42,988 4,338
Realty 97,986 43,859 54,127
Corporate general & administrative {15,080) (13,137) (1,943)
Operating profit 130,232 73,710 56,522
Interest income 1,124 946 178
Interest expense (16,671) (17,056) 385
Other income 13,023 9,544 3,479

(2,524) (6.5686) 4,042
Income before income taxes 127,708 67,144 60,564
Provision for income taxes (49,806) (25,851) (23,955)
Income from continuing operations 77,802 41,293 36,609

Discontinued Operations

Income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations (net of taxes) 106 {173) 279
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations {net of taxes) 2,590 2,104 486
Net Income 80,598 43,224 37.374

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation.)
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SUMMARY OF OPERATING RESULTS - 2003 VERSUS 2002
Information by industry segment:

(dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 $ Change
Operating Revenues
Railway operations 181,057 166,751 14,306
Realty:
Flagler realty rental and services 63,610 59,734 3,876
Flagler realty sales 63,495 32,063 31,432
Other rental 3,139 3,415 (276)
Other sales 26,963 38,552 (11,5689)
Total realty 157,207 133,764 23,443
Total revenues 338,264 300,515 37,749

Operating Expenses

Railway operations 138,069 124,556 13,513
Realty:
Flagler reaity rental and services 55,804 50,132 5,772
Flagler realty sales 33,921 19,680 14,331
Other rental 23,523 4,963 18,560
Total realty 113,348 74,685 38,663
Corporate general & administrative 13,137 11,632 1,605
Total expenses 264,554 210,773 53,781

Operating Profit (Loss)

Railway operations 42,988 42,195 783
Realty 43,859 59,079 (15,220)
Corporate general & administrative (13,137) (11,632) {(1,605)
Operating profit 73,710 89,742 (16,032)
Interest income 946 425 521
Interest expense {17.056) (19,602) 2,546
Other income 9,544 10,803 (1,259)
(6,566) (8,374) 1,808
Income before income taxes 67,144 81,368 (14,224)
Provision for income taxes (25,851) (31,327) 5,476
Income from continuing operations 41,293 50,041 (8,748)

Discontinued Operations

Loss from operation of discontinued operations {net of taxes) (173) (168,615) 168,442
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations (net of taxes) 2,104 10,823 (8,719)
Net Income (loss) 43,224 (107,751) 150,975

{Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation.)
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OTHER MATTERS
Critical Accounting Policies

The Company has reviewed its accounting palicies to
identify those that are very important to the portrayal of
the Company's financial condition and results and that
require management's most difficult, subjective or com-
plex judgments (the Critical Accounting Policies). The
Company has determined that its accounting policies gov-
erning impairment of long-lived assets, income tax provi-
sions, realty rental revenue recognition, real estate
infrastructure costs and contingencies may be considered
Critical Accounting Policies.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets - The Company
reviews the carrying value of its property, plant and equip-
ment for impairment whenever events or changes in cir-
cumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset or
asset grouping may not be recoverable from the undis-
counted future net cash flows expected to be generated
over its remaining useful life. Detecting these events or
changes in circumstances can be difficult. At December
31, 2004, management had not identified indicators of an
impairment of value for any significant asset group of the
Company. However, events or changes in circumstances
could develop or occur that would cause the Company to
evaluate the recovery of its long-lived assets and poten-
tially record an impairment, the amount of which could be
material. Assets that are deemed impaired are recorded at
the lower of carrying amount or fair value.

Income Tax Provisions — FECI's net deferred tax liability
was $177.6 million at December 31, 2004. At December
31, 2004, the Company had a state deferred tax asset of
approximately $7.0 million relating to net operating loss
carry forwards. The net deferred tax liability is estimated
based on the expected future tax conseguences of items
recognized in the financial statements. Management must
use judgment when estimating the future timing and
deductibility of expenses and loss and credit carry for-
wards in the Company’s tax returns. A valuation allowance
is required to be recorded if management expects that it
is more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will not
be realized. As of December 31, 2004, FECI has no valua-
tion allowance since it expects to realize its deferred tax
assets. This expectation is primarily based upon FECI's
expectation that future operations will be sufficiently prof-
itable to utilize the operating loss carry forwards, as well
as the existence of various tax, business and other plan-
ning strategies available to the Company. However, the
Company cannot guarantee that it will realize this tax asset
or that future valuation allowances will not be required.
Failure to utilize the tax asset could materially affect the
Company's financial results and financial position. Federal
tax years through 1999 have been closed with the Internal
Revenue Service {IRS). Federal tax years 2000-2002 are

currently under review by the IRS. Management believes
its income tax provision reserves at December 31, 2004
to be adequate for the settlement, if any, of disputed tax
positions taken by the Company for these years. Historically,
settlements for disputed tax positions that have effected
the total tax provision provided for in the income state-
ment have been primarily interest charges on timing dif-
ferences between years.

Revenue Recognition - Realty Renta! Revenues -
Revenues from realty rentals are primarily contractual base
rents from leases of commercial property. The Company
recognizes revenues from these base rents evenly over
the lease term in accordance with SFAS 13, "Accounting
for Leases” (SFAS 13). SFAS 13 requires rental income
from an operating lease be recognized on a straight-line
basis over the non-cancelable lease term. Accordingly,
total contractual minimum lease payments, including
scheduled rent increases, are recognized as rental reve-
nue evenly over the lease term. Accrued revenues from
contractually scheduled rent increases in excess of amounts
currently due amounted to $15.7 million at December 31,
2004, which is reported in other assets and deferred charges.
The Company monitors this asset for collection risk and
establishes reserves for any amounts deemed not collect-
ible. However, amounts collected in future periods may
vary from the Company's expectations.

Real Estate Infrastructure Costs — The Company periodically
constructs road, road structures, and general infrastructure
related to the development of commercial real estate.
Certain of these infrastructure assets may be deeded, upon
completion, to applicable governmental authorities. The
Company believes these deeded items (e.g., roads) benefit
and increase the value of the parcels within and adjacent to
the related commercial real estate developments. The
Company capitalizes all infrastructure costs (including costs
of infrastructure assets deeded to governmental authorities)
into the basis of its commercial real estate developments,
and allocates these costs to the individual parcels within the
park on a relative fair value basis in accordance with SFAS
No. 87, "Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations
of Real Estate Projects” (SFAS 67).

In connection with infrastructure assets constructed by the
Company and deeded to governmental authorities, certain
governmental authorities may agree to reimburse the
Company certain of its construction costs for the deeded
assets based on and to the extent of annual incremental
taxes (such as property taxes) as may be collected by the
governmental authority from the applicable properties over
a stipulated period of time. Prior to and at the date of
deeding the infrastructure asset to the governmental
authority, any current reimbursements are accounted for
as a reduction in the allocated costs described zbove to
the extent the Company’s receipt of such reimbursements
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has become fixed and determinable, based upon the related
incremental taxes having been assessed and being, there-
fore, payable. The Company does not recognize expected
future tax reimbursements even though they may be proba-
ble and estimable, until they become fixed and determinable.

During 2004, the Company received $2.0 million from

a governmental authority related to an Interchange
Development Agreement associated with costs incurred
to build an interchange off 1-95 at Old St. Augustine Road
in Jacksonville, Florida (adjacent to the Fiagler Center
business park). Such payment was made upon Flagler’'s
completion of the interchange and the transfer of ownership
of the interchange to the State of Florida. The reimburse-
ment was accounted for as a reduction in the basis of this
asset. Future reimbursements covered by the agreement
could be up to the lesser of the reimbursable cost of the
interchange (plus interest on the un-reimbursed cost) or

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

$22 million (plus interest) contingent upon the collection
of future property taxes.

Contingencies - It is the Company’s policy to reserve for
certain contingencies consisting primarily of various claims
and lawsuits resulting from its operations. In the opinion
of management, appropriate reserves have been made for
the estimated liability that may result from disposition of
such matters. Management's opinion and ultimately the
reserve recorded in the financial statements are based on
known facts and circumstances. In certain circumstances,
management uses the services of outside counsel to help
evaluate the facts and circumstances and considers their
professional judgment in establishing the appropriate
reserve. The ultimate resolution of these contingencies
may be for an amount greater or less than the amount
estimated by management.

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into operating leases (see also, the discussion of Debt and Other
Commitments in Note 14 of ltem 8 of the financial statements) that are disclosed in the next section, "Contractual

Obligations and Commercial Commitments.”

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
Contractual Obligations

Payments due by Period

(dollars in thousands)

Contractual Cash Obligations Less than

at December 31, 2004 Total 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years  After 5 years
Long-term debt obligations 342,854 4,789 10,513 89,439 238,113
Capital lease obligations 1,019 154 323 542 -
Operating lease obligations 6,086 2,192 2,106 1,112 676
Unconditional purchase obligations* 5911 5911 - - -
Other long-term obligations - - - - -
Total contractual cash obligations 355,870 13,046 12,942 91,093 238,789

{Note: Table does not include interest)

*Unconditional purchase obligations at December 31, 2004 were primarily forward purchases of diesel fuel at FECR

Amount of Commitments
Expiration per Period
(dollars in thousands)

Other Commercial Commitments Total Amounts  Less than

at December 31, 2004 Committed 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years  QOver 5 years
Lines of credit - - - - -
Standby letters of credit 12,657 12,407 150 - -
Guarantees 144 78 66 - -
Other commercial commitments 14,747 14,747 - - -
Total commercial commitments 27,448 27.232 216 - -

At December 31, 2004, the standby letters of credit were primarily for construction commitments related to building and
infrastructure projects at Flagler's project locations. Other commercial commitments include amounts committed to cus-
tomers and vendors for construction projects at Flagler-owned developments.
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Trading Activities that Include Non-Exchange
Traded Contracts Accounted for at Fair Value

The Company does not participate in trading of non-
exchange traded contracts accounted for at fair value.

Effects of Transactions with
Related and Certain Other Parties

The Company does not have transactions with related and
certain other parties other than those transactions that
may be described in item 13. Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions.

Environmental Liabilities

The Company is subject to proceedings arising out of
environmental laws and regulations, which primarily relate
to the disposal and use of fuel and oil used in the transpor-
tation business. It is the Company's policy to accrue and
charge against earnings environmental cleanup costs when
itis probable that a liability has been incurred and an amount
can be reasonably estimated. As assessments and cleanups
proceed, these accruals are reviewed and adjusted.

Compliance with the federal, state, and local laws and
regulations relating to the protection of the environment
has not affected the Company’s capital additions, earnings
or competitive paosition, nor does management anticipate
any future matters will adversely affect the Company’s
financial situation based upon the information available today.

Environmental expenditures for capital improvements and
ongoing operations and maintenance have historically been
insignificant to the operations of the Company. Management
does not anticipate any material changes in these expen-
ditures. These expenditures are expected to be funded
from current operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE
AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURE ABOUT
MARKET RISK

The Company's primary market risk exposure has histori-
cally been interest rate risk primarily related 1o the
Company's outstanding debt.

The Company currently maintains an un-drawn $200 mil-
lion revolving credit facility whose interest rate on bor-
rowed funds that float with the current market rate, and
the rate the Company pays (LIBOR plus .75%), which was
approximately 3.15% at December 31, 2004, approxi-
mates the Company's fair market cost of borrowing. The
revolving credit facility was replaced with a new facility
effective February 22, 2005. The fair value of the
Company's revolving credit agreement is estimated based
on current rates available to the Company for debt of the
same remaining maturities.

The following table presents the future principal cash
flows and weighted-average interest rates expected on
the Company's existing mortgage notes. Fair value has
been determined based on current rates available to the
Company at December 31, 2004 for similar maturity
instruments.
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In August 2004, Flagler issued $105 million of mortgage notes due September 1, 2011. The mortgage notes consist of a
$60 million note with a fixed rate of interest of 5.27% and a $45 million note with a floating rate of interest based on the
90-day LIBOR Index plus 1.00%. Concurrently with the closing of the $45 million of mortgage debt, Flagler purchased a
three-year interest rate cap. The interest rate cap has a notional amount of $45 million and caps the interest rate on the
floating rate debt at §.5% for a period of three years.

Expected Maturity Date

12/31/04
{dollars in thousands) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009  Thereafter Total Fair Velue
Liabilities
Long-Term Debt:
Fixed Rate ($US})
Ten Year Notes 1,938 2,087 2,246 2,418 2,603 143,063 154,355 174,714
Seven Year Notes 1,965 2,091 2,225 81,370 1,054 55,036 143,741 151,087
Average Interest Rate 6.84% 6.84% 6.84% 6.80% 6.80% 6.80%
Variable Rate ($US)
Seven Year Notes 836 916 948 980 1,014 40,014 44,758 44,758

Average Interest Rate 4.24% 4.79% 511% 5.34% 5.56% 5.56%

Total outstanding maturities existing on the mortgage notes at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $241.1 million and
$243.8 million, respectively, with the estimated fair markat values of $265.2 million and $270.8 million, respectively. The
increase in 2004 cutstanding maturities of approximately $101 million relates to $105 million of mortgage notes issued in
August of 2004 and discussed in more detail at Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements included in Iltem 8 of
this report.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated
statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity
and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2004. In connection with our audits of the consolidated
financial statements, we also audited the financial state-
ment schedules Il and Hll as listed in the accompanying
Index on Page 68 of this Report on Form 10-K for the year
2004. These consolidated financial statements and finan-
cial statement schedules are the responsibility of the
Company’'s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States). Those standards reguire that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the account-
ing principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits pro-
vide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted account-
ing principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedules, when considered in relation to the
basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of Florida East Coast Industries,
Inc. and subsidiaries internal control over financial report-
ing as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 16,
2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s
assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal
control over financial reporting.

KPMG LLP

Jacksonville, Florida
February 16, 2005
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002
Operating revenues:
Railway operations 200,762 181,057 166,751
Realty rental and services 72,613 66,749 63,149
Realty sales 104,812 90,458 70,815
Total revenues . 378,187 338,264 300,515

Operating expenses:

Railway operations 153,436 138,069 124,556
Realty rental and services 63,646 79,427 55,095
Realty sales 15,793 33,921 19,590
Corporate general & administrative 15,08C 13,137 11,532
Total expenses 247,955 264,554 210,773
Operating profit 130,232 73,710 89,742
Interest income 1,124 946 425
Interest expense (16,671) (17,056) {19,602)
Other income (Note 13) 13,023 9,544 10,803
{2,524) (6,566) (8,374)
Income before income taxes 127,708 67,144 81,368
Provision for income taxes (Note 7) (49,806) (25,851} (31,327)
Income from continuing operations 77,902 41,293 50,041

Discontinued Operations (Note 4)

Income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations (net of taxes) 106 (173} {168,615}
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations (net of taxes) 2,530 2,104 10,823
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations 2,696 1,931 (157,792)
Net income (loss) 80,588 43,224 (107,751)
Cash Dividends Per Share $0.19 $1.645 $0.10

Earnings Per Share

Income from continuing operations — basic $2.25 $1.13 $1.37
Inceme from continuing operations - diluted $2.21 $1.12 $1.36
Income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations — basic - ($0.01) ($4.63)
income (loss) from operation of discontinued operations — diluted - ($0.01) ($4.60)
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations - basic $0.08 $0.06 $0.30
Gain on disposition of discontinued operations - diluted $0.08 $0.06 $0.30
Net income (loss) — basic $2.33 $1.18 ($2.96)
Net income {loss} - diluted $2.29 $1.17 {$2.94)
Average shares outstanding - basic 34,529,869 36502467 36,446,427
Average shares cutstanding — diluted 35,216,957 36,864,558 36,634,782

(Prior years’ results have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation, including discontinued operations.)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6} 126,166 125,057
Accounts receivable (net) (Note 3) 32,435 23,599
Income tax receivable 4,238 -
Materials and supplies 1,822 1,603
Assets held for sale (Note 5) 6,900 7.474
Deferred income taxes (Note 7) 1,268 5,986
Prepaid expenses 5,008 5,214
Other current assets 3,133 2,571
Total current assets 180,970 171,504
Properties, Less Accumuiated Depreciation (Notes 5 and 14) 853,458 814,683
Other Assets and Deferred Charges 28,765 22,163
Total Assets 1,063,193 1,008,350

LIABILITIES AND SHAREKOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 51,220 34,027
Taxes payable 1,281 5,378
Deferred revenue - 3,000
Short-term debt (Note 14} 4,789 2,838
Accrued casualty and other liabilities (Note 9) 1,230 1,815
Other accrued liabilities 11,001 19,640
Total current liabilities 69,521 66,698
Deferred Income Taxes {Note 7) 178,831 135,497
Long-Term Debt (net of current porticn) (Note 14) 338,085 238,305
Accrued Casualty and Other Liabilities (Note 9) 11,850 9,717

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock: {Notes 2 and 11) 105,964 77,784
Common stock, no par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 38,553,495 shares issued

and 32,006,968 shares outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 37,701,406 shares

issued and 36,717,404 shares outstanding at December 31, 2003.

Retained earnings 573,808 499,708
Restricted stock deferred compensation (6,548) (4,592)
Treasury stock at cost (6,546,527 shares at December 31, 2004 and
984,002 shares at December 31, 2003) (208,298) (14,767)
Total shareholders’ equity 464,926 558,133
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 1,063,183 1,008,350

{Prior years’ results have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation.)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(dollars in thousands, except share amounts)

{see Note 11)

Restricted
Stock
Common Stock Treasury Stock Retained Deferred
Shares Amount Shares Amount Earnings Compensation Total

Balance at December 31, 2001 37,329,903 66,533 (799,084) (9,365) 628,346 {1,355) 684,169
Net (loss) (107,751) (107,751)
Sale of common stock (ESPP) 3,106 62 62
Dividends declared on common

stock ($0.10) per share (3,658} (3,658)
Restricted stock purchased/granted,

net of amortization & forfeitures 103,506 2,293 (1,799) 494
Balance at December 31, 2002 37,436,515 68,888 (799,084} (9,365) 516,937 (3,154) 573,316
Net income 43,224 43,224
Sale of common stock (ESPP) 7,736 162 162
Dividends declared on common

stock {$0.145) per share {5,321) (5,321)
Special dividend declared on

common stock ($1.50) per share {65,132) (65,132)
Stock repurchase program (97,300) (2,921) (2,921)
Exercise of stock options 114,608 2,898 2,898
Restricted stock purchased/granted,

net of amortization & forfeitures 127,181 5,466 (87,618) (2,491) (1,438) 1,637
Other 15,368 370 370
Balance at December 31, 2003 37,701,406 77,784 (984,002) (14,767) 499,708 (4,592) 568,133
Net income 80,598 80,598
Sale of common stock (ESPP) 5,569 163 163
Dividends declared on common

stock ($0.19} per share (6,498) (6,498)
Issuance of stock under executive

compensation plan 36,407 1,276 (59,769) (2,296) {1,020)
Trust Shares repurchased (5.500,000) (191,126) (191,126)
Exercise of stock options including

income tax benefit 708,975 23,026 23,026
Restricted stock purchased/granted,

net of amortization & forfeitures 101,138 3,715 (2,756) (109) (1,956) 1,650
Balance at December 31, 2004 38,653,495 105,964 (6,546,527) (208,298) 573,808 (6,548) 464,926

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Florida East Coast industries 38




2004 Form 10-K

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income (loss) 80,598 43,224 (107,751)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash generated by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 48,769 47,498 539,370
Discontinued operations, before tax - - 256,524
Gain on disposition of assets (93,265) (60,675) (51,025)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options / restricted stock 4,056 - -
Deferred taxes 48,052 22,808 6,300
Other 4,819 3,189 1,941
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (8,836) (2,236) 10,681
Prepaid expenses 206 {106) 459
Other current assets (3,518) (3,362) 8,102
Other assets and deferred charges (11,701) {(4,130) 3,145
Accounts payable 17,356 2,173 (27,301)
Taxes payable (8,335) 3,581 (63,416)
income tax refund - 74,572 -
Other current liabilities (7,494) 11,434 (2,398)
Accrued casualty and other long-term liabilities 1,548 (1,932) (39.374)
Net cash generated by operating activities 72,255 136,038 55,257

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchases of properties {(111,851) (102,181) (62,356)
Payments on sale of EPIK - - (19,843)
Proceeds from disposition of assets 121,537 124,218 88,778
Net cash provided by investing activities 9,986 22,037 6,579

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from mortgage debt 105,000 - -
Payment of mortgage debt (3,289) (2,641) (2,457)
Net (payments) borrowings from line of credit - (563,000} 14,000
Payment of dividends (6,498) {60,453) {3,658)
Proceeds from exercise of options 16,674 2,898 -
Purchase of treasury stock (191,126) (2,821) -
Other (1,893) (773) 62
Net cash {used in} provided by financing activities (81,132) (118,890) 7.947
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,108 41,185 69,783
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 125,057 83,872 14,089
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year 126,166 125,057 83,872

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid (received) for income taxes 4,700 {73,736) (10,327)

Cash paid for interest 19,252 17,988 18,608

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consoclidated Financial Statements — Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

1. Nature of Business

The principal operations of Florida East Coast Industries,
inc. (the Company or FECI) and its subsidiaries primarily
relate to the transportation of goods by rail and the acqui-
sition, development, leasing, management and sale of real
estate. The Company's rail subsidiary, Florida East Coast
Railway, LLC (FECR or Railway), operates primarily within
the state of Florida, with approximately 58% of its reve-
nues derived from local moves along the Company's line.
Approximately 43% of the freight revenues were derived
from five of its largest customers, with approximately
$38.7 million, $34.7 million, and $31.4 million, 21%, 20%,
and 19%, in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, generated
by one significant customer. The Company's realty subsid-
iary, Flagier Development Company (Flagler), presently
operates in Florida with business parks in Jacksonville,
Orlando, and the South Florida markets. Flagler's operat-
ing properties are Class "A" office space and high-quality
commercial/industrial facilities.

During 2002, the Company sold its telecommunications
subsidiary, EPIK Communications {ncorporated (EPIK).
In addition, during 2002, the Company discontinued the
operations of its trucking subsidiary, Florida Express Carriers,
Inc. (FLX). Certain drayage operations with moves to and
from FECR's rail facilities previously managed by FLX are
now managed by FECR, using third party contractors.

2. Recapitalization and
Stock Repurchase

On February 27, 2003, FEC!'s Board of Directors approved
the submission of a proposal to shareholders to amend
the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to eliminate the
Company’s dual-class structure by reclassifying the
Company’s Class A common stock and Class B common
stock into a new single class of common stock on a one-
for-one basis. The reclassification was subsequently
approved at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on
May 28, 2003. On September 10, 2003, FEC! and The St.
Joe Company received a favorable ruling from the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service regarding FECI's reclassification
of its Class A and Class B common stock into a single
class of common stock. The letter ruling confirmed that
the proposed reclassification would not have an adverse
affect on the tax-free status of the October 2000 spin-off
of St. Joe's equity interest in FECI to St, Joe's shareholders.
FECI filed an amendment to its Articles of incorporation
with the Secretary of State of Florida in order to effect the
reclassification on September 22, 2003. The consolidated
financial statements reflect the reclassification for all periods
presented. The single class of common stock trades on the
New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbal "FLA."

St. Joe Company and affiliates provided certain real estate
services to the Company under service agreements, which
expired in October 2003. These services included property
management, development management and construction
coordination and leasing services. Flagler now has opera-
tional responsibility for these services. However, Codina,

a St. Joe affiliate, continues to provide development and
leasing services at Flagler's South Florida properties.
Amounts paid to St. Joe and affiliates for these services

in 2004, 2003, and 2002 were:

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Services
Property management fees - 1,849 2,860
Development fees 851 133 142
Construction coordination fees

and leasing commissions 1,425 2911 1,679
Commissions on real estate sales - 122 363

On August 13, 2004, the Company purchased 5.5 million
shares of common stock from The Alfred |. duPont
Testamentary Trust and The Nemours Foundation for
$34.50 per share or approximately $191 million. These
repurchased shares are now shown on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as Treasury Stock. This transaction
exhausted the remaining $72 million that existed under the
previous $75 million stock repurchase authorization. As a
result, on August 4, 2004, the Board of Directors authorized
the expenditure of $40 million to repurchase common stock
from time to time through a program of open market pur-
chases and/or privately negotiated transactions.

3. Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiar-
ies. All significant inter-company transactions and bal-
ances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognition

Railway Revenues - Rail revenue is recognized as freight
moves from origin to destination.

Realty Land Sales — Revenue is recognized upon closing
of sales contracts for sale of land or upon settlement of
legal proceedings such as condemnations.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Realty Rental income —~ Revenue is recognized upon com-
mencement of rental and lease contracts. The Company
uses the straight-line method for recording the revenues
over the life of the lease contract.

Dark Fiber, Collocation, and Bandwidth Revenues -
(Note EPIK is now presented net in discontinued operations.)
Revenue was recognized beginning upon commencement
of rental and service contracts. The Company used the
straight-line basis for recording the revenues over the life
of the lease contract. Any advance payments called for in
the lease agreement were deferred and included in deferred
revenues. Revenue for credit risk customers was recog-
nized upon collection of the related receivable.

Dark Fiber Swaps - (Note EPIK is now presented net in
discontinued operations.) No revenue was recognized on
dark fiber swap transactions, which were treated as like-
kind exchanges. Historical “carryover basis” was reas-
signed to the fiber received.

Non-Like Kind Exchanges — (Note EPIK is now presented
net in discontinued operations.) The fair market value of
goods received in non-like kind exchanges for dark fiber
was compared to the historical net book basis of assets
exchanged, with any resulting gain included in deferred
revenues and recognized as revenue on a straight-line
basis over the life of the dark fiber lease contract.

Bad Debt Reserves

Bad debt reserves are recorded by management based
upon the Company’s various businesses’ historical experi-
ence of bad debts to sales, analysis of accounts receivable
aging, and specific identification of customers in financial
distress; i.e., bankruptcy, poor payment record, etc. The
consolidated bad debt reserve was approximately $1.7 mil-
lion at December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Materials and Supplies

New materials and supplies are stated principally at average
cost which is not in excess of replacement cost. Used
materials are stated at an amount, which does not exceed
estimated realizable value.

Properties

Railway properties are stated at historical cost and are
depreciated and amortized on the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives. The Railway uses the mass asset
method of accounting for fixed assets. The majority of road
properties’ depreciation is based on lives ranging from 10
to 40 years, and equipment properties on lives varying from
3 to 50 vears. Gains and losses on normal retirements of

these items are credited or charged to accumulated depre-
ciation. During 2003, FECR commenced an engineering-
and economics-based study of its principal right-of-way and
equipment assets to develop a multi-year maintenance and
replacement plan and associated estimates of the assets’
remaining lives. The engineering studies segregated the
equipment and right-of-way assets into the following major
groupings: locomotives, rolling stock {e.g. hoppers, flatcars,
etc.), bridges, and track structure (rail, ties, ballast, and other
track material). During the third and fourth quarter of 2004,
the engineering studies (including associated estimated
accounting lives) for locomotives and rolling stock were
completed. The finalizations of the bridge and right-of-way
asset engineering studies are expected during the first
and second quarters of 2005, respectively.

The locomotive and rolling stock study indicated no sub-
stantive change in the annual maintenance or capital
replacement programs. FECR will continue its general
practice of maintaining locomotives and rolling stock for
the entirety of their useful operating life.

From the locomotive engineering study, FECR identified
three major sub-components of its locomotive assets:
Hulk/Chassis, Locomotive engine and Combos (i.e. wheel
assemblies, electric motors, etc.) The replacement and
resulting depreciable lives for each of these sub-components
is 50 years, 7 years and 3 years, respectively. Annual
depreciation is expected to increase approximately 8%

or $0.2 million as a result of the study. These depreciable
lives were implemented in the fourth quarter of 2004.

From the rolling stock engineering study, FECR identified
three major sub-components of its rolling stock assets:
Hulk/Chassis, wheel assemblies (i.e. trucks), and doors. The
replacement and resulting depreciable lives for each of
these sub-components is 40-50 years, 7 years and 7 years,
respectively. Annual depreciation is expected to decrease
approximately 8% or $0.4 million as a result of the study.
These depreciable lives will be implemented in the first
quarter of 2005.

These pending studies and their conclusions may result
in material changes in FECR's maintenance and capital
spending and in the estimated remaining usefu! lives of
its property, plant and equipment, which may affect future
depreciation rates and expense.

Real estate properties are stated at historical cost.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
over estimated asset lives of 15 years for land improvements
and 12 to 40 years for buildings and building improvements.
Tenant improvements are depreciated over the term
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

(1-15 years) of the related lease agreement for financial
reporting purposes.

The Company reviews property, plant, and equipment for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.
Recoverability is measured by comparison of the carrying
amount to the undiscounted net cash flows expected to
be generated by the asset (see Note 4).

The Company capitalizes interest during the construction
of new facilities (e.g., buildings) and it is amortized over
the life of the asset. During 2004 and 2003, $3.5 million
and $1.9 million, respectively, of interest was capitalized.

Earnings Per Share

The diluted weighted-average number of shares includes
the net shares that would be issued upon the exercise of
“in-the-money” stock options using the treasury stock
method. Applying the treasury stock method, the “in-the-
money” stock options resulted in the dilution of 687,088
shares, 362,091 shares, and 188,355 shares for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
“Out-of-the-money” shares were 767,940 shares, 1,986,408
shares, and 2,237,932 shares for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of cash flows, cash, and cash equivalents
inciude cash on hand, bank demand accounts, money
market accounts, and overnight repurchase agreements
having original maturities of less than three months.

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2004 consisted
of $91.4 million of property sale proceeds held in escrow
for possible tax-deferred reinvestment in other property,
and $34.8 million of funds on hand and invested in money
market funds or short-term securities.

Income Taxes

The Company follows the asset and liability method of
accounting for income taxes in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (SFAS 109),
"Accounting for Income Taxes.” Under SFAS 109, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected 1o be recovered
or settled. Under SFAS 109, the effect on deferred tax assets

and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date.
Future tax benefits, such as net operating lass carry for-
wards and alternative minimum tax credit carry forwards,
are recognized to the extent that realization of these bene-
fits is considered to be more likely than not.

Joint Ventures

At December 31, 2002, the Company held certain invest-
ments in four realty partnerships for the purpose of
developing, leasing and managing real estate with an
unaffiliated partner. The Company held zn undivided 50%
equity ownership interest in each of these joint ventures
and, accordingly, recognized its pro rata share of partner-
ship earnings (loss) as revenue each period under the equity
method of accounting. Equity income from partnerships was
$1.6 million and $0.9 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

On January 24, 2003, the Company acquired four com-
mercial buildings for $23.3 million, three of which were
previously 50%-owned and held in joint ventures with the
Company's unaffiliated partner. The total purchase price
was allocated to the acquired land, building, identifiable
intangibles and liabilities assumed based on their esti-
mated fair values at the date of acquisition. The acquisi-
tion of these joint venture interests resulted in a change
from the equity method of accounting to consoclidation of
the operating results of the buildings previously held in
partnership into the operating results of the Company.
Operating revenues and expenses from these buildings
that are now included in Flagler’s realty rental and ser-
vices' revenues were $3.9 million and $3.6 million and
expenses were $2.6 million and $2.3 million respectively,
for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

On July 1, 2003, Flagler sold its remaining investment in
three buildings previously 50%-owned and held in the
joint ventures for $22.3 million with a resulting gain of
$2.9 million. As discussed in Note 4, the results of these
investments are now classified as discontinued operations
for all periods presented.

Real Estate Infrastructure Costs

The Company periodically constructs road, road structures,
and general infrastructure related to the development of

commercial real estate. Certain of these infrastructure assets
may be deeded to applicable governmental authorities. The
Company believes these deeded items (e.g., roads) bene-
fit and increase the value of the parcels within and adjacent
to the related commercial real estate developments. The

Company capitalizes all infrastructure costs {including costs
of infrastructure assets deeded to governmental authorities)
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into the basis of its commercial real estate developments,
and allocates these costs to the individual parcels within
the park on a relative fair value basis in accordance with
SFAS No. 687, "Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental
Operations of Real Estate Projects” {(SFAS 67).

In connection with infrastructure assets constructed by the
Company and deeded to governmental authorities, certain
governmental authorities may agree to reimburse the
Company certain of its construction costs for the deeded
assets based on and to the extent of annual incremental
taxes (such as property taxes) as may be collected by the
governmental authority from the applicable properties over
a stipulated period of time. Prior to and at the date of com-
pletion of the infrastructure asset, reimbursements are
accounted for as a reduction in the allocated costs described
above to the extent the Company's receipt of such reim-
bursements has become fixed and determinable, based
upon the related incremental taxes having been assessed
and being, therefore, payable. The Company does not rec-
ognize expected future tax reimbursements even though
they may be probable and estimable, until they become
fixed and determinable.

During 2004, the Company received $2.0 million from a gov-
ernmental authority related to an Interchange Development
Agreement pursuant to which the Company built an inter-
change at -85 and Old St. Augustine Road (adjacent to

Flagler Center business park). Such payment was made upon
Flagler's completion of the interchange and was accounted
for as a reduction in the basis of this asset. Future reim-

bursements covered by the agreement could be up to the
lesser of the reimbursable cost of the interchange (plus

interest on the un-reimbursed cost) or $22 million (plus inter-
est) contingent upon the collection of future property taxes.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the finan-
cial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method

of accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”
(APB Opinion No. 25), and related interpretations in account-
ing for stock options. As such, compensation expenses

would be recorded on the date of the grant only if the current
market price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise
price. Compensation expenses for grants of restricted stock
are recognized over the applicable vesting period.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and
earnings per share as if the Company had applied the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS Statement No. 123,
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (SFAS 123},
to stock-based employee compensation:

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands,
except per share amounts)

Net income (loss) —
as reported

2004 2003 2002

80,588 43,224 (107,757)

Deduct: Total stock-based
employee compensation
expense determined under
the fair value based
method for all stock
option awards (net of

related tax effects) (785) (2,126) (4,625)

79,813 41,098 (112,376)

Pro forma net income (loss)

Earnings per share:

Basic - as reported $2.33 $1.18 ($2.96)
Basic - pro forma $2.31  $1.13 ($3.08)
Diluted - as reported $2.29 3117 {$2.94)
Diluted - pro forma $2.27 $1.11 ($3.05)

Additionally, the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors awarded grants of restricted stock in 2002, 2003,
and 2004 to the executive management team and, starting
in 2003, other members of management who previously
were awarded annual grants of stock options. Grants of
restricted stock were 151,269, 135,830 and 108,000 shares
in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Compensation expense
is recognized pro rata over the vesting period based on
the market price of the stock at the time of grant. Total
compensation expense for the 2004, 2003 and 2002
restricted stock grants, if fully vested over their four-year
vesting period, would be $5.5 million, $4.1 million and
$2.7 million, respectively.

Comprehensive Income

SFAS 130 establishes standards for reporting and presen-
tation of comprehensive income and its components in a
full set of financial statements. For the years presented, the
company’s comprehensive income equaled net income.
SFAS 130 requires only additional disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. It does not affect the
Company's financial position or results of operations.
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Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year's presentation, including
discontinued operations.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation
No. 46 (revised December 2003) (FIN 46R), Consolidation
of Variable interest Entities (VIE's), which addresses how a
business enterprise should evaluate whether it has a con-
trolling financial interest in an entity through means other
than voting rights and accordingly should consolidate the
entity. FIN 46R replaces FASB Interpretation No. 46,
Consoligation of Variable Interest Entities, which was
issued in January 2003. The Company will be required to
apply FIN 46R to variable interests in VIE's created after
December 31, 2003. For variable interests in VIEs created
before January 1, 2004, the Interpretation will be applied
beginning on January 1, 2005. For any VIEs that must be
consolidated under FIN 46R that were created before
January 1, 2004, the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the VIE initially would be measured at their
carrying amounts with any difference between the net
amount added to the balance sheet and any previously
recognized interest being recognized as the cumulative
effect of an accounting change.

The Company's application of FIN 46R had no impact on
the financial statements.

FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based
Payment. The revised Statement generally requires that an
entity account for transactions using the fair-value-based
method, and eliminates an entity’s ability to account for
share-based compensation transactions using the intrinsic
value method of accounting in APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, which was
permitted under Statement 123, as originally issued. The
revised Statement requires both public and nonpublic
entities to disclose information needed about the nature
of the share-based payment transactions and the effects
of those transactions on the financial statements.
Statement 123R is effective as of the beginning of the
first interim or annual reporting period that begins after
June 15, 20085.

The impact of applying FASB Statement No. 123 had no
impact on the financial statements.

4. Discontinued Operations

Real Estate

In accordance with SFAS 144, "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (SFAS 144),
components of Flagler that meet certain criteria have
been accounted for as discontinued operations.
Therefore, income or loss attributable to the operations
and sale of the components classified as discontinued
operations are presented in the statement of income as
discontinued operations, net of applicable income taxes.

Discontinued operations for 2004 include the gains on the
sales and the related operations of an office building and
an industrial building. Discontinued operations for 2003
include the operations of the above-mentioned properties,
as well as the operations of an industrial building sold dur-
ing 2003 and the gain on the sale and related operations
of Flagler's 50% interest in three buildings held in partner-
ship with Duke Realty. Discontinued operations for 2002
include the operations of the above-mentioned properties,
as well as the operations and the related gain on the sale
of an industrial warehouse disposed of in 2002.

Years Ended December 31
{dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Summary of Operating Results
of Discontinued Operations

Fiagler realty rental revenues 718 2,030 4,133
Flagler realty rental expenses 545 2,540 2,440
Operating income (loss) 173 (510) 1,693
Interest income - 43 73
Income {loss) before

income taxes 173 (467) 1,766
Income taxes (67) 180 (680)
Income {loss) from operation

of discontinued operations 106 (287) 1,086
Gain on disposition of

discontinued operations,

net of taxes of $1.7 million,

$1.6 million and $2.1 million

for the years ended

December 31, 2004, 2003

and 2002, respectively. 2590 2542 3,398

At December 31, 2004, Flagler had under contract 134 acres,
which it expects to sell during 2005. This acreage is clas-
sified as assets held for sale on the December 31, 2004
consolidated balance sheet.

Florida East Coast Industries 44




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Telecommunications

FECI completed the sale of its wholly owned telecommuni-
cations subsidiary, EPIK, to Odyssey Telecorp, Inc. (Odyssey),
a privately held holding company specializing in telecom
network assets during the fourth quarter of 2002. In accor-
dance with SFAS 144, EPIK's results from operations and
the estimated disposition gain have been reported as
discontinued operations for all years presented.

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Summary of Cperating

Results of Discontinued

Operations
EPIK revenues - 17,728
EPIK expenses - 65 296,774
Operating loss - (65) (279,046)
Other income - 9,272
Loss before income taxes - {Bb) {269,774)
Income taxes - 25 103,863
Loss from operation of

discontinued operations - (40) (165,911)
{Loss) gain on disposition of

discontinued operations,

net of taxes of $0.3 million

and $6.3 million for the

years ended December 31,

2003 and 2002, respectively - (465) 10,032

In the course of the strategic alternatives' review conducted
primarily in the third quarter of 2002, the Company obtained
information about deteriorating conditions in the telecom-
munications industry, the prospects for EPIK's business,
the fair value of the Company's investment in EPIK, and
the alternatives available to the Company in respect of this
investment. As a result, the Company concluded that EPIK's
long-lived assets had no material value whether held for
use or sold. Accordingly, in the third quarter of 2002, the
Company fully impaired the carrying value of EPIK's long-
lived assets. On November 22, 2002, the Company was
approached by a party with a proposal to purchase EPIK
for contingent consideration if the Company provided
$24 million of funds for the purchaser’s use in connection
with EPIK. After negotiation, agreement was reached which
included a commitment by the Company to provide funds
totaling $16.5 million, net, for the purchaser’s use in con-
nection with EPIK. The Company sold the stock of EPIK on
December 3, 2002. The resulting gain the Company recog-
nized during the fourth quarter of 2002 from the disposition
of EPIK resulted from the difference between EPIK's negative
book value, $39.1 million, and the net cash provided for
purchaser’'s use, $16.5 million, net, other transaction fees
and costs, $6.3 million, and income taxes, $6.3 million, as
discussed in the Company's 8-K filed on December 17, 2002.

At the time of EPIK's sale, the Company accrued certain
liabilities (primarily employee severance) related to the
sale. A roli-forward of the liabilities through December 31,
2004 is as follows:

Employee
Severance
Costs Other Totals
(dollars in thousands)
Accruals @ 12/31/03 577 - 577
Additions & adjustments - - -
Utilization (565) {(565)
Ending balance @ 12/31/04 12 - 12

Also, FECl is a guarantor on certain leases (primarily office
space) and could be contingently liable if EPIK were to
default on certain lease obligations. Estimates for these
guarantees were approximately $2.5 million at the time
of the sale. These amounts could be subject to change in
subsequent periods and are estimated to be $0.1 million
at December 31, 2004.

Trucking

During the third quarter of 2002, the Company adopted a
plan to discontinue and ceased operations of its regional
long-haul trucking operations. The Company largely com-
pleted its operational shut down and disposition activities
for the trucking operation during the fourth quarter of
2002. Wind-down activities were completed during the
second quarter of 2003.

Accordingly, the Company reported the results of the truck-
ing operations and the estimated disposition loss as dis-
continued operations under the provisions of SFAS 144,
and all periods presented have been restated accordingly.

Years Ended December 31
2004 2003 2002

{dollars in thousands)

Summary of Operating

Results of Discontinued

Operations
Trucking revenues -
Trucking expenses - .
Income (loss) before

income taxes - 250
Income taxes - (98)
Income (loss) from operation

of discontinued operations - 154

22,625

(250) 28,688

(6.163)
2,373

(3,790)

Income (loss) on disposition
of discontinued operations,
net of taxes of $17,000 and
$1.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2003

and 2002, respectively. - 27 (2,607)
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As a result of the discontinuance, certain liabilities were
accrued related to this exit plan, which were satisfied at
December 31, 2003.

b. Properties

Properties consist of:

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003
FECR Properties
Road eqguipment and structures 431,009 414,210
Buildings 11,648 11,648
Equipment 208,559 204,754
Land and land improvements 6,219 6,551
Fiber 3,200 3,200
Construction in progress 2,909 911
663,544 641,274
Less accumulated depreciation 276,860 263,586
386,684 377,688
Flagler Properties*
Land and land improvements 171,280 158,620
Buildings 358,350 350,674
Equipment 2,740 2,624
Construction in progress 79,752 49,416
612,122 561,334
Less accumulated depreciation 140,545 122,874
471,577 438,460
Corporate
Equipment 14,201 17,061
Construction in progress 86 378
14,287 17,429
Less accumulated depreciation 12,190 11,420
2,097 6,009

*Included in the 2004 and 2003 amounts are $6.8 million and
$7.5 million, respectively, for building and associated land that
is held for sale.

Real estate properties, having a net book value of $323.0 mil-
licn at December 31, 2004 are leased under non-cancelable
operating leases with expected aggregate rental revenues
of $312.3 million, which are receivable in years 2005-2009
in the amounts of $59.3 million, $54.9 million, $47.5 mil-
lion, $41.6 million and $31.6 million, respectively, and
$77.4 million thereafter.

6. Investments and Cash
and Cash Equivalents

The Company had $14.5 million invested in short-term
securities at December 31, 2004 and no investments in
securities at December 31, 2003.

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2004 consisted
of $91.4 million held in escrow for possible tax-deferred
reinvestment in other property, and $34.8 million of funds
on hand and invested in money market funds and short-
term securities.

7. Income Taxes

Total income taxes were allocated as follows:

Years Ended December 31

{doliars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Income from continuing

operations 49,806 25,851 31,327
Gain/(loss) from operations

of discontinued operations 67 (108) (105,556)
Gain on disposition of

discontinued operations 1,656 1,318 6,775

51,529 27,060 (67.454)

The components of income tax expense (benefit}) were
as follows:

Years Ended December 31

(doltars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Current

Federal 3,477 4,252  (67,049)
State - {6,705)
3,477 4,252  (73,754)

Deferred
Federal 40,541 21,073 5,727
State 7,511 1,735 573
48,052 22,808 6,300
Income Taxes 51,5629 27,060 (67,454)

Income tax expense (benefit) differed from the amounts
computed by applying the statutory federal income tax
rate to pretax income as a result of the following:

Years Ended December 31

(doltars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Amount computed at
statutory federal rate 46,466 24523 (61,321)
State taxes
(net of federal benefit) 4,746 2,622 (6,231)
Other (net) 317 15 98
51,529 27.060 (67,454)
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to
significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities are as follows:

Years Ended
December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003
Deferred Tax Assets
Allowance for doubtful accounts 877 607
Accrued casualty and other liabilities 3,342 3,731
Deferred revenue 206 545
Lease termination cost - 6,290
Alternative minimum tax credit - 3,089
State NOL tax carry forward 6,985 7,553
Other 2,462 3,128
Total deferred tax asset 14573 24,953
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Properties, principally due to
differences in depreciation
and impairments 118,425 112,758
Deferred gain on land sales 63,649 34,649
Straight-line rent 6,038 5,035
Other 4,024 2,022
Total deferred tax liabilities 192,136 154,464
Net deferred tax liabilities 177,563 129,511

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company estimated its
net operating loss carry forward asset for state purposes to
be $7.0 million and $7.6 million, respectively, which expires
at the end of 2022. The tax benefit of this item is reflected
in the above analysis of Deferred Tax Assets. Additionally,
the Company had alternative minimum tax credit carry for-
wards of $3.1 million at December 31, 2003, which was
used in its entirety in 2004. The Company has not provided
any valuation allowance with respect to this asset as it
believes its realization is "more likely than not,” given esti-
mates of future taxable income and available tax planning
strategies. However, the Company cannot guarantee that
it will be able to realize this asset or that future valuation
allowances will not be required. Federal tax years through
1999 have been closed with the Internal Revenue Service
{IRS). Federal tax years 2000-2002 are currently under review
by the IRS. Management believes its income tax provision
reserves at December 31, 2004 to be adequate for the
settlement, if any, of disputed tax positions taken by the
Company for these years. Historically, settlements for
disputed tax positions have been interest charges.

8. Segment Information

The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 131, "Disclosure about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information” (SFAS 131). SFAS 131
provides guidance for reporting information about operat-
ing segments and other geographic information based on
a management approach. The accounting policies of the
segments are the same as those described in the Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies. Under the provisions
of SFAS 131, the Company has two reportable operating
segments, both within the same geographic area. These
are the railway and realty segments.

The railway segment provides freight transportation along
the east coast of Florida between Jacksonville and Miami.

The realty segment is engaged in the acquisition, develop-
ment, leasing, management, operation and selected sale
of commercial and industrial property.

FECR generates other income from leases to telecommu-
nications companies for the installation of fiber optic and
other facilities on the railroad right-of-way. In addition, FECR
generates revenues from the grant of licenses and leases
to use railroad property and rights-of-way for outdoor adver-
tising, parking lots and lateral crossings of wires and pipes
by municipalities and utility and telecommunications compa-
nies. These miscellaneous rents are included in other income.

Also, FECR generate revenues and expenses from the
rental, leasing, and sale of buildings and properties that
are ancillary to the railroad's operations. These revenues
and expenses are included in the realty segment.

The Company’s reportable segments are strategic busi-
ness units that offer different products and services and
they are managed separately.
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Information by industry segment:

Years Ended December 31

{dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Operating Revenues
Railway operations
Realty:

Flagler realty rental

200,762 181,057 166,751

and services @ 69,585 63,610 58,734
Flagler realty sales 99,677 63495 32,063
Other renta! 3,028 3,139 3,415
Other sales 5,136 26,963 38,552

Total realty 177,425 157,207 133,764

Total revenues 378,187 338,264 300515
Operating Profit (Loss)
Railway operations
Realty
Corporate general

& administrative

42,988
43,859

42,195
59,079

47,326
97,986

{15,080) (13,137) (11,532)

Operating profit 130,232 73,710 89,742

Interest income 1,124 946 425
Interest expense (16,671) (17,056) (19,602)

Other income 13,023 9,544 10,803
(2,524) (6,566) (8,374}

Income before
income taxes 127,708 67,144 81,368

Provision for income taxes (49,806) (25,851) (31,327)

Income from continuing

operations 77,902 41,293 50,041

Discontinued Operations
Income (loss) from operation

of discontinued operations

(net of taxes) 106
Gain on disposition of

discontinued operations

{net of taxes) 2,590 2,104

(173) (168,615)

10,823

Net Income {Loss) 80,5698 43,224 (107,751}

(Prior year's results have been reclassified to conform to current
year's presentation.)

Years Ended December 31

(doliars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

identifiable Assets

Transportation — Railway 426,300 410,576 428,118
Transportation — Trucking ® - - 2,224
Realty 594,234 468,127 508,522
Corporate 42,659 129,647 112,372

1,063,183 1,008,350 1,051,238

Capitai Expenditures

Transportation — Railway 30,280 26,683 28,775
Transportation — Trucking - - 230
Realty 79,867 74713 26,694
Telecommunications ® - - 5,160
Corporate 1,404 785 497
111,651 102181 62,356

Depreciation & Amortization
Transportation — Railway 20,360 19747 17,928
Transportation — Trucking ® - - 259
Realty 26,825 25169 21,907
Telecommunications ® - - 16,410
Corporate 1,584 2,682 2,866
48,769 47,498 539,370

(Prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current
year's presentation.)

a) Includes inter-segment revenues and expenses of $0, $0,
and $109 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

b} These amounts are included in discontinued operations as
shown on the consolidated statements of income.

3. Accrued Casualty
and Other Liabilities

The Company is the defendant and plaintiff in various
lawsuits resulting from its operations. In the opinion of
management, appropriate provision has been made in the
financial statements for the estimated liability that may result
from disposition of such matters. The Company maintains
comprehensive liability insurance for bodily injury and prop-
erty claims, but is self-insured or maintains a significant
self-insured retention for these exposures, particularly at
Florida East Coast Railway, LLC. These lawsuits are related
to alleged bodily injuries sustained by Railway employees
or third parties, employment related matters such as alleged
wrongful termination and commercial or contract disputes.

The Company is subject to proceedings and consent

decrees arising out of its historic disposal of fuel and ol
used in the transportation business. It is the Company’s
policy to accrue environmental cleanup costs when it is
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probable that a liability has been incurred and an amount
can be reasonably estimated. As assessments and clean-
ups proceed, these accruals are reviewed and adjusted.

The Company is participating, together with several other
potentially responsible parties (PRPs), in the remediation
of a site in Jacksonville, Florida, pursuant to an agreement
with the United States Environmental Protection Agency
(USEPA). The site previously accepted waste oil from many
businesses. The Company has accrued $250,000, which
is its estimated share of the total estimated cleanup costs
for the site. To date, approximately $145,000 has been
expended. The cleanup is expected to take approximately
five years. Based upon management's evaluation of
the PRPs, which include the City of Jacksonville, CSX
Transportation, Inc. and the federal government, the
Company does not expect to incur additional material
amounts, even though the Company may have joint and
several liability. It is possible that the remediation costs
could be higher than anticipated, but the Company is not
aware of any facts or circumstances, which indicate that
the costs are expected to be materially higher than cur-
rently anticipated.

FECR is one of several PRPs alleged to have contributed
to the environmental contamination at and near the Miami
International Airport (MIA) in a lawsuit filed on or abogt
April 11, 2001 by Miami-Dade County in the Miami-Dade
County 11th Judicial Circuit Court. In regard to FECR,
Miami-Dade County generally alleges that FECR is or was
the owner of sites at or near MIA and that the past acts
of an FECR lessee or others contaminated the soil and/or
groundwater at those sites, which allegedly impacted MIA
property. The County generally sought damages for past
and future remediation costs relating to MIA's property. In
June 2004, FECR and Miami-Dade County entered into a
Settlement Agreement, General Release and Covenant Not
to Sue whereby FECR would be released from all claims
that have been or could be asserted against FECR in the
lawsuit by Miami-Dade County, upon payment to Miami-
Dade County of approximately $100,000 and FECR's release
of Miami-Dade County from FECR related claims at MIA.
In December 2004, the Settlement Agreement was approved
by the court, and the matter was settled in accordance with
the terms of the Settlement Agreement.

The Company monitors a small number of sites leased

to others, or acquired by the Company or its subsidiaries.
Based on management’s ongoing review and monitoring
of the sites, and the ability to seek contribution or indem-
nification from the PRPs, the Company does not expect to
incur material additional costs, if any.

It is difficult to quantify future environmental costs as many
issues relate to actions by third parties or changes in envi-
ronmental regulations. However, based on information
presently available, management believes that the ultimate
disposition of currently known matters will not have a
material effect on the financial position, liquidity, or results
of operations of the Company.

On February 24, 2004, the Broward County Commission
approved the negotiated termination of a long-term ground
lease between the County and the Company.

The ground lease covered 97 acres owned in fee by
Broward County at Port Everglades, which is located near
Fort Lauderdale, Florida. The County and the Company
have now terminated the entire lease. In consideration for
the early termination, the Company (a) conveyed title to
certain land improvements and a warehouse on the
leased property and (b) paid to Broward County $5.4 mil-
lion reduced by additional rental payments made by the
Company from November 2003 until closing and some
other minor adjustments, the net additional payment being
$3.7 million. Additionally, the Company paid $1.8 million to
resolve a dispute under a related agreement between the
County, the City of Hollywood, and the Company for pay-
ments in-lieu-of taxes for the lease term. The settlement
terminates all agreements affecting the Company in respect
to the leased premises.

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company recorded a
charge of $16.4 million (310.1 million after tax), reflecting
management’s estimate of the cost of terminating the
ground lease. Final costs of terminating the ground lease,
including the settlement with the City, were $16.9 million.
The additional costs of $0.5 million are included in the
2004 operating results.

10. Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors two 401(k) plans. Contributions
are at the employee’s discretion with upper limits of 25%
of compensation before taxes, subject to maximum limits
imposed by the IRS (generally, $13,000 in 2004), and an
additional contribution up to 10% of after-tax compensa-
tion, also subject to maximum limits imposed by the IRS.
Total contributions in 2004, including the Company’s
match if any, were limited by IRS regulations to $41,000.
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401(k) Plan for Salaried Employees

The amounts of matching contributions by the Company
for this plan covering the years 2004, 2003, and 2002 were
approximately $0.5 million, $0.4 million and $0.6 million,
respectively. In accordance with the terms of the plan, the
Company matched the employee’s contributions $1.00 for
$1.00 up to the first $1,200 contributed by the employee
in 2004. For employee contributions in excess of $1,200,
the Company matched $0.25 for every $1.00 in pretax
employee contributions up to the IRS maximum limits.

401(k) Plan for Hourly Wage Employees

and/or Employees Covered by Collective

Bargaining Agreement

This is a limited contributory plan that was instituted in
April 1895. In 2002, train and engine hourly employees
became eligible for a Company matching contribution of
$0.20 for every $1.00 of employee contributions up to $200
annually. The amounts of matching contributions by the
Company for this plan covering the years 2004, 2003 and
2002 were $15,000, $16,000 and $19,000, respectively.

Pension Plan

The Company adopted a non-funded defined benefit plan
covering nine previous officers of the Company in 1998. The
benefits are based on years of service and the employee's
compensation during the five years before retirement. The
Company curtailed this plan in 1999, causing no additional
benefits to accrue to covered officers. At December 31,

2004, 2003 and 2002, accrued liabilities related to the con-

tract benefit obligation were $3.4 million, $3.4 million and
$3.6 million, respectively. The Company incurred benefit

cost primarily related to interest of $0.3 million, $0.3 mil-
lion and $0.3 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

11. Stock-Based
Compensation

The Company has two Stock Incentive Plans: the 1998 Stock
Incentive Plan, as amended, and the 2002 Stock Incentive
Plan (Plans). These Plans allow the Company to grant
employees and directors various stock awards, including
stock options, which are granted at exercise prices not
less than the fair market value at the date of grant and
restricted stock. A maximum of 4.6 million shares were
approved to be issued under the Plans. Starting in 2003,
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors
made annual grants of restricted stock in-lieu-of stock
options for all qualifying members of management. At
December 31, 2004, total options for 2,604,921 shares
had been granted under the plan.

The stock options may be granted over a period not to
exceed ten years and generally vest from one to five years
from the date of grant. The changes in outstanding
options are as follows:

Weighted-

Average

Shares  Exercise

Under Price

Option  Per Share
Balance at December 31, 2001 2,148,499 $30.34
Granted 314,704 $24.38
Forfeited (36,916) $34.26
Balance at December 31, 2002 2,426,287 $29.49
Granted* 129,264 $23.80
Exercised (114,606) $26.16
Forfeited (92,448) $30.32
Balance at December 31, 2003 2,348,499 $28.25
Granted - -
Exercised (708,975) $26.77
Forfeited / Cancelled (184,496) $21.77
Balance at December 31, 2004 1,455,028 $238.79

*Includes adjustment 1o previous grants due to equity restructur-
ing {i.e., special dividend).

Stock options outstanding and exercisable cn December 31,
2004 are as follows:

Weighted-  Weighted-
Average Average
Range of Shares Exercise Remaining
Exercise Prices Under Price Contractual
Per Share Option Per Share  Life in Years
Outstanding:
$20.14 - $27.97 500,848 $23.34 39
$27.98 - $39.04 725,802 $30.61 4.0
$39.05 - $46.12 228,278 $41.36 5.8
1,455,028 $29.79 4.3
Exercisable:
$20.14 - $27.97 369,554 $23.78 4.0
$27.98 - $39.04 738,266 $30.55 4.1
$39.05 - $46.12 225,652 $41.34 5.8
1,333,472 $30.50 4.4

The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (APB 25),
and related interpretations in accounting for the Plan and,
therefore, no compensation expense has been recognized
for stock options issued under the Plan. For companies elect-
ing to continue the use of APB 25, SFAS 123, “Accounting
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for Stock-Based Compensation,” requires pro forma dis-
closures determined through the use of an option-pricing
model as if the provisions of SFAS 123 had been adopted.

The weighted-average fair value at date of grant for options
granted during 2003 and 2002 was estimated at $4.59, and
$7.81 per share, respectively. No options were granted in
2004. The fair value of the option grants was estimated on
the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes’ option-pricing
model with the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002
Expected dividend vyield - B81%  .40%
Expected volatility - 22% 34%
Risk-free interest rate - 23% 41%
Expected term in years - 3.8 3.8

If the Company had adopted the provisions of SFAS 123,
reported net income and earnings per share would have
been as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002
Net income {loss)
{in thousands) 79,813 41,098 (112,376)
Earnings Per Share
Basic $2.31 $1.13 ($3.08)
Diluted $2.27 $1.11 ($3.05)

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company also awarded
151,269, 135,830, and 108,000 shares, respectively, of
restricted stock under the Plan, with a weighted-average
fair value at the date of grant of $36.01, $30.30, and $24.98
respectively, per share. Substantially all of these restricted
shares vest ratably over four years of continued employ-
ment with a performance acceleration feature for the 2002
grant, only. Compensation expense related to these awards
was $2.9 million, $2.7 million, and $0.8 million for 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. Increased compensation
expense for restricted shares for 2003 results primarily
from an accelerated vesting (an additional 256% in the
2002 grants) as certain performance targets were achieved.

In a transaction (the “Transaction”} initiated at the request
of the Board of Directors, the Company cancelled vested,
in-the-money stock options ({the "Options”) to acquire
144,000 shares of the Company’s common stock heid
by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ"). The
embedded value of the Options (fair market value less
strike price) was $2 million. The embedded value, less
applicable tax withholding, was paid in common stock.
The CEQ was issued 36,407 shares (valued at $35.06, which
was the closing price on February 27, 2004). The stock,
together with applicable withholdings, represents the pre-
tax embedded value. Because the original stock option
award was cancelled and the Company replaced this award
with FECI common stock, in accordance with FASB
Interpretation No. 44, the Company was required to rec-
ognize compensation expense in the amount of $2 million
with respect to the Transaction.

In May of 2002, the Company’s shareholders adopted the
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.’s Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (ESPP) with an effective date of July 1, 2002.
The purpose of the Purchase Plan is to provide eligible
employees with an opportunity to acquire a proprietary
interest in the Company through the purchase of its
Common Stock. The Purchase Plan is an Employee Stock
Purchase Plan under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue
Code. Any employee of the Company or a designated
subsidiary of the Company (including officers and any
directors who are also employees) whose customary
employment is at least 20 hours per week and more than
five months in any calendar year will be eligible to partici-
pate in the Purchase Plan for any Offering Pericd. Offering
Period means each calendar quarter of the year. All eligible
employees who elect to participate in the Purchase Plan
will authorize the Company to make payroll deductions of
a specified fixed dollar amount or whole percentage from
1% to 10% of the employee’s compensation {limited to
$25,000 annually) as defined in the Purchase Plan. As of
the last day of each Offering Period, the amounts withheld
for a participant in the Purchase Plan will be used to pur-
chase shares of Common Stock of the Company. The
purchase price of each share will be equal to 85% of the
lesser of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock
on either the first or last day of the Offering Period. The total
amount of common stock for purchase under the Plan is
750,000 shares.
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits
(dollars in thousands)

Assets and activities of the Plan are provided in the fol-
lowing statements:

Years Ended

Statement of Net Assets Available for Benefits December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003
Years Ended Additions
December 31 Employee contributions 172.7 1612
2004 2003 Dividends 0.8 4.2
Assets Unrealized gain on Plan assets
Cash 1.7 13 (FECI stock) 142.3 107.0
Investments in FECI stock at fair value 435.2 253.9 315.8 262.4
Total assets available for benefit 436.9 255.2 Deductions
Benefits paid to participants 134.1 107.3
Net increase 181.7 165.1
Net assets avaitable for benefit at
beginning of vear 255.2 100.1
Net assets available for benefit at
end of year 436.9 255.2
12. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
2004
(dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31
Operating revenues** 159,468 76,784 70,513 71,422
Operating expenses. 69,536 59,013 58,607 80,799
Interest income 305 263 360 196
Interest expense (4,738) (4,214) (3,773) (3,246)
Other income 2,209 3,027 5,090 2,697
Net income from continuing operations 53,303 10,360 8,354 5,885
Income from discontinued operations (net of taxes} 135 110 14 2,437
Net income 53,438 10,470 8,368 8,322
Diluted net income per share — continuing $1.65 $0.31 $0.22 $0.16
Diluted net income per share — discontinued - - - $0.06
Diluted net income per share $1.65 $0.31 $0.22 $0.22
2003
Dec. 31 Sept. 30 June 30 Mar. 31
Operating revenues** 103,492 86,835 72,370 75,667
Operating expenses™ 60,566 85,644 56,079 62,265
Interest income 186 365 237 158
Interest expense (4,414) (4,137) (4,207) (4,298)
Other income 2,128 2,224 2,942 2,250
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 25,107 (219) 9,386 7,019
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (net of taxes)* 203 1,265 (134) {(103)
Net income 26,010 1,046 9,252 6,916
Diluted net income (loss) per share — continuing $0.68 ($0.01) $0.26 $0.18
Diluted net income {loss) per share — discontinued $0.02 $0.04 ($0.01) -
Diluted net income per share $0.70 $0.03 $0.25 $0.19

*The quarter ended September 30, 2003 includes expenses ($16.4 million) associated with the termination of a long-term land lease.
**QOperating revenues for both quarters ending December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 included sales of large parcels of land in
sales revenue for $80.0 million and $40.0 million, respectively.
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13. Other Income

Years Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

Pipe & wire crossings/
signboards 6,447 3532 4565
Fiber lease income 6,852 6659 6,179
Other {net) (370)  (647) 59
13,023 9,544 10,803

FECR generates income from the grant of licenses and
leases to use railroad property and rights-of-way for out-
door advertising, parking lots and lateral crossings of wires
and pipes by municipalities and utility and telecommunica-
tions companies. This income is recorded in other income as
“pipe and wire crossings/signboards” as it is earned. FECR
generates other income from leases to telecommunica-
tions companies for the installation of fiber optic and other
facilities on the railroad right-of-way. This income is recorded
in other income as “fiber lease income” as it is earned.

14. Debt and Other
Commitments

In August 2004, Flagler issued $105 million of mortgage
notes due September 1, 2011. At December 31, 2004,
approximately $105 million was outstanding on these notes.
The notes are collateralized by buildings and properties
having a carrying value at December 31, 2004 of $37.0 mil-
lion, net of accumulated depreciation of $16.3 million. The
mortgage notes consist of a $60 million note with a fixed
rate of interest of 5.27% and a $45 million note with a
floating rate of interest based on the 90-day LIBOR Index
plus 1.00% (3.40% at December 31, 2004). Repayments
of principal and interest are payable monthly based upon
a thirty-year amortization schedule.

In September 2001, Flagler issued $87 million of mortgage
notes due October 1, 2008. At December 31, 2004, approx-
imately $84 million was outstanding on these notes. The
notes are collateralized by buildings and properties having
a carrying value at December 31, 2004 of $80.6 million,
net of accumulated depreciation of $40.5 million. Blended
interest and principal repayments on the notes are pay-
able monthly based on a fixed 6.95% interest rate on the
outstanding principal amount of the mortgage notes and
a thirty-year amortization period. The net proceeds were
used to repay existing indebtedness under the Company's
revolving credit facility.

In June 2001, Flagler issued $160 million of mortgage notes
due July 2011. At December 31, 2004, approximately
$154 million was outstanding on these notes. The notes
are collateralized by buildings and properties having a car-
rying value at December 31, 2004 of $122.0 million, net of
accumulated depreciation of $71.6 million. Biended interest
and principal repayments on the notes are payable monthly
based on a fixed 7.39% weighted-average interest rate on
the outstanding principal amount of the mortgage notes
and a thirty-year amortization period. The net proceeds were
used to repay existing indebtedness under the Company's
revolving credit facility.

The fair value of the Company’s mortgage notes is estimated
based on current rates available to the Company for debt
of the same remaining maturities. At December 31, 2004,
the Company considers the estimated fair market value of
the mortgage notes to be $370.6 million.

Annual maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2004
of $342.9 million are as follows:

{dollars in thousands)

Year Amount
2005 4,789
2006 5,094
2007 5,419
2008 84,768
2009 4,671
Thereafter 238,113

The Company leases various equipment (primarily trailers)
under five to ten year leases that expire in 2009, Future
minimum payments under the capital leases, which are
recorded as other liabilities are as follows:

{dollars in thousands)

Year Amount
2005 185
2006 185
2007 185
2008 185
2009 381
Net minimum lease payments 1,121
Amount representing interest 102

Obligation under capital leases 1,019
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At December 31, 2004, the Company had a $200 million
unsecured revolving credit agreement with certain finan-
cial institutions, for which the Company presently pays
{guarterly) commitment fees, as applicable under the
agreement, at a range of 20-50 basis points. The Company’s
revolving credit agreement contains various covenants
which, among other things, require the maintenance of
certain financial ratios related to fixed charge coverage
and maximum leverage; establish minimum levels of net
worth; establish limitations on indebtedness, certain types
of payments, including dividends, liens and investments;
and limit the use of proceeds of asset sales. Some of
the above covenants provide specific exclusion of certain
financing and investing activities at Flagler. Borrowings under
the credit agreement bear interest at variable rates linked
to the LIBOR Index. Interest on borrowings is due and
payable on the "rollover date” for each draw. Qutstanding
borrowings can be paid at any time by the borrower, or at
the conclusion of the facility's term. On February 7, 2003,
the Company extended its revolving bank credit facility for
an additional year to March 31, 2005. In tandem with the
extension, the Company and its banks made amendments
to the facility that included a reduction in the aggregate
amount of the commitments from $300 million to $200 mil-
lion, the elimination of the Global Debt to EBITDA covenant,
which included the results of EPIK, an increase in the stock
repurchase and special dividend limit to $150 million (which
may be increased in 2004 to $200 million if certain financial
ratio tests are met), an increase in the non-recourse mort-
gage financing limit from $250 million to $325 million, and
other miscellaneous modifications. At December 31, 2004,
there were no direct borrowings outstanding under the facil-
ity. The fair market value of the Company’s revolving credit
agreement is estimated based on current rates available
to the Company for debt of the same remaining maturities.
At December 31, 2004, the Company considers the carry-
ing value to be a reasonable estimation of its fair value.

On February 22, 2005, the Company entered intc a new
unsecured $150 million, 5-year revolving credit agreement
with a syndication of banks. The new credit facility provides
a more favorable interest rate and terms and replaces the
Company's existing $200 million credit agreement. The
Company will pay (quarterly} commitment fees, as applica-
ble under the agreement, at a range of 12.5 - 25.0 basis
points. The Company’s new revolving credit agreement
requires the maintenance of certain financial ratios (inter-
est coverage and leverage) and maintenance of minimum
established levels of net worth. In addition there are various
established limitations (dollars and otherwise) on certain
types of liens, investments (including loans and advances)
and acquisitions, limitation on transactions with affiliates,
merger and sales of all or substantially all of the assets;

and use of proceeds. Some of the above covenants pro-
vide specific exclusion of certain financing and investing
activities at Flagler. Borrowings under the credit agree-
ment bear interest at variable rates linked to the LIBOR
Index. Interest on borrowings is due and payable on the
“rollover date” for each draw. Outstanding borrowings can
be paid at any time by the borrower, or at the conclusion
of the facility’s term,

The Board of Directors authorized the expenditure of up to
$75 million to repurchase its outstanding common stock
through a program of open market purchases and privately
negotiated transactions. On August 13, 2004, the Company
purchased 5.5 million shares of common stock from The
Alfred |. duPont Testamentary Trust and The Nemours
Foundation for $34.50 per share or approximately $191 mil-
lion. These repurchased shares are now shown on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as Treasury Stock. This trans-
action exhausted the remaining $72 million that existed
under the previous $75 million stock repurchase authoriza-
tion. As a result, on August 4, 2004, the Board of Directors
authorized the expenditure of $40 million to repurchase
common stock from time to time through a program of open
market purchases and/or privately negotiated transactions.

The Company is obligated under severa!l non-cancelable
operating leases covering its facilities and equipment
{(primarily trailers and office & computer equipment). The
lease terms are from one to ten years. Future minimum
payments under the leases are as follows:

(dollars in thousands)

Year Amount
2005 2,192
2006 1,195
2007 911
2008 671
2009 441
Thereafter 676

At December 31, 2004, the Company had commitments for
letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $12.6 million
primarily as collateral on certain real estate properties. In
addition, the Company had other commercial commitments
of $14.7 million related to construction contracts.

FECR committed $1.5 million to jointly fund an overpass
over the Medley branch tracks to give access to warehouse
space without crossing the railway. The landowner and a
customer are also funding this project with FECR’s portion
1o be paid half in 2004 and half in 2005. The construction
of the overpass is contingent upon project costs not exceed-
ing a stipulated total amount.
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As of December 31, 2004, Raitway had forward purchase
contracts of 5.2 million gallons of fuel for delivery from
January 2005 to December 2005 for an average purchase
price of $1.13 per gallon before taxes and freight. This
represents 35% of the estimated consumption for year 2005.

Flagler is the guarantor of a tenant's previous lease obliga-
tion. The guarantee was entered into during 1999 as an
inducement to acquire a large, long-term tenant lease.
Flagler is liable for the sublease obligation, which expires
April 30, 2006. The estimated value of the remaining guar-
antee is approximately $0.7 million at December 31, 2004,

Subsequent to December 31, 2004, Mr. Adolfo Henrigues
was appointed Chairman, President, and CEO succeeding
Mr. Robert W. Anestis (as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on Form 8-K on February 10, 2005).
Mr. Anestis will receive termination benefits between
$7 million and $7.5 million, including approximately $3 mil-
lion in cash.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND
DISAGREEMENTS WITH
ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS
AND PROCEDURES

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS
AND PROCEDURES

Under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company's Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief
Financial Officer (CFO), management has evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's
disclosure controis and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)). Based on that evalua-
tion, the CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s dis-
closure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2004.

MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of FECI is responsible for establishing
and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined

in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed
by, or under the supervision of, the Company’'s CEQ and
CFO, and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors,
management and other personnel, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external pur-
poses in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

> Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable
detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company.

o Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of finan-
cial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the Company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of
the Company; and

¢ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or proce-
dures may deteriorate.

ECI's management assessed the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, the
Company's management used the criteria set forth by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSQ) in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, management concluded that,
as of December 31, 2004, the Company's internal control
over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The Company's independent registered public accounting
firm have issued an audit report on our assessment of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting. This
report appears on the following page.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

We have audited management's assessment, included in
the accompanying Management Annual Report, on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective inter-
nal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Florida
East Coast Industries, Inc.'s management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on Management'’s assessment,
and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was main-
tained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial report-
ing, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of inter-
nal control, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's
internal control over financial reporting includes those poli-
cies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the com-
pany; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authori-
zations of management and directors of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or dispo-
sition of the company's assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over
financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadeguate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on cri-
teria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by COSO. Also, in our opinion, Florida East Coast

Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in
internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Fiorida East
Coast Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of
income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated
February 16, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on
those consolidated financial statements.

KPMG LLP

Jacksonville, Florida
February 16, 2005

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There were no changes in the Company's internal control
over financial reporting identified in connection with the
evaluation required by paragraph {d) of Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurred during the
Company's fourth fiscal quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER
INFORMATION

None
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ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF
THE REGISTRANT

The information set forth under the captions “Election of
Directors-Nominees,” under the sub-captions "Committees”
(including the information appearing under "Audit Committee”)
and "Corporate Governance” under the caption “Board of
Directors,” Section 16{(a) “"Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance,” and “Executive Employment Agreements,” in
the Company's definitive Proxy Statement for its 2005 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
{the Proxy Statement), containing the information required
by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference.

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct that
applies to all of its directors, officers, and employees. The
Code of Conduct is available on the Company’s website
at http://www.feci.com. Amendments to the Code of
Conduct and any grant of a waiver from a provision of the
Code of Conduct requiring disclosure under applicable
SEC rules will be disclosed on the Company’s website
within four business days and will be maintained for at
least twelve months thereafter. The Company’s Corporate
Governance Guidelines and the Charters of its Audit
Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee are also available
on the Company's website. This information is zlso avail-
able in print form via mait by request to the Company.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION

The information set forth under the captions
“Compensation Committee Report,” “Compensation of
Executive Officers,” “Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year,”
"Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and
Fiscal Year-End Option Values,” “Executive Employment
Agreements,” "Change in Control Agreements,”
“Compensation of Directors,” and "Performance Graph” in
the Proxy Statement contains the information required in
this item 117 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY
OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information set forth under the caption "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management”
in the Proxy Statement contains the information required
in this Item 12 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN
RELATIONSHIPS AND
RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information set forth under the caption "Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Proxy
Statement contains the information required in this ltem
13 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING FEES
AND SERVICES

Information concerning principal accounting fees and ser-
vices will be provided under the heading “Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm” of FECI's Proxy
Statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Shareholders,
which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the information under that heading is
hereby incorporated by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS,
FINANCIAL STATEMENT
SCHEDULES

{(a) 1. Financial Statements
The financial statements and schedules listed in the
accompanying Index to Financial Statements and Finan-

cial Statement Schedule are filed as part of this report.

2. Exhibits

The Exhibits listed on the accompanying Index to
Exhibits are filed as part of this report.
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

[TEM 14(a) 3(b)]
Reference
Form 10-K
Page Nos.
Consolidated Statements of Income for each of the three years ended December 31, 2004 36
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 37
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 38
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 39
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 40 - 55
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 56
Financial Statement Schedule:
Il - Valuation Reserves 63
IIl - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation 64 — 65

All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present or not present in amounts sufficient
to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consclidated financial state-
ments or the notes thereto.

Financial statements and schedules of FECI (not consolidated) are omitted since it is primarily a holding company and all

subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements being filed, in the aggregate, do not have minority equity
interests or registered securities.
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
INDEX TO EXHIBITS

(ITEM 13[a] 3.)
S-K ITEM 601 DOCUMENTS PAGE NOS.
3 (i) Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation *
3 (i) Amended and Restated By-Laws *
4 Amended and Restated Rights Agreement #
10 (a) Credit and Pledge Agreements dated March 22, 2001, as Amended, between o
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc., Bank of America, N.A., Wachovia Bank
(formerly First Union National Bank) and SunTrust Bank
10 (b) Distribution and Recapitalization Agreement ##
10 (c) Shareholders’ Agreement dated as of October 26, 1999 among Alfred I. duPont #H#H#
Testamentary Trust, Nemours Foundation and Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.
10 (d) Various Promissory Notes and Mortgage Security Agreements dated June 28, 2001 and xHx
September 27, 2001, covering certain Flagler buildings at various office parks
10 {e) FECI 1998 Stock Incentive Plan document, as amended *Rxx
10 (f) Representative "Change in Control Agreement” between FECI and certain *xEHH
FECI Executive Officers
10 (g) EPIK Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement dated December 3, 2002, between #HH#A
FECI and Odyssey Telecorp, Inc.
10 {h) 2002 Stock Incentive Plan @
10 (i) FECI 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan @@
10 () Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 4, 2004 between Florida East Coast ~
Industries, Inc. and Alfred |. duPont Testamentary Trust and the Nemours Foundation
10 (k) Mortgage Notes dated as of August 10, 2004 between Flagler Development ~~
Company and Metropolitan Life Insurance Company
101 Representative Restricted Stock Agreement dated August 25, 2004 between ———
FEC! and certain Executive Officers
21 Subsidiaries of Florida East Coast industries, Inc. 61
23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 62
24 Power of Attorney 62

31.1-312 Section 302 Certifications

321 Section 906 Certification
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* Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant
were filed on Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 24, 2003.

** These documents filed on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30, 2001, March
26, 2002, and March 13, 2003.

*** These documents filed on Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2001 and
November 8, 2001,

**** These documents filed on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 26, 2002.
***** This document filed on Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 8, 2001.

# Amended and Restated Rights Agreement was filed as an Exhibit to Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 22, 2003.

## Distribution and Recapitalization Agreement, incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 4, 2000
{Registration: No. 001-08728}.

I
### Shareholders’ Agreement, incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule
14A, was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 4, 2000 (Registration No. 001-08728).

#### This document filed on Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 17, 2002.

@ 2002 Stock Incentive Plan was filed on Form S-8 with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 21, 2002
(Registration No. 333-30894).

@@ FECI's Employee Stock Purchase Plan was filed on Form S-8 with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
June 21, 2002 (Registration No. 333-90896).

~ These documents, dated August 4, 2004, are filed as exhibits to Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 9, 2004

~~ These documents, dated August 10, 2004, are filed on Form 8-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on August 17, 2004.

~~~ This document dated August 25, 2004, is filed as an exhibit to Form 10-Q with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 3, 2004.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1834, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the under-
signed, thereunto duly authorized on February 23, 2005.

FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.

{Registrant)
/s/ Daniel H. Popky

Daniel H. Popky, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Mark A. Leininger

Mark A. Leininger
Vice President and Controller

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the fol-
lowing persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the
capacities and on the date indicated:

/s/ RW. Anestis

R.W. Anestis, Chairman, President,
Chief Executive Officer and Director

/s/ Heidi J. Eddins

Heidi J. Eddins, Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

/s/ R. D. Fagan*

R. D. Fagan, Director

/s/ D. M. Foster*

D. M. Foster, Director

/s/ A. C. Harper*

A. C. Harper, Director

/s/ A. Henriques*

A. Henriques, Director

/s/J. E. Jordan*

J. E. Jordan, Director

/s/ G. H. Lamphere*

G. H. Lamphere, Director

/s/ J. Nemec*

J. Nemec, Director

/s/ J. J. Pieczynski*

J. J. Pieczynski, Director
Date: February 23, 2005

*Such signature has been affixed pursuant to Power of Attorney.

EXHIBIT 21

Listing of parent and subsidiaries wholly owned, unless
otherwise noted, by Florida East Coast industries, Inc. as
of December 31, 2004:

State of
Incorporation/

Name of Subsidiary Organization

Florida East Coast Railway, LLC Florida
Railroad Track Construction Corporation Florida
{100% owned by Florida East Coast Railway)
Florida East Coast Deliveries, Inc. Florida
{100% owned by Florida East Coast Railway)
Flagler Development Company Florida
Gran Central — Deerwood North, LLC Delaware
{100% owned by Flagler
Development Company)
FEC Highway Services, Inc. Florida
Florida Express Logistics, Inc. Florida
{100% owned by FEC Highway Services, inc.)
PE Land Holdings, LLC Florida
FDC PE Building I, Inc. Florida
FDC PE Building Il, Inc. Florida
FDC PE Building llI, Inc. Florida
Beacon Station 22, 23 and 24
Limited Partnership Delaware
(100% owned by Flagler
Development Company)
Flagler Transportation Services, Inc. Florida
Flagier Development Realty, Inc. Florida
(100% owned by Flagler
Development Company)
GCC Beacon 22, 23, & 24, LLC Florida
(100% owned by Flagler
Development Company)
GCC Weston Office, Inc. Florida

(100% owned by Flagler
Development Company)
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EXHIBIT 23

Consent of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.:

We consent to incorporation by reference in the registra-
tion statement (No. 333-53144) on Form S-8 of Florida
East Coast Industries, Inc. of our reports dated February
16, 2005, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets
of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. as of December 31,
2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements
of income, changes in shareholders’ equity and compre-
hensive income, and cash flows for the three years ended
December 31, 2004, and all related financial statement
schedules, management's assessment of the effective-
ness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004 and the effectiveness of internal con-
trols over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004,
which reports appears in the December 31, 2004 Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

KPMG LLP

Jacksonville, Florida
March 4, 2005

EXHIBIT 24
Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENT, that each of the
undersigned Directors of Florida East Coast Industries,
Inc., a Florida corporation (Corporation), which is about

to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
Washington, D.C. 20548, under the provisions of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, a Report
on Form 10K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2004, hereby constitutes and appoints R.W. Anestis and
Heidi J. Eddins as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and
agent, and each of them with full power to act, without
the other in his stead, in any and all capacities, to sign the
2004 Report of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc., on Form
10-K and to file on behalf of the Corporation such Report
and amendments with all exhibits thereto, and any and all
other information and documents in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agent, and each of
them, full power and authority to do and perform any and
all acts and things requisite and ratifying and confirming
all that each said attorneys-in-fact and agent or any one of
them, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned have hereunto
set their hands on the date indicated below:

/s/ R. D. Fagan
R. D. Fagan, Director

/s/ D. M. Foster
D. M. Foster, Director

/s/ A. C. Harper
A. C. Harper, Director

/s/ A. Henriques
A. Henriques, Director

/s/ J. E. Jordan
J. E. Jordan, Director

/s/ G. H. Lamphere
G. H. Lamphere, Director

/s/ J. Nemec

J. Nemec, Director

/s/J. J. Pieczynski
J. J. Pieczynski, Director

Date: February 23, 2005
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION RESERVES
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002

(dollars in thousands)

2004 Form 10-K

Balance at Charged to Deductions/ Balance at
Description Beginning of Period Costs and Expenses Write-offs End of Period
2004 Bad Debt Reserve 1,717 609 (816) 1,710
2003 Bad Debt Reserve 2,189 917 (1,389) 1,717
2002 Bad Debt Reserve 3,708 274 (1.793) 2,189
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
SCHEDULE 11l (CONSOLIDATED) -~ REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002

(dollars in thousands)

initial Cost to Company Carried at Close of Period

Depreciable
Costs Life Used in
Capitalized Date Calculation in
Subsequent land & land  Buildings and Accumulated Capitalized Latest Income
Description tand to Acquisition Improvements |mprovements Total Depreciation or Acquired Statement
Duval County
Office Buildings 12,106 142,081 25951 128,246 154,197 42,367 1985 3 to 40 years
Office/ShowroomANarehouses 1,623 43414 5976 39,0617 45,037 20,884 1987  3to 40 years
Office/Warehouses 930 4,969 1,688 4,231 5,899 1,415 1994 3 to 40 years
Front Load Warehouse 25 3,097 347 2,775 3,122 1,075 1998 3 1to 40 years
Rail Warehouse 23 3,221 326 2,918 3,244 942 1988 3 to 40 years
Land w/ Infrastructure 8,133 9,828 17,961 - 17,961 2,529 \Various 3to 40 years
Unimproved Land & Misc. Assets 6,464 - 6,464 - 6,464 569 1998 3 to 40 years
St. Johns County
Office Building - 10,212 - 10,212 10,212 3,819 Various 310 40 years
Unimproved Land 685 1,165 1,850 - 1,850 91 Various 15 years
Flagler County
Unimproved Land 18 17 35 - 35 5 Various 15 years
Volusia County
Unimproved Land 1,101 9 1,110 - 1,110 3 Various 15 years
Brevard County
Land w/ Infrastructure 611 42 653 - 653 6 Various 15 years
Unimproved Land 4,349 - 4,349 - 4,349 - Various 15 years
St. Lucie County
Unimproved Land 399 63 462 - 462 5 Various 15 years
Martin County
Land w/ Infrastructure 23 124 147 - 147 24 Various 1B years
Unimproved Land 1 - 1 - 1 - Various 15 years
Okeechobee County
Unimproved Land 2 - 2 - 2 - Various 15 years
Putnam County
Unimproved Land 2 - 2 - 2 - Various 15 years
Palm Beach County
Unimproved Land 156 - 156 - 156 - Various 15 years
Broward County
Unimproved Land 8,281 - 8,281 - 8,281 - Various  31to 40 years
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FLORIDA EAST COAST INDUSTRIES, INC.
SCHEDULE 111 {CONSOLIDATED) — REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002

{dollars in thousands)

Initial Cost to Company Carried at Close of Period Depreciable
Costs Lite Used in

Capitalized Date Calculation in

Subsequent  Land & Land  Buildings and Accumulated Capitalized Latest Income
Description tand to Acquisition Improvements Improvements Total Depreciation or Acquired Statement
Dade County
Double Front Load Warehouse 972 8,517 2,074 5,415 7,489 3,062 19983 3 to 40 years
Rail Warehouses 1854 13,183 3926 11,111 16,037 6,018 1988 3 to 40 years
Office/Showroom/Warehouses 2,328 19,004 5,788 15544 21,332 9,776 1988 3 to 40 years
Office Building 1,642 10,267 3,416 3,493 11,809 211 2000 310 40 years
Office/Warehouses 10,866 49950 17973 42843 60816 13,735 1990 310 40 years
Front Load Warehouses 4,092 24,733 8,765 20,060 28,825 10,764 1991 3to 40 years
Office/Service Center 344 2,991 873 2,462 3,335 1,223 1994 3 to 40 years
Transit {Retail) Warehouse 439 5,730 840 5,329 6,169 1,236 Various 3 to 40 years
Land w/ Infrastructure 10,651 16,817 26,611 757 27,368 1,785 Various  31to 40 years
Unimproved Land & Misc. Assets 7,271 - 7,27 - 7,271 - Various  3to 40 years
Orange County
Office Buildings 8,763 61,895 9,203 61,449 70,658 15918 1998 3 to 40 years
Office/Showroom/Warehouses 1,261 9,071 1,359 8,973 10,332 4,195 1998 3 to 40 years
Land w/ Infrastructure 1,710 257 1,848 119 1,967 38 1995 3 to 40 years
Unimproved Land & Misc. Assets 11,805 - 11,805 - 11,805 - 1999 3 to 40 years

TOTALS 108,830 438,667 177,499 369,998 547,497 143,585

Notes:
(A) The aggregate cost of real estate owned at December 31, 2004 for federal income tax purposes is approximately $549,285. This
amount includes reinvested gains of $57.3 million.

(B) Reconciliation of real estate owned (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Balance at beginning of year 527,493 498,319 519,775
Amounts capitalized 49,767 49,724 19,620
Amounts retired or adjusted (29,783) {20,550} {41,076)
Balance at close of period 547,497 527,493 498,319
(C) Reconciliation of accumulated depreciation (dollars in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Balance at beginning of year 125,757 105,214 86,848
Depreciation expense 22,821 21,472 19,872
Amounts retired or adjusted {(4,993) {929) {1,508)
Balance at close of period 143,585 125,757 105,214

(D) Certain amounts shown in Schedule lll have been reclassified to conform to 2004’s presentation.

(E} Reconciliation of real estate owned to Note 5 of the financial statements included in Item 8 of this report:

Note 5 captions 2004
Railroad buildings 11,648
Railroad tand & land improvements 6,219
Flagler buildings 358,350
Flagler land & land improvements 171,280
Real estate owned above 547,497

Florida East Coast Industries 65



2004 Form 10-K

EXHIBIT 31.1 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s
SARBANES-OXLEY - 302 CERTIFICATIONS internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

I, Robert W. Anestis, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10K of

Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.; ) o ) )
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have dis-

closed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s audi-
tors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of

directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period

covered by this report; a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in

the design or operation of internal control over finan-
cial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, sum-
marize and report financial information; and

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and
other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant

as of, and for, the periods presented in this report: b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves

management or other employees who have a sig-
nificant role in the company's internal contro! over

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are , ' )
financial reporting.

responsible for iestablishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting {(as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f} and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

Dated: March 4, 2005

By: /s/ Robert W. Anestis
Robert W. Anestis, Chief Executive Officer

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures,
or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, includ-
ing its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

o

Designed such internal control over financial reporting,
or caused such internal control over financial report-
ing to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s dis-
closure gontrols and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

O
—
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EXHIBIT 31.2 ~
SARBANES-OXLEY - 302 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Danie! H. Popky, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of

Forida East Coast Industries, Inc.;

. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and
other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are
responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15{e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures,
or caused such disclosure controls and procedures
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, includ-
ing its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

A

Designed such internal control over financial reporting,
or caused such internal control over financial report-
ing to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s dis-
closure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on

such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and

. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have dis-

closed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s audi-
tors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of

directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal control over finan-
cial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, sum-
marize and report financial information; and

b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a sig-
nificant role in the company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Dated: March 4, 2005

/s/ Daniel H. Popky
Daniel H. Popky, Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1 -
SARBANES-OXLEY ~ 906 CERTIFICATION

March 4, 2005

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, NW,
Washington, DC 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certification set forth below is being submitted in con-
nection with the annual report (the “Report”} for the pur-
pose of complying with Rule 13a-14{b) or Rule 15d-14(b)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code.

Robert W. Anestis, the Chief Executive Officer and
Daniel H. Popky, the Chief Financial Officer of Florida
East Coast industries, Inc., each certifies that, to the
best of his knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition, and results
of operations of Florida East Coast Industries, Inc.

/s/ Robert W, Anestis
Robert W. Anestis
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Daniel H. Popky
Daniel H. Popky
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by
Section 906 has been provided to Florida East Coast
Industries, Inc. and will be retained by Florida East
Coast Industries, Inc. and furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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<y ohareholder Information

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

KPMG LLP
Post Office Box 190
Jacksonville, FL 32201-0190

COMMON STOCK TRANSFER AGENT

Wachovia National Bank

Corporate Trust Client Services — NC-1153
1525 West W.T. Harris Blvd.-3C3
Charlotte, NC 28288-1153

Phone: (800) 829-8432

COMMON STOCK

Florida East Coast Industries, Inc. common stock
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and
trades under the symbol FLA.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Bradley D. Lehan
Vice President and Treasurer
(904) 819-2128

SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES

Current and prospective investors can receive the Annual Report,
proxy statement, Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, news releases, gover-
nance guidelines, code of conduct and Board Committee charters
at no charge. These items may be obtained through our Web Site
at www.feci.com or requests for these items may be directed to

Brian J. Nicholson, Director, Shareholder Services, (904) 819-2119.

MEDIA INQUIRIES

Husein A. Cumber
Vice President, Public Affairs
(904) 826-2280

ANNUAL REPORT

We have included as Exhibit 31 (1) and 31 (2) to our 2004 Form
10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, cer-
tificates of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
of Florida East Coast Industries certifying the quality of Florida
East Coast Industries’ public disclosure. We have also submitted
to the New York Stock Exchange a certificate of the Chief Executive
Officer of Florida East Coast Industries certifying that he is not

aware of any violation by Florida East Coast Industries of New
York Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report and Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1334, as amended. These forward-looking statements include the Company’s present expectations or beliefs con-
cerning future events. These statements may be identified by the use of words like "plan,” “expect,” “aim,” "believe,” "project,” “anticipate,” “intend,”
“estimate,” "may,” "will,” “should,” "could,” and other expressions that indicate future events and trends. Such forward-looking statements may include,
without limitation, statements that the Company does not expect that lawsuits, review of open tax years by the iRS, environmental costs, commitments,
including future contractual obligations, contingent liabilities, financing availability, labor negotiations or other matters will have a material adverse effect
on its consolidated financial condition, statements concerning future capital needs and sources of such capital funding, statements concerning future
intentions with respect to the payment of dividends, execution of a share repurchase program, and other potential capital distributions, number of shares
1o be repurchased, availability of cash to fund the stock repurchase, ability to reinvest (tax deferred) sales proceeds into qualifying 1031 propeities, future
growth potential of the Company’s lines of business, performance of the Company's product offerings, other similar expressions concerning matters that
are not historical facts, and projections relating to the Company’s financial results. The Company cautions that such statements are necessarily based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to materially differ from those contained in these forward-
looking statements. Important factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the changing general economic conditions (particularly
in the state of Florida, the southeast US and the Caribbean) as they relate to economically sensitive products in freight service and building rental activities;
ability to manage through economic recessions or downturns in customers’ husiness cycles; industry competition; possible future changes in the Company's
structure, lines of business, business and investment strategies, and related implementation; legislative or regulatory changes; technological changes;
volatility of fuel prices (including volatility caused by military actions); changes in levels of preventive and capital maintenance and depreciation rates
resulting from future railway right-of-way and equipment life studies; changes in the ability of the Company to complete its financing plans, changes in
interest rates, the settlerment of future contractual obligations as estimated in time and amount {customary to the Company’s historical cost structure)
including labor direct negotiations, mediation and in one instance, mutually agreed binding arbitration in a satisfactory way; changes in insurance markets,
including increases in insurance premiums and deductibles; the availability and costs of attracting and retaining qualified independent third party contrac-
tors; liability for environmental remediation and changes in environmental laws and regulations; the ultimate outcome of environmental investigations or
proceedings and other types of claims and litigation; natural events such as weather conditions, hurricanes, floods, earthquakes and forest fires; discretionary
government decisions affecting the use of land and delays resulting from weather conditions and other natural occurrences, like hurricanes, that may affect
construction or cause damage to assets; the ability of buyers to terminate contracts to purchase real estate from the Company prior to the expiration of
inspection periods; failure or inability of third parties to fulfill their commitments or to perform their obligations under agreements; costs and availability
of land and construction materials; buyers’ inability or unwillingness to close transactions, particularly where buyers only forfeit deposits upon failure to
close; the Company's future taxable income and other factors that may affect the availability and timing of utilization of the Company's deferred tax assets;
uncertainties, changes or litigation related to tax laws, regulations and the application thereof that could limit the tax benefits of the EPIK sale or of other
possible transactions involving the Company; and other risks inherent in the real estate and other businesses of the Company.

As a result of these and other factors, the Company may experience material fluctuations in future operating results on a guarterly or annual basis, which
could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition, operating results and stock price.

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s view only as of the date thereof. The Company
undertakes no obligation to publicly release revisions to the forward-looking statements in this Report that reflect events or circumstances after the date
hereof, or reflects the occurrence of unanticipated events.

Florida East Coast Industries



Florida East Coast industries, Inc.
One Malaga Street

orida 32084




